


DATE DUE

SJUIL 1—8_2%

o) Canada. Parliament.

T R House of Commons.
— H7 Standing Committee on
_1964/65 Public Accounts. .

o Mirrrtes—ofprocecdings —
— Al °  ajd evidencd®: "™
—

CANADA . PARLWAMENT.

P HaJds e oF A amMmmonS.,
STANDINA ¢ aMMTTES N

PURLIC ACCoUunTS.
I

Date Loaned










P
HOUSE OF COMMONS

Second Session—Twenty-Sixth Parliament

1964

STANDING COMMITTEE

ON

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS

Chairman: Mr. G. W. BALDWIN

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS AND EVIDENCE

No. 15

Public Accounts, Volumes I, IT and III (1962 and 1963)

Reports of the Auditor General to the House of Commons
1962 and 1963

THURSDAY, JULY 16, 1964

WITNESSES:

From the Department of Transport: Messrs. G. A. Scott, Acting Deputy
Minister; R. W. Goodwin, Director of Civil Aviation; H. J. William-
son, Chief, Technical & Policy Co-ordination, Telecommunications
Branch and W. A. Ramsay, Chief Architect, Air; and Mr. A. M.

Henderson, Auditor General and Mr. D. A. Smith, of the Auditor
General’s office.

ROGER DUHAMEL, F.R.S.C.
QUEEN’S PRINTER AND CONTROLLER OF STATIONERY

OTTAWA, 1964
21182—1



Berger,

Cardiff,
Choquette,

Crouse,
3Danforth,
Drouin,
Dubé,
Fane,
Fisher,
Forbes,
Francis,
Frenette,
Gendron,
Grafftey,

Cameron (High Park) A

Coté (Chicoutimi),

Chazrman. Mr G W Bald'win‘;”
Vice-Chairman: Mr P. Tardif

and Messrs.

'I;ritﬁe,

Grégoire,

Gray, Regan,
Harkness, : Rinfret,
1Horner (Acadia), Rock,
Leblanc, Rondeau,
Legault, Ryan,
Lessard (Saint-Henri), Smith,
Loiselle, Southam,
Mandziuk, Stefanson,
McLean (Charlotte), 2Stenson
McMillan, ~ Stewart,
Muir (Lisgar), Tucker,
Nowlan, Wahn,
O’Keefe, Whelan,
Pigeon, Winch—50.
Pilon,

1Replaced Mr. Ricard on Wednesdey, July 15.

i 2Replaced Mr. Chaplin on Wednesday, July 15.
N 3Replaced Mr. Valade on Wednesday, July 15.

i

M. Slack,

Clerk of the Committee.




weam' July 15, 1964.

g ﬁrder,——’l‘hat the names of Messrs. Horner (Acadia) Stenson and Danforth
Tbstltuted for those of Messrs. Ricard, Chaplin and Valade on the Standing

.,:‘ : LEON-J. RAYMOND,
The Clerk of the House.

653







MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

THURSDAY, July 16, 1964
(22)

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 9.40 a.m. The
Vice-Chairman, Mr. Paul Tardif, presided.

Members present: Messrs. Berger, Cameron (High Park), Cardiff, Crouse,
Fane, Francis, Frenette, Hales, Leblanc, Legault, McLean (Charlotte), McMillan,
O’Keefe, Nowlan, Pilon, Stefanson, Stenson, Stewart, Tardif, Tucker, Wahn,
Winch (22).

In attendance: Mr. A. M. Henderson, Auditor General of Canada; and
From the Department of Transport: Messrs. G. A. Scott, Acting Deputy Minister,
R. W. Goodwin, Director of Civil Aviation, H. J. Williamson, Chief, Technical
& Policy Coordination, Telecommunications Branch, and W. A. Ramsay, Chief
Architect, Air; and Messrs. Smith, Hayes and Laroche of the Auditor General’s
office.

The Committee resumed its consideration of the 1962 carryover items and
the 1963 Report of the Auditor General.

The Vice-Chairman introduced Mr. Scott, who in turn, introduced Messrs,
Ramsay, Goodwin and Williamson of his Department.

Paragraph 100, 101 and sub-paragraphs 20, 21 and 22 of paragraph 115
of the 1962 Report, and paragraph 84 and 85 of the 1963 Report, relating to the
Department of Transport, were reviewed by Mr. Henderson.

Mr. Scott was examined, assisted by Messrs. Ramsay, Goodwin and Wil-
liamson.

The examination of the witnesses still continuing, at 10.50 a.m., the Com-
mittee adjourned until 3.30 p.m. this afternoon.

AFTERNOON SITTING
(23)

The Committee resumed at 3.40 p.m. The Vice-Chairman Mr. Paul Tardif,
presided.

Members present: Messrs, Berger, Cameron (High Park), Cardiff, Crouse,
Danforth, Fane, Frenette, Hales, Harkness, Leblanc, Legault, Lessard (Saint-

Henri), McLean (Charlotte), O’Keefe, Nowlan, Ryan, Stefanson, Stenson,
Tardif, Tucker, Whelan, Winch (22).

In attendance: Same as at morning sitting.

The Committee resumed consideration of the 1963 Report of the Auditor
General.

On paragraph 86, Montreal International Airport construction costs, Mr.

Henderson commented briefly. Mr. Ramsay was then examined and explained
the design changes.
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656 STANDING COMMITTEE

The Vice-Chairman tabled a report from the Minister of Finance on the
Exchange Fund Account, which will be considered at the next sitting on
Tuesday, July 21; copies of this report were distributed to members of the
Committee.

On paragraph 87, Catering contract, Montreal International Airport, Mr.
Henderson commented briefly, and was examined thereon, assisted by Mr.
Smith.

Messrs. Scott, Ramsay and Goodwin were examined and supplied additional
information.

Mr. Winch suggested that the steering subcommittee consider whether the
Minister of Transport of that day should be requested to appear before the
Committee. The Vice-Chairman advised that the suggestion of Mr. Winch
would be considered by the steering subcommittee.

On paragraph 98, Non-productive payments, relating to the Department
of Transport, Mr. Henderson commented on these payments and was examined
thereon, together with Mr. Scott.

The questioning of the witnesses from the Department of Transport being
concluded, the Vice-Chairman thanked them for the information supplied to
the Committee.

At 5.15 p.m., the Committee adjourned until 9.30 a.m. on Tuesday, July 21,
1964.

M. Slack,
Clerk of the Committee.

Note—The evidence, adduced in French and translated into English,
printed in this issue, was recorded by an electronic recording apparatus, pur-
suant to a recommendation contained in the Seventh Report of the Special
Committee on Procedure and Organization, presented and concurred in, on
May 20, 1964.
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THURSDAY, July 16, 1964

(Text)

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, we have a quorum. Would you please
come to order.

First of all, I would like to welcome Mr. Stenson, who has been appointed
a new member on the committee.

Second, I would like to introduce to you Mr. Scott, the acting deputy
minister of transport, who is going to be the main witness this morning.

I would ask Mr. Scott if he would be kind enough to introduce the officials
he brought with him in order to make his task and ours easier.

Mr. G. A. Scorr (Acting Deputy Minister, Department of Transport): Mr.
Chairman, I would like to introduce Mr. Goodwin, director of civil aviation;
Mr. Ramsay, who is the chief architect of the department, and Mr. Williamson
from the telecommunication branch of the department.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Thank you very much.

For the information of those who are going to use the simultaneous trans-
lation system may I say that the tables are wired but the chairs are not, so if
you plug into the table you will know what is going on.

We are going to sit until 11 o’clock this morning and then again at 3.30
this afternoon. We will have to leave this room at 11 o’clock because the
defence committee is sitting here.

The first item on the agenda this morning is paragraph 100 of the 1962
report.

I would ask Mr. Henderson at this time to make his comments in respect
of that paragraph.

Mr. A. N. HENDERSON (Auditor General of Canada): Mr. Chairman, we
have several paragraphs left in the 1962 report before we move over to the
1963 report.

As the Chairman stated, the first paragraph is number 100, entitled route
facility fees receivable from air lines. Now, we discussed this subject in com-
mittee on June 16, and the evidence is available in the minutes of proceedings
at pages 146 and 147. You may recall that I told you that subsequent to this
paragraph appearing in my 1962 report the unpaid accounts had increased to
$54 milion up to March 31, 1963 when 22 air lines were involved. Some months
later the Department of Justice expressed doubts concerning the legal validity
of the regulation under which these fees were being assessed and in October,
last year, the governor in council authorized the remission or return of fees
paid or payable.

Perhaps you may recall that in December last year the Minister of Trans-
port introduced a measure, Bill No. C-117, entitled an act to amend the
Aeronautics Act which, in part, was intended to provide authority for the
charging of such fees. However, to date this legislation has not been dealt with
in the House.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions on this particular para-
graph?

Mr. McMiLLAN: Mr. Chairman, I would like to put this question. Are our
fees which we have been charging comparable to those of other countries?
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658 STANDING COMMITTEE

Mr. HENDERSON: Perhaps Mr. Scott should answer your question.

Mr. Scort: Well, this was a particular type of fee which normally is not
applied by countries in respect of aircraft. It had to do with aircraft which
were operating across the north Atlantic and which, in fact, were overflying
Gander. But, they were using the Gander facilities other than landing. Now,
quite some few years ago the landing fees were based on the cost of providing
the landing facilities plus the provision of facilities for area navigation. Of
course, if the aircraft does not land you do not collect and as the government
of Canada was supplying a very expensive facility and we were not recovering
through the landing fee for the provision of these services, then this overflight
charge was put into effect, and this was the $64 fee.

Mr. McMiLLAN: Is there any corresponding fee for planes going the other
way across the Atlantic?

Mr. ScorT: Do you mean transatlantic flights westbound?

Mr. McMILLAN: I mean on the European side.

Mr. ScotT: No, there is no similar fee. v

The ViceE-CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, are there any further questions on para-
graph 100?

Mr. HaLES: Do you feel there is anything further which can be done in
respect of this until the necessary legislation is passed?

Mr. HENDERSON: I would think not, Mr. Hales. The bill is coming before
the house for discussion which, presumably is, as I say, to provide authority for
charging of such fees. I have been informed by Mr. Scott that there was a reso-
lution put forward in parliament to introduce the bill but it has not proceeded
any farther in the house. I understand it provides, in part, authority for the
charging of such fees.

Mr. HaLEs: Would we be able to make these fees retroactive?

Mr. HENDERSON: I am not sufficiently familar with the proposed legislation.
Perhaps Mr. Scott would say a word in that connection.

Mr. ScorT: I do not think that would be possible, sir.

The ViceE-CHAIRMAN: We will now proceed to the next paragraph, which
is number 101, which deals with expenditure incurred without treasury board
approval.

Mr. Henderson, would you care to make your comment on this paragraph.

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Chairman, we discussed this matter in committee on
June 16 and the evidence is available in the minutes of proceedings at page 148.

The comment here explains how a $35,000 saving by the Department of
Transport on sculpture planned for the lobby of the new Montreal international
airport was subsequently expended on additional drapes and other furnishings
not originally provided for in the original specifications. This was done without
obtaining further treasury board approval. I was later informed by the secre-
tary of the board that the saving should not have been used without prior
reference to the board. However, the department felt they were entitled to do
this without obtaining any further treasury board approval, having achieved
a saving in the first instance. Hence, an important principle is involved here,
as several of the members will recall when we discussed it on June 16. There-
fore, the committee might like to discuss the point with Mr. Scott.

Before Mr. Scott speaks I might remind you we shall be discussing the
over-all costs of construction of the new Montreal international airport today
with Mr. Scott under paragraph 86 in my 1963 report.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Does the committee feel that this paragraph shoqld be
left over until we discuss the construction of the Montreal international airport
at a later time today?
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Mr. HaLes: I think this is an individual and special case and it should be
handled separately.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Then, are there any questions in respect of paragraph
1017

Mr. WincH: Mr. Chairman, could we have the explanation from Mr. Scott.

Mr. ScotrT: Well, Mr. Chairman, we, in the department, felt we had secured
approval of a program, which included the furnishings and the completion of
the interior of the terminal building. We did not feel that the item of sculpture
should be treated differently from the items of furnishings, fixtures or drapes
because these all had been in the program we put up and we were given
approval for that program. Therefore, within the limits of the approval given
when it was decided not to go ahead with the item of sculpture, in view of the
fact we were going to need additional fixtures and furnishings, this money
being available and the fact it was in the over-all approval, it appeared odd
to us to have to go back to treasury board to ask for additional money for addi-
tional furnishings in the building when we were sitting with $35,000 under what
we considered a general approval. Treasury board felt the item of sculpture was
a particular item and if there was any change in respect of this we should have
gone back to them. It was just the difference between the way the department
considered it and the way treasury board looked upon it.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: As Mr. Nowlan was on treasury board at this time
I wonder whether he would be familiar with this particular paragraph.

Mr. NowraN: I do not recall it, Mr. Chairman.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: I presume the Chairman is not supposed to ask ques-

tions but I am a little curious in this connection. I am wondering whether that
$35,000 was earmarked for this particular purpose.

Mr. ScorT: I am advised not.
Mr. WincH: In a situation such as has been outlined when there is a

difference of opinion between the department and treasury board which has
the authority as to the opinion?

The ViceE-CHAIRMAN: I do not think this opinion actually was submitted to
treasury board for approval.

Mr. WincH: But treasury board said they should have obtained approval.

Mr. NowLAN: Yes, afterward.

Mr. WiNcH: Yes, I realize that, and it seems to be a bad habit with some

departments to confront us with a fait accompli, and then get approval of some-
thing that is done.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Have you a question, Mr. Hales?

Mr. HALES: Mr. Scott, no doubt your department would estimate your
furnishings and so on which this $475,000 was to be made up of, so you would
have all the furnishings, and so on, listed. You say in this estimate there was
not a figure of $35,000 for sculpture work.

Mr. ScoTT: Subject to confirmation, I believe an estimate was made of the
cost of furnishings and fixtures that would be put in, and this would come to
$475,000, which is the approval we asked of treasury board.

Mr. HALES: Was there an item in this estimate you prepared for $35,000
for art or sculpture?

Mr. ScorT: I do not think we list any of the particular items that go in,
but within our own planning within the department—

Mr. HALES: If I may interrupt, how did you arrive at the figure of $475,000?
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Mr. ScoTT: Because the architect made up an estimate based on what was
to go into the building and, therefore, in their own figures in the department
they would have the item of sculpture listed.

Mr. HALEs: The architects have the item of sculpture listed.

Mr. ScotT: Yes.

Mr. HaLeEs: Well then, this sculpture was singled out as $35,000 by the
architect?

Mr. Scort: This is right, yes.

Mr. HaLES: I thought we were just told that it was not.

Mr. ScorT: Not when it was put up to treasury board, sir. It was put up
to treasury board on the basis of the approval of the expenditure contemplated.

Mr. HALES: There would appear to be a pretty fine line drawn here.

Mr. ScorT: Well, this is it; we feel, being responsible for the carrying out
of these projects, that we should have freedom of management within the
authority given by treasury board, and that if $475,000 was approved for fur-
nishing the building, then we should have some leeway in here to change and
to do certain things as best we see fit but still staying within the limits of
approval. If you carried this to a ridiculous extreme it would mean that if we
changed the type of chairs that we were putting in we would be required to go
back to treasury board for approval, and this would seem a rather difficult way
to administer a project like this.

Mr. HarLes: Did you accept the architect’s suggestions in respect of
furnishings?

Mr. Scorr: The department did, yes.

Mr. HAaLEs: And, in that list the architect suggested a figure of $35,000
approximately for the sculpture?

Mr. ScoTT: Yes.
The VIcE-CHAIRMAN: You are next, Mr. Wahn.
Mr. Wann: I would like to be entirely clear on this. As I understand

from the evidence the accepted tender included $35,000 for sculpture. It
says here:

The accepted tender included $35,000 for a work of sculpture to be
located in the lobby of the building.

Mr. ScorT: I am advised there was no tender called on the sculpture.

Mr. WaHN: In any event, I gather from the preceeding answers, whether
or not a tender was called, the architect listed this particular item at $35,000.
Am I right in this assumption?

Mr. ScorT: Yes, in the estimates.

Mr. WAHN: Was there any reference whatsoever to the item of sculpture,
not necessarily specifying the amount, in the submission to treasury board.

Mr. ScotT: Yes.

Mr. WaAHN: So, there was a reference to the item of sculpture _in the
submission to treasury board but a price tag merely was not put on it?

Mr. Scort: That is right.

Mr. WaAHN: Mr. Chairman, I could see quite clearly that if the departmept
wanted to change the colour of the drapes from blue to gold, or to red, quite
obviously they should be allowed to do so, or if they wanted fco cha.nge one
type of door to another type of door this is surely something in which they

should exercise some discretion; but, an item of sculpture is §orpething which
presumably lasts indefinitely, whereas drapes and other furnishings are more
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temporary in nature. So, I think there is quite a difference between an item
of sculpture and items of drapes and furnishings. On the other hand, two
types of drapes are in the same category.

In the Toronto airport there are many items of sculpture, paintings and
welded objects hanging from the ceiling, some of which are attractive and
interesting and others which may not be; nevertheless, they represent quite a
substantial investment. I realize the amount here is $35,000, whereas in
respect of the Toronto airport half a million dollars might have been spent.
Is it suggested that you could delete all these paintings and sculpture in
the Toronto airport, these murals and so on, and replace them by additional
drapes, chairs, tables and furnishings?

It seems to me there must have been some discussion within the depart-
ment in respect of treasury board’s authority before they made this decision.
This did not concern a switch from one drape to another but a change of
category. I think perhaps the department decided they would run the risk
of making the switch. This might be an unfair statement to make but it
would appear to me that this must have been discussed by your officials in
the department.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: If I understand what you mean, Mr. Wahn, you
are suggesting that this type of leeway should not have existed in this
particular case or in similar cases.

Mr. WaneN: Well, I think there certainly is a difference between ordinary
items such as drapes and so on and a piece of sculpture.

Mr. ScoTT: You must remember this was the first case. You made
reference to art in the other terminal buildings. At that time we had no
general policy approval whatsoever from treasury board in respect of artistic
work and, as I say, at the time we looked upon this purely as part of the
furnishings. At least, this was the department’s view. However, since that
time treasury board has looked upon the art aspect separately and has given
a general policy in respect of it. So, the situation today is certainly different
from what it was before, and it affirms what you have stated. But, this case
in Montreal was the first.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Would you proceed, Mr. Winch.

Mr. WincH: Mr. Chairman, I have one question. Would I be correct in
assuming that your idea was to drop the $35,000 in respect of sculpture and
apply it to other furnishings because there was that amount unestimated in
respect of drapes and other furnishings and, in view of that fact, you spent the
$35,0007?

Mr. ScorT: No.

Mr. WincH: Then, why did you need the extra $35,000 for drapes?

Mr. ScorT: It was decided not to go ahead with the sculpture.

Mr. WincH: Then why did you use the money on drapes and other furnish-
ings when under the architect’s estimate he must have included the cost of
drapes and furnishings.

Mr. ScorT: I am not sure what the additional money was spent on. It
could have been because the cost of the other items being put in was somewhat
more than the estimate.

Mr. WincH: This is exactly what I was referring to. But, a clear decision
was made not to go ahead with the item of sculpture and it was not on the
basis of a saving.

The VICE-CHAIRMAN: It is the difference in cost between ordinary furniture
and prestige furniture,



662 STANDING COMMITTEE

Mr. WincH: I am wondering why they spent the $35,000 which they did not
need for the sculpture.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: It was the difference between ordinary furniture and
prestige furniture.

Mr. WincH: Well, obviously either they put in more expensive things or
they underestimated what it was going to cost.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: You are next, Mr. Cameron.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Between Mr. Wahn’s and Mr. Winch’s ques-
tioning and your ability to condense a large problem into a nutshell my questions
have been pretty well answered. It would strike me, however, that they did not
take a hard enough look at this item of $35,000. They just found this extra
amount of $35,000 to spend and they went ahead and spent it. I do not think
you really could have spent very much time thinking out the problem when you
went ahead and used this $35,000 for other items when the item of sculpture
was cancelled. I think this would be outside the leeway which should be given
to anyone who is furnishing a building. In my opinion, this is something
special. I think this is a matter of not thinking the problem through to a logical
conclusion.

Mr. ScorT: If I might comment on this, I think if we had gone ahead
with the sculpture we would have had to go back to treasury board for some
additional money in order to cover the cost of the other items of equipment.
The decision had been taken not to go ahead with the sculpture and when we
found we needed the additional money to complete the furnishings we did
so because we felt this money was included in an approved program.

Mr. CaAmERON (High Park): But I think you are bypassing the issue. It
might have been so that you would have had to go back to treasury board. You
might have had to do that in any event. But, in my opinion, it would have been
much better if you had gone back and obtained their approval than to say: “we
have $35,000 normally allotted for an item; as we are not going to put that
item in we will use that extra money to keep us within our estimate.”

Mr. ScorT: Well, there is a policy in existence now which takes care of
this.

Mr. CamERON (High Park): The general public will get the idea that as we
had $35,000 on our hands which was covered by treasury board approval we
just went ahead and spent it and there is no control over it.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Would you proceed, Mr. Hales.

Mr. HarLges: I think my question has been answered, Mr. Chairman. If I
may sum up, it would appear that in the first place the department did get
permission to spend $35,000 on a piece of sculpture.

Mr. ScorT: Not as a separate item.

Mr. HaLEs: Well, the architect gave you a list of furnishings, including
sculpture to the extent of $35,000, and you or the department accepted the
architect’s recommendations.

Mr. ScotT: Yes.

Mr. HALES: Then there was $35,000 included in his recommendations for
a piece of sculpture?

Mr. ScorTt: Yes.

Mr. HAaLEs: We have established that the department then decided n_ot to
spend the money on sculpture so your department then took it upon itself
to spend it for something else. I think this is where the committee feels that

a rather dangerous precedent is being set. It is our job as members .of this
public accounts committee to see that this does not occur too often or, in fact,
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does not occur at all. I think we have established that point, Mr. Chairman. I
have nothing further to add at this time.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Have you a question, Mr. Pilon?

Mr. PiLoN: My question has just been answered, Mr. Chairman.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Would you proceed, Mr. Nowlan.

Mr. NowLAN: Mr. Chairman, I was going to ask if the department
approached treasury board only once for the over-all amount in respect of the
building or if, in fact, they approached it on several occasions with increased
amounts?

Mr. ScorT: Just once for the furnishings.

Mr. NowrLaN: But, I am referring to the over-all building, the building and
furnishings.

Mr. ScorT: Oh, there were changes in the building and other costs in
respect of which we had to go back to treasury board.

Mr. NowLAN: You had to go back to treasury board?

Mr. ScotrT: Yes.

Mr. NowLAN: And, on more than one occasion.

Mr. ScotrT: Yes.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: You are next, Mr. Stewart.

Mr. STEWART: Would it be relevant at this time to ask what the present
procedures are. How would the present procedures have applied if they had
been in effect when this particular instance came to the attention of the
department?

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Would you care to answer that question, Mr. Scott.

I do not know whether or not your question is clear to Mr. Scott; it
certainly is not clear to me.

b Mr. STEWART: Mr. Scott has told us that certain changes have been made

and I am asking him now what, in fact, in practice, would have been the result

if the present procedures had been in effect at the time this particular instance

] took place.

i Mr. Scorr: Well, this definitely would have been a separate item, for

f which we would have had approval, to begin with, and it would not be included
in the other items.

Mr. STEWART: In other words, you are telling the committee that when you
went initially to treasury board you would have given them a much more
specific breakdown of the items being authorized by treasury board?

Mr. ScorT: Yes. There certainly would be a division between furniture
and drapery and things like this on the one hand and works of art, if you like,
on the other hand.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: If I may, I would like to ask a question. If the treas-
ury board had been requested to change the amount of $35,000 from an item
of sculpture to drapes, or other furnishings, and they had said no, would the
Montreal airport have had the sculpture, or would the $35,000 have been re-
turned to treasury board?

Mr. ScorT: I think the practical answer must be that only part of the

O $35,000 would have been returned to the treasury board, because if you take
: the $35,000 out of the program which was approved, we were short the funds
to complete the inside furnishings.

The VICE-CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on paragraph 101?

Mr. CARDIFF: Do you intend to ask for the money for this work of sculp-
ture, or has the matter been dropped?

Mr. ScorT: It has been dropped.
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Mr. CARDIFF: You do not intend to have it?

Mr. ScorT: No.

Mr. CarpirF: The amount of $475,000, including $35,000 for sculpture, was
approved, and then the department decided it was not going to spend this on
sculpture, but spend it on something else without approval. As I see it, that
is the only point. They did not spend more money than was approved by
treasury board, but they spent it in a different way without approval?

Mr. ScorT: Yes, sir; it was without specific approval, but as I say this was
the first case we had had where an item of art of any type was involved and
we considered this to be part of the interior furnishings of the building.
When it was decided within the department not to go ahead with the sculpture,
we shifted the interior decorations, and this is the result. We felt that so long as
we kept within the over-all amount authorized by treasury board we were
all right.

Mr. WincH: What is important is that it does not happen again.

Mr. STENSON: Mr. Scott said that he felt they would have had to go back
for some more money. Would you have gone back for $35,000?

Mr. ScotT: It was less than $35,000.

Mr. STeENSON: It would have been less than $35,000.

Mr. ScorT: At that time, yes.

Mr. STENSON: Where did the remainder of the $35,000 disappear to; did
it go into some furnishings which probably you did not need?

Mr. ScorT: In total we spent the $475,000.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: We will turn now to paragraph 115 dealing with
non-productive payments.

Mr. HENDERSON: We now turn to the listing, non-productive payments,
which is paragraph 115 on page 54 in the 1962 report, which you will recognize
is the listing we were discussing the other night.

We might now deal with the three items on page 60, items 20, 21 and 22,
which are the three cases involving a total of $52,140 paid out by the depart-
ment, arising from deficiencies in plans and specifications at Kenora, a re-
assessment of space requirements at Victoria, British Columbia air terminal,
and postponement of original installation plans at the Halifax air terminal.

Mr. WincH: Mr. Chairman, in view of the fact that these all appear to be
based on what the contractors maintain were faulty plans and specifications,
might we hear from Mr. Scott in respect of why the plans were wrong and he
might tell us who does the drafting of them. Do you have a department which
does this, or do you hire outside architects?

Mr. ScorTr: We have architects within the department. With regard to
standard buildings or other buildings which we need at airports, our own
architects do this, and we have so-called general plans which can be modified
or changed slightly for different circumstances. When it concerns a major
terminal building, preliminary plans are drawn up by the architects of the
department and an outside architect is brought in to further develop plans,
working along with the architects of the department.

Mr. WincH: It is alleged that the plans here were faulty.

Mr. ScorT: I think the circumstances are a little different in each case.
In respect of Kenora, item 20, this is a case where some double houses and
some other small things were concerned. The plans, as drawn up by the depart-
ment, showed facilities on one side of the double houses, which would be stand-
ard, because on double houses they must be duplicated on the other side.
Tenders were called. One tenderer bid substantially lower than the other three.
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Then, before the contract was signed he claimed he did not understand that
there would have to be plumbing facilities put in both sides of the double
houses, and therefore he wanted to renegotiate. It was proposed that this might
be at somewhat more than he had tendered, but nevertheless less than the
second lowest tender. ;

Now, on this point the department is very careful, because obviously at
this stage the tenders have been opened and everyone knows the bids. If you
negotiate on a basis like this, then, of course, the other higher tenderers feel
they have been prejudiced and are at an extreme disadvantage. When we
looked at the tendered bids, it was obvious that the lowest tender was con-
siderably lower than the others. Therefore, rather than negotiate, the depart-
ment thought it would be prudent to call again for tenders; this was done. The
result of the tender call was that a new price was obtained which was higher
than the first very low tender, which was not accepted, but was less than the
second lowest tender of he first group of bids.

Mr. WincH: Do I understand what seems to be an entirely extraordinary
situation. By the way, my trade is in the construction industry. Do you mean
that when your department sets out the plans and specification for a duplex
building, you show only the plumbing installation in one of the units and that
you do not have a complete set of plans for a duplex house?

Mr. Scorr: I understand this has been the practice.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: I never heard of that before.

Mr. WAHN: My question is on item 1. Is it in order to switch?
The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. STEwWART: May I ask a question on this item first?

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. STEWART: Am I to understand that all the other tenderers understood
that the facilities were to be those suitable for a double dwelling?

Mr. ScorT: Yes, sir.
Mr. STEWART: It is just this one bidder who did not understand your plans?
Mr. ScotrT: Yes, sir.

Mr. HALES: Mr. Scott, if it is a fact that all the other contractors under-
stood the plans and specifications included both sides of the houses, why then
could you not hold the tenderer to his tender which was accepted?

Mr. ScorT: Well, looking at the difference in the tendered bid and the

~ other three tenders, there was such a difference here that it was felt this man

certainly had bid extremely low and would not be able to complete the con-
tract at that price. He, himself, was the one who wanted to renegotiate and
escalate it into a higher price.

Mr. WincH: I have a supplementary question. I think this is something
which must be in the minds of all members of the committee. What kind of
contractors do you deal with if they think they can put up a duplex house and
only have the plumbing in one unit?

Mr. Scort: We try to deal with very few like that.

Mr. STENSON: It seems that there was a loophole here so that the people
could get out of it; the plans did not specify plumbing in the other side which
let this fellow out. Do you not think this is a fault in your own department
or in the department which drew up the plans?

Mr. ScorT: We certainly will not allow the same thing to take place again.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Was the deposit confiscated or was it returned to
the lowest bidder who asked to be let out?
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Mr. ScorT: I believe the deposits were returned and new tenders were

Mr. HALES: Who drew the original plans and specifications?

Mr. ScorT: The architects of the department.

Mr. HaLEs: Of the Department of Transport?

Mr. ScorT: Yes, sir.

Mr. HaLEs: Who was responsible for that department?

Mr. ScorT: I beg your pardon?

Mr. HALES: Who is chief of that department?

Mr. ScorT: My Ramsay, who is here, is our chief architect.

Mr. HALES: Would Mr. Ramsay like to speak to this subject?

Mr. W. A. Ramsay (Chief Architect, Air, Department of Transport): Mr.
Chairman, I do not have anything to add further to Mr. Scott’s comments; they
were to the point.

Mr. HALES: You agree that the plans and specifications were in such a
form that this original tenderer could get out of his contract?

Mr. Ramsay: Yes, I do. The architect in charge of this work was an
elderly gentleman. He is no longer with the department. He did not check it.
It should have been checked, but was not.

Mr. HALES: As chief of the department, do you feel that he should have
checked these plans?

Mr. Ramsay: Yes, he should have checked them.

Mr. WAHN: May I query an item which I do not quite understand? In
the first paragraph it says that the department entered into an agreement to
supply natural gas to take effect on November 1, 1960—

Mr. HENDERSON: May I point out that I think you are referring to an item
which we discussed the other evening, which had to do with the pipe line com-
pany at Cold Lake. This is with reference to the Department of National Defence
and not the Department of Transport. We are now dealing with the Depart-
ment of Transport an items 20, 21 and 22 on page 60.

Mr. CaAMERON (High Park): I notice a slight discrepancy between Mr.
Scott’s statement and the statement made by Mr. Ramsay. I understood Mr.
Scott to say that they prepare the plans showing the facilities on one side only,
on the assumption that any tenderer would know that you have to duplicate
them on the other side. Mr. Ramsay, however, said that it was the arhitect’s
fault. If it is as Mr. Scott has stated it, then I would say that the department
was not at all at fault; they prepared the plans, sent them out, and the man
should have known that facilities had to be provided on both sides. However, I
understand from Mr. Ramsay that it should have been pointed out on the plans
that the plumbing was required for the two houses, and that this had not been
done. On one theory I would say the department was not to blame, and, on Mr.
Ramsay’s explanation, I would say you were to blame.

Mr. ScorT: While the plans always were drawn up in this way and most
contractors understand them, the prudent thing is to have a notation right on
there stating that this is to be in duplicate.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Is it not the policy in your profession that when any-
thing is not marked on the specifications, plans, or both, it becomes an extra?

Mr. RamsAay: Yes, indeed.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: If there are no further questions on paragraph 115,
we will go on to the 1963 report.

Mr. CARDIFF: After the second tender had been called, a tender was
accepted at $141,712 and it cost $142,096. The contractor claims this is because
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of deficiencies in the specifications. This is the second time, then, in one contract
where there have been deficiencies. Why is this?

Mr. Ramsay: I do not understand the question.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Would you rephrase your question?

Mr. CARDIFF: The second time the contractor tendered for $141,712 and the
work was completed at a figure of $142,096, and he claimed the difference is
owing to deficiencies in the specifications. Why did this happen in the second
case?

Mr. Ramsay: The difference between the tendered price and the final pay-
ment was owing to the fact that some additional work was added on at unif
prices. This was included in the contract.

Mr. LEgaurT: Perhaps I should direct my remarks to Mr. Winch who told
us that this was his particular line of business in life. I think the department
certainly made a good move in retendering because otherwise the error would
have been much more serious had the contractor started work on the original
contract. Definitely, as Mr. Winch has indicated, the specifications should have
indicated that the plumbing was to be in the two units. Therefore, I do believe
it was quite normal to readjust. However, the error was not very serious and is
something which was corrected; otherwise it could have been much more
serious.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Francis.

Mr. Francis: I would like to speak to item 21.

Mr. WincH: Over the years, on a great many occasions, I have had to deal
with plans in which there was a duplication, but on the actual blueprint there
always was a notation in the specifications that there had to be a duplication.
I take it from what Mr. Ramsay has said that this was not indicated on the
plans or in the specifications.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: I think Mr. Ramsay already has told us that once.
Mr. LegauLTt: I would like to ask Mr. Winch—

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: I do not wish to interrupt you, but you must direct
your question to the witness. Mr. Winch is a member of the committee and
not a witness.

Mr. LecauLT: It is a very normal procedure to have these adjustments as
you go along; I am referring to the difference between the $141,712 and the
$142,096. That would be very normal?

Mr. ScorTt: Yes.

Mr. Francis: My questions have to do with item 21 in paragraph 115, in
respect of the Victoria international airport. The firm of architects which was
engaged to design and supervise construction apparently worked on three sets
of plans for which they were paid $29,660. Were there any negotiations? I am
commenting on the Auditor General’s statement:

At the year-end the same architects had been engaged to prepare plans
for a still more modest project.

Was there any modification of the usual terms in the later re-engagement,
taking into consideration the fact that already they had been paid $30,000
and presumably might have been in possession of information concerning this
project which might have permitted them to proceed at a rate slightly less than
the usual rate for the third and final version. Was there any negotiation with
regard to a reduction in the scale of fees?

Mr. Ramsay: When an architect is engaged to prepare plans, he has a
contract which pays him a proportion of his total fee for the preparation of

study plans and sketch plans to start with. When the scheme was changed,
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this proportion of the total cost was studied and compared against the time
spent by the staff of the architect, and the costs, and the settlement was made
on that basis, having in mind that the settlement would carry through into a
reduced fee on the succeeding work.

Mr. Francis: You anticipated a fee on the succeeding work which would
be less than the full scale of fees had the firm been engaged anew?

Mr. RaMsAY: Yes.

Mr. Francis: I think it is normal that when there has been an abandon-
ment and further plans are prepared, it is slightly less.

Mr. Ramsay: Yes.

Mr. WincH: I think the logical question here on which we would like to
have a definitive answer is what type of planning goes on in your department
when you draft a set of plans and then discard them, and draft another set of
plans, discard them, and then have a third set of plans. What kind of original
thinking is done in your department when a situation like this occurs?

Mr. Scort: Mr. Chairman, the planning for the Victoria terminal building
began about 1958-59. At that time there was a tremendous volume of air
traffic moving between Vancouver and Victoria. The trend indicated that in all
likelihood this was going to increase. Therefore, estimates were made on the
basis that this air traffic was increasing. I believe there were flights in the order
of 18 and 20 a day, and the load factor was very high. This is a basic factor
which must be taken into account in your planning, because you have to consider
how many customers you are catering to, the facilities you will provide, and
how you will route the customers through the terminal building. If you have
a large number, you have an entirely different problem than if you have a
small number.

At this time, the ferry services between Vancouver and Victoria were
almost going out of business. There was no indication whatsoever of any
change taking place in the direct Vancouver-Victoria service. There were other
ferry operations there, but not directly into Victoria. However, when we were
part way through the plans the service between Vancouver and the island
did change and there was a drop in the air traffic. This immediately meant that
if we continued with the first plan, we would substantially overbuild. A re-
assessment was made, and this led to the second plan. The ferry service which
was put in was an extremely good one and was very well patronized. The
amount of air traffic dropped considerably. Over a period of two to three
years the traffic dropped as much as 68 per cent. Therefore, it was quite
evident, even on the second plan, that we should no go ahead on that basis.
Just because there was some sort of a commitment it would be foolish to go
ahead, and it would be a waste of funds. The terminal building plan had to be
scaled back again and re-scheduled to handle the lesser volume of traffic. This
basically is it.

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): Well then, you saved the taxpayer quite a lot
of money by wasting a little with the architects.

Mr. ScorT: Yes, that is correct.

Mr. Francis: I understand that the airport is quite a substantial distance
away; it is at the other side of the island.

Mr. ScorT: Yes.

Mr. Francis: Then it does not compete with the ferry?
Mr. ScotrT: It is an excellent ferry service.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Have you a question, Mr. Stenson?

Mr. STENsON: Yes. I would like to ask Mr. Ramsay if this was a fair fee
to pay to an architect when you withdraw plans in a case like this?
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Mr. RAMSAY: Yes. This is a general arrangement not only within the gov-
ernment service but outside of the government service.

Mr. HALES: Mr. Scott, what is the present situation? Where do we stand
at the present time in respect of this terminal building?

Mr. ScorT: It is just about completed, sir.

Mr. HaLes: I do not suppose you could give any thought to discontinuing
it entirely. We still have to have it.

Mr. ScotT: There is still a fair volume of traffic there.

The VIicE-CHAIRMAN: If there are no further questions in respect of this
paragraph we will proceed to paragraph 84 in the 1963 report, which reads:

84. Radar equipment acquired but not put into service. In 1958-59,
airway and airport surveillance radar systems were placed in commission
at 15 Canadian airports in order to provide improved facilities for air
traffic control. The individual installations required considerable con-
struction at some airports in order to provide accommodation for the
radar terminal equipment in the control towers, and related facilities.

At the lakehead airport, due to the nature of the terrain, it was found
necessary to instal the surveillance system on a height of land about 12
nautical miles from the airport and to have a communication link to relay
the radar information from there to the airport control tower. In March
1959 the Department of Transport acquired a microwave radar relay
system at a cost of $182,000 to provide the necessary link between the
surveillance system and the airport control tower. As space in the ter-
minal building was not available to house all the airport radar equipment,
it was decided to construct a temporary building at the remote site to
accommodate some of the equipment and to provide a link to the airport
control tower by radio circuit until such time as the terminal building
facilities were enlarged to accommodate all the radar terminal equipment.
It was regarded as impracticable to put the microwave link into service
until this had been done.

At March 31, 1963, four years after acquisition of the microwave
radar relay system, it was still in storage, and the preparation of working
drawings and tender documents for enlarged terminal facilities had not
yet reached the final stage. It would now appear that at least five years
will have elapsed between the time of acquisition of the microwave
system and its being put into service. Thus, equipment valued at $182,000
and of a kind subject to rapid technological improvement will have
remained in storage for five years because of failure to provide necessary
equipment accommodation.

Mr. STEWART: There is subparagraph 22 here. In connection with this para-
graph, I would like to know why it was decided to modify the design for the
air conditioning system. I am sure the climate did not change. What was the
factor that led to this change in planning?

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Scott, would you answer that question. Perhaps
it would be better answered by Mr. Ramsay.

Mr. RamsAay: Mr. Chairman, the Halifax terminal building was designed
with what is known as a split system of ventilation and heating. The ducts
which carry the air through the building were designed to carry either hot air
or cooling. In the original tender call the cooling coils were not included; it
was designed so that the cooling coils could be subsequently installed. Part way
through the construction of the building the department decided that in line
with installations of air conditioning at the Montreal terminal building and the
Ottawa terminal building we also should instal air conditioning at Halifax.

The consultants were advised to complete the plans and designs for air con-
21182—23
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ditioning at Halifax. But, a further study indicated that at that time it was not
absolutely necessary and the department saved the money in respect of the air
conditioning installation. However, this represents the fee to the consultants for
the design which was subsequently abandoned.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: If ther are no further questions we will go to para-
graph 84 at page 52 of the 1963 report, which deals with radar equipment
acquired but not put into service.

Would you make a comment in respect of this paragraph, Mr. Henderson.

Mr. HENDERSON: Paragraph 84 in the 1963 report outlines the circumstances
under which a microwave radar relay system costing $182,000 remained in
storage for five years because lack of accommodation for associated faciilties at
the lakehead airport prevented its being placed in operation.

Mr. McMiLLAN: Has this been placed in operation yet?

Mr. H. J. WiLLiaMSoN (Chief, Technical and Policy Co-Ordination, Tele-
communications Branch, Department of Transport): Mr. Chairman, in reply to
Dr. McMillan’s question, the equipment is in the process of being installed at
the present time. It was related to the completion of the modifications to the
terminal building which had been delayed for various reasons, as mentioned
in the report.

I would like to correct what is perhaps a misinterpretation of phraseology
in that it is not radar equipment but only the remote link, which is a microwave
connection from the remote point to the airport which had not been used, and
this particular equipment was purchased in anticipation of the building having
been completed earlier than has been the case. Also, it was to take advantage
of a mass production price, which we were able to use, by getting one of a large
production of similar type of equipment which was manufactured for the
F.A.A. in the United States. We felt there was considerable economy in pur-
chasing the equipment at the time it was purchased because if we had bought
one of a kind it would have cost us more.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: When you speak of economy, do you consider the
cost of carying that in respect of the capital investment? After all, it is being
carried for five years. In this case was there still an economy?

Mr. WiLLiaAMSsON: Yes.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Was it large?

Mr. McMiLLAN: Did any of the equipment become obsolete in the meantime?

Mr. WirLrniamson: No, sir. It is being utilized now.

Mr. HaLes: Is it usable?

Mr. WiLLtamson: It is being installed and is quite satisfactory.

Mr. Hares: I do not believe it is unusual to be four years out since there
is normally four years between the buying of the equipment and getting the
building to put it in.

Mr. WiLriamson: This is partly answered by the discussion on the previ-
ous item in respect of the delays and changes that have to be effected in termi-
nal buildings and the question of when they can be implemented. But, when it
was bought we did not anticipate any delay in the completion of the terminal
building.

Mr. HaLES: Where have you been storing it?

Mr. WiLL1AMSON: On the site.

Mr. Hares: Did you pay storage?

Mr. WiLrLiamson: No, sir, not that I am aware.

QJ\ 1)
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Mr. HALES: This was not a matter of accelerated buying in respect of the
estimates of your department, that this money was allotted to the department
in the estimates and you went ahead and bought it because the money had
been allotted?

Mr. WiLLiaMsoN: No, sir. It was part of the regular thing, and also to take
advantage of the fact there was a chance to buy at a good price because of the
large F.A.A. order. But, at the same time, it was anticipated what our needs
would be in the normal lead time in respect of the procurement of equipment
because we needed the other radar equipment which was put in use, and the
actual radar equipment was utilized by operating it without the remote facil-
ity. The staff were located at a point some distance from the airport and oper-
ated the facility on that basis during the interim.

Mr. HaLEs: Perhaps Mr. Scott could tell the committee why we delayed
four years in this building? What were the factors involved?

Mr. ScorT: I think maybe Mr. Ramsay knows the situation better than I do.
I am not too familiar with the terminal building problem there.

Mr. Ramsay: A new terminal building had been completed in 1953 or 1954
and just following that the air lines moved into an era of a newer type of
aircraft and there was no indication whether or not this type of aircraft was
going to overfly the lakehead area, and until the operation of newer type of
aircraft became clarified the planning of the terminal building was deferred
until we knew what the traffic load was going to be.

Mr. WaHN: Mr. Chairman, I am not entirely clear in respect of the amount
of $182,000. I gather there was a piece of equipment that was in use for a period
of time. Was the cost of that $182,000?

Mr. ScotT: Yes.

Mr. WaHN: So, the actual piece of equipment that was not used at all cost
$182,0007?

Mr. WILLIAMSON: Yes.

Mr. WanN: If you had bought that as a single item at that time what would
the cost of that piece of equipment have been?

Mr. WiLLiAMSsoON: Approximately twice that.

Mr. WaAHN: And, by ordering at that time you saved $182,000?

Mr. WiLLiaAMSON: Somewhere in that neighbourhood.

Mr. WanN: Well, then, that purchase seemed to make sense because the
interest on the money at 5 per cent would amount to $10,000 a year for a total

. of about $50,000 for interest charges, and you saved $180,000?

Mr. WIiLLIAMSON: Yes.
Mr. WaAHN: And the equipment is still useful?
Mr. WILLIAMSON: Yes.

Mr. WAHN: Then, the question is what were you using there in the mean-
time if you did not use this piece of equipment. How did you carry on with-
out it?

Mr. WiLLIAMSON: As I mentioned, the mode of operation was entirely dif-
ferent. The purpose of this particular piece of apparatus is to provide a con-
nection between the airport terminal and the radar equipment which is
mounted on the mountain which is at the back of the cities there, and during
the interim the staff, who normally would be controlling traffic from a point on
the airport and performing other traffic control functions, were split so they
could put some of them at the site on the mountain, and they operated from
there using equipment which now will be moved from the mountain as the
remote control apparatus can be connected by this stored equipment to the
equipment on the mountain.
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Mr. WAHN: And, that will effect an economy in the future, will it?

Mr. WiLLiAMsoN: Yes, from a staff point of view and general operations.
It is a type which is used in standard practice across the country.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Have you a question, Mr. Stenson?

Mr. STENSON: Yes, Mr. Chairman. Did I understand Mr. Williamson to
say that this piece of equipment is worth twice as much today as when you
purchased it?

Mr. WiLLiAMsoN: No, sir. I said it would have cost us approximately twice
the price we paid had we bought it as one, even at that time.

The VICE-CHAIRMAN: Does that answer your question. If so, are there
any further questions on this particular paragraph. If not, we will proceed to
paragraph 85 which appears on page 53 expenditure arising out of an accident
resulting from improper installation of air traffic control equipment.

85. Expenditure arising out of accident resulting from improper
installation of air traffic control equipment. On March 26, 1962 a Trans-
Canada Air Lines airplane, while taxiing at the Montreal international
airport, came into contact with a precision approach radar reflector
which had been recently installed close to the edge of the holding area
beside the runway. Subsequently the airline presented a claim to the
Department of Transport for costs of $82,552 “attributable to engine in-
gestion of temporary P.A.R. aluminum reflector and post”. Payment of
the claim was authorized by the governor in council on an ex gratia
basis, the charge being to the transport appropriation for “airport and
other ground services—operation and maintenance” (vote 145).

An investigation by the department revealed that the reflector
giving rise to the accident had, with other reflectors, been installed at
a distance of only 25 feet from the side of the runway instead of at the
distance of 50 feet recommended by the equipment manufacturer and
approved by departmental headquarters. Furthermore, the poles sup-
porting the reflectors had been temporarily installed with their bases
above the prescribed height because the surface of the ground was frozen
at the time. The accident occurred because the outboard engines of the
aircraft involved in the accident, which were lower than the reflectors,
projected about 33 feet from the side of the runway when its wheels
were on the edge of the paved area.

Mr. HENDERSON: This paragraph explains the circumstances under which
a claim of $82,552 had to be paid by the department as a result of an accident
at the Montreal international airport in March 1962.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions on this paragraph?

Mr. HALES: Mr. Chairman, it would appear that this large sum of $82,552
was paid out by the taxpayers of this country because of a faulty installation
at this airport. I do not know whether or not Mr. Scott can answer this ques-
tion but I would like to know who installed this and who would give the
instructions as to how and where it should be installed.

Mr. ScorT: Perhaps Mr. Goodwin would answer this question.

Mr. R. W. Goopwin (Director of Civil Aviation, Department of Transport):
Mr. Chairman, I do not know how much detail the members would like me
to make available to them.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: As much as possible, in brief form.

Mr. Goopwin: Well, it might be well to give some background information
to indicate to the committee what the purpose of this installation was.
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Precision approach radar, which is probably more familiar to the committee
in terms of ground control approach or G.C.A., had been installed by the tele-
communications branch for use by air traffic control at Montreal. There were
some deficiencies in its performance. The electronic engineers decided that a
system of reflectors which would provide good targets for the radar should be
installed along the edges of the runway so that the radar operator bringing
the aircraft in under instrument conditions clearly could pinpoint the extremi-
ties and design of the runway. Of course, the design of the reflectors was a
matter for the electronic branch. When it came to installation the plan was
submitted by the manufacturer of the equipment and it was approved in so
far as the distance out from the edges of the runway and the height of the poles
were concerned.

Subsequent to the approval of this plan the engineer in charge took this
plan, which was not related to any specific runway at any specific airport,
and overlaid the plan on runway 24 left of Montreal. Now, the plan was still
good except at the extremity of this particular runway there is a turning
bay. The plan was given to a works foreman at the airport directly by the
engineer in charge and the foreman was told to instal according to the plan.
Being a good foreman he followed the engineer’s plans exactly. The main rea-
son that this was not picked up by airport management was that there was no
co-ordination service between the installers and the airport operators.

Mr. HALES: Mr. Goodwin, did the Department of Transport and the manu-
facturer both agree on the plan of installation?

. Mr. Goopwin: Yes, but not related directly to that particular runway.
This was a case of approving the sighting suggestion by the manufacturer in so
far as the distance out from the edge of the runway is concerned or, in other
words, down wind from the end. That was approved in Ottawa by our airways
people from a safety and zoning point of view. Had this been a straight runway
this would not have happened. It was a case of following instructions to the
letter without applying practical considerations to it on the part of a mainte-
nance foreman.

Mr. HaLeEs: Did your department realize that there was this curve in the
runway? Did they know that it existed?

Mr. GoopwiIN: Oh, yes, indeed, sir.

Mr. Haves: Well, knowing that why were instructions not given accord-
ingly?

Mr. GoopwiN: Well, as the investigation revealed—and, there was a very
intensive and exhaustive investigation in this particular instance—the people
who approved the plan approved it from a zoning point of view without rela-
tion to any specific runway. In other words, the approved plan was quite satis-
factory from the edges of the runway for these reflectors, which are made up
of a hole with a disc fan on them, but when it was sent back to the Montreal
region there was a lack of co-ordination at that point between the airport opera-
tors and the telecommunications engineers carrying out this installation. The
main break in the chain occurred when the installation, which was a tem-
porary one, was not co-ordinated with airport management and air traffic
control.

Now, at a large airport there are continual operations going on and we
have not been able to account for the breakdown in the line of communication
at this particular time. The job was finished just before dusk. Had it been day-
light the pilots would have seen this pole, which is six feet above the ground
and is either a four by four or six by six, which was supplied by the manufac-
turer. But, there was definitely a breakdown in the communications.
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The VICE-CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, because it is nearly five minutes to
eleven o’clock and the defence committee wishes to use this room, may I ask
you to return at 3.30 this afternoon, when we will take up the expenditures in
respect of the Montreal air terminal, which should prove to be very interesting.

AFTERNOON SITTING
Thursday, July 16, 1964.

The ViceE-CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, we have a quorum. Before taking up
clause 86 which deals with the Montreal international airport cost, I take time
out to welcome Mr. Danforth who has been appointed a member of this com-
mittee. I am sure he will make a valuable contribution to our work. We are
now on paragraph 86.

86. Montreal international airport construction costs. In 1953 pre-
liminary planning by the Department of Transport indicated that expen-
diture of about $6 million would be required for the construction of an
air terminal building and a separate “finger” building at the Montreal
international airport. The concept of a separate “finger” building was
abandoned in the face of adverse criticism by prospective commercial
users of the facilities, some of whom also criticized the inadequacy of
space provided for their use.

In July 1954 two firms of architects were engaged to work jointly on
the project and were instructed to have specifications for the new ter-
minal building ready for tender by March 1955, considerably in advance
of what would have been expected normally in connection with a project
of this magnitude. The revised plans prepared by the architects differed
materially from those originally contemplated and the cost of the project
was estimated at $11 million, including $1.5 million for the ‘“fingers”
which were now to be extensions of the terminal building itself.

In order that the work could proceed with a minimum of delay, and
notwithstanding the fact that final decisions had not been reached with
regard to a number of important matters, it was decided that the work
could be divided into a number of stages and separate contracts awarded
for each stage. It was felt that this approach, rather than having a con-
tract for the entire project placed with one contractor who would sub-
contract for a number of construction stages, would enable the archi-
tects to work on the detailed specifications for one stage while work was
proceeding on the previous one. It was also hoped that a saving could
be effected through the placing of individual contracts. The contract for
the first construction stage was authorized in August 1955; and the
terminal building was substantially completed and opened to the public
in December 1960.

Total costs actually incurred in the construction of the terminal
building and related facilities had amounted to $30,591,000 at March
31, 1963, as follows:

Terminal building: & 5o 5 08 S $22,348,000
Fingers and aeroquay .......c..c... 6,048,000
Furnishings ete. /. vt L N et s s e 676,000
Architects’ fees and expenses ........ 1,519,000

$30,591,000

i
¥
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Reasons underlying these heavy costs, far in excess of those esti-
mated, have been reviewed by the department with us, the principal
reasons advanced being:

(a) the undertaking was the first of such magnitude undertaken by the
department and raised a number of problems which were either
under-estimated or unforeseen in the planning stage because of the
size and complexity of the project;

(b) it was considered necessary to proceed with the various stages of
the work as rapidly as possible without, in some cases, having com-
plete plans available (a result was that prices covering much of the
work had to be obtained through negotiation with the contractors
already on the job, rather than through tendering);

(¢) construction took place during the period when the first major
thinking was going into the planning of terminal buildings to be
used by jet aircraft, and this was responsible for a great many
changes in the planning as work proceeded, making advance cost
estimates unrealistic; and

(d) the architects fell behind schedule in their preparation of plans.

Mr. Henderson.

Mr. HENDERSON: The purpose of this note is to explain the factors which
carried the cost of this construction from the estimate of $6 million in 1953
to an actual outlay of over $30 million in the ensuing ten years. It must, of
course, be recognized that the job was the first of its type undertaken by the
department. I think a discussion with Mr. Scott and his associates concerning
the underlying reasons causing these heavy costs may assist the committee
to understand situations where the government undertakes construction work
of this magnitude. That is all I have to say in introducing this subject.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions from members of the com-
mittee pertaining to this paragraph?

(Translation)

Mr. LEBLANC: In French.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Leblanc.

We will take a few minutes off to see if the sound system is working.

Mr. LEBLANC: Mr. Chairman, being from Montreal, what strikes me
most in this is that the works, or at least...

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Leblanc, one moment please.

Mr. LEBLANC: I was saying, Mr. Chairman, that the works, or at least the
preliminary plans, were started in 1953, and finally the airport was opened to
the public in 1960, which means a lapse of seven years.

At the beginning, the preliminary estimates were $6,000,000, and they
ended by being $30,591,000. We were given all sorts of reasons. That was not
the first airport built by the department of Transport, and the reasons they
gave do not entirely satisfy me. Could we elaborate further on all the explana-
tions given on this point?

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Leblanc, in order to save time, it might be preferable
that you ask questions you wish to be answered, questions you are interested in.

Mr. LEBLANC: Firstly, are the architects who were hired at the beginning,
the same who handled the contract from 1953 until 19607?

(Text)
The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Do you wish to answer that, Mr. Scott?
Mr. ScorT: No. Mr. Ramsay will answer.
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Mr. Ramsay: Yes, they were.

(Translation)

Mr. LEBLANC: When the contractors began the work, after the architects
had called for tenders, did they obtain the contract upon the first call for
tenders and were they the same until completion, or were the contractors
subsequently changed?

(Text)

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Ramsay?

Mr. Ramsay: In answer to that question there were numerous tenders
and numerous contractors from the commencement of the construction until
the completion.

(Translation)

Mr. LEBLANC: According to the explanations given at page 54 of the English
version, it seems that many contracts were awarded without the calling of
tenders. What is the amount of contracts you awarded without tenders being
called?

(Text)

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Would Mr. Scott care to answer?
Mr. ScorT: No, Mr. Ramsay.

Mr. RamsAy: Mr. Chairman, we had contractors on site who were complet-
ing one phase of the work and it was found to be expeditious and economical
to have the same contracting company’s contract expanded to include the addi-
tional work, provided it came below our estimate, and it did in each case.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Hales.

Mr. HALES: Maybe if we went back to the start of this it would be better
because I am addressing my question to Mr. Ramsay. The preliminary plan-
ning and so on was done by the Department of Transport and was estimated
at $6 million. Yet one year later—mind you, just one year later—the architects
who were called in estimated it to be $11 million; so there is a difference of
$5 million between the estimate of the Department of Transport and the esti-
mate of the architects who were called in within a space of just one year. Maybe
Mr. Ramsay could enlarge on this difference.

Mr. Ramsay: The planning of the Montreal terminal building was com-
menced in 1951. It was some years later before consulting architects were
engaged in order to establish a financial account for the building arbitrarily.
This sum of $6 million was put in the estimates. There were no plans completed
at the time. This $6 million was an arbitrary figure. The first estimate was
made on preliminary sketch plans and was in the neighbourhood of $12 million.
This did not include the central heating plan, the heating lines, the tunnels,
the furnishings, and so on which were outside of that, and which go to make up
the $30 million.

There were some 200 to 300 extra work orders for changes in the building
during construction owing to the fact that the air lines, when they were setting
up these preliminary designs, did not anticipate that in the life of some of
the executives they would be operating jet aircraft as a civil operation. It was
their opinion that jet operation would remain with the military at least until
1970. But jet aircraft came into operation and plans of the building had to
be modified in order to accommodate this type of aircraft operation.

Neither did the air lines consider at the time of planning of the original
building that automation was something with which they were too much con-
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cerned. But during construction they became more aware of the importance of
automation, and this required further changes. I could give you one or two
more examples. The original building was planned for a type of customs
inspection that required the baggage to be brought in behind the counter from
the customer, placed on the counter, cleared by customs and taken over the
counter, out the door.

This was the way the building was first designed at the request of the
air lines that this was the only way it could work.

But on the opening of the New York international airport is was proven
that international air line operations could be done with a cafeteria style,
so the building was subsequently changed and additional baggage equipment
installed to accomodate this cafeteria style or function. These were some
examples.

Mr. HarLes: It would appear that the estimate of $6 million that was
requested in 1953 by the department was just in order to get the project started
and that it was not really a true figure.

Mr. Ramsay: That is right.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Frenette.

(Translation)

Mr. FReNETTE: Mr. Ramsay, do you think that all the work is done and
that the construction is completed? In your opinion, was the method used in
awarding the contracts or for the achievement of the work the right one
and the most economical one in the circumstances?

(Text)
The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Ramsay?

Mr. Ramsay: Mr. Chairman, under the circumstances of attempting to
erect a building for specialized tenants who had not at that time been convinced
of the kind of operation they were going to be involved with, the method of
construction under the conditions that existed was certainly the best thing
that could be done.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions?

Mr. HARKNESS: Mr. Chairman, it does not seem to me that if we start out
with the first estimate actually made which was $12 million, and you add
another $3 million, for the heating which was not included in that short time,
it still seems to me that we have not had any real explanation or any satisfactory
explanation why the final cost was 100 per cent more than that, that is, $30
million instead of the maximum of the original estimate which was $15 million.
You mention changes that would be required, because you are going to handle
jet aircraft rather than piston aircraft. You as the man who would be responsible
for very much of this cost would handle passengers just the same from a
terminal building. Your terminal building does not need to be very much
different because of the use of jet aircraft rather than of piston aircraft, of
which you are still handling a large number.

Mr. Ramsay: When I gave you one or two examples, I did not give you the
complete details. The estimate of $12 million for the terminal building did not
include the heating plant, and it did not include the fingers. The heating plant
cost somewhere near $2 million with the underground distribution tunnels,
but it did not include the fingers which finally came out to $6} million. It
did not include the approach roads, the aprons surrounding the building, the
furnishings and the other items which would add up to the $30 million. The
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$12 million did not include the estimate for the fingers and the tunnels to the
fingers; and it did not include the air conditioning which was added sub-
sequently.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions? If not, let us go

to paragraph 87 on page 54:

87. Catering contract, Montreal International Airport. In March
1960 the Department of Transport invited public tenders for the rental
of the restaurant and other dining facilities in the new terminal building
at the Montreal international airport, on the basis of a percentage of gross
revenue from sales of food and beverages. Three of the bids received
were given serious consideration, two being from large, well-established
concerns in the catering field. The third, which contained a slightly better
offer than the other two, came from a group of Montreal citizens with
varied backgrounds, including some experience in restaurant operations,
who proposed to incorporate a company to operate the facilities if they
were successful in obtaining the concessions.

Executive approval was given in August 1960 for entry into an agree-
ment with this group but only on condition that it, at its own expense,
furnish, equip, and decorate the cocktail lounge and bar and spend a
minimum of $350,000 as the initial cost of furnishing, equipping and
decorating the several concessions. The condition was agreed to by the
group.

The group thereupon formed themselves into a limited company and
signed a lease indenture dated January 31, 1961. The indenture con-
tained the. condition referred to previously and in addition required that
the specified amount of at least $350,000 to be spent on furnishings, ete.,
was to be evidenced by certified copies of receipted vouchers furnished
to the department within 60 days of the effective date of the lease. This
requirement was not met and the department later explained to the audit
office that a general awareness of what had been installed made it
seem unnecessary to invoke the relevant clause.

Financial statements produced by the company to the department
in May 1961, giving the financial position at the date of the lease inden-
ture, revealed that the company was proceeding to make commitments
for expenditures called for in the lease, but it was also revealed that the
company was under-capitalized in that only $150,000 equity capital had
been introduced. Interim financial statements provided to the depart-
ment by the lessee as at July 31, 1961, i.e., after six months operation
under the lease, revealed that:

(a) no further equity capital had been introduced,
(b) $73,000 had been borrowed by the company,
(c) there was a deficiency of working capital, and

(d) furniture and fixtures had been largely obtained on credit.

Although partially reorganized in July 1961, the financial position
of the company continued to deteriorate. Operations for the first eight
months to September 30, 1961 resulted in a loss which was in excess of
the paid-in equity capital. Financial statements prepared as at June 30,
1962 revealed that further losses had occurred without any additional
equity capital having been introduced.

On October 1, 1961 the company ceased to make the rental payments
to the department called for by the lease indenture and these were not
resumed until almost a year later. Following a general assessment of
the situation in February 1962, the department decided that a proposal
made by the company for a major re-writing of the lease and a substan-
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tial reduction in the operation of the facilities was unacceptable and that
the only solution to the situation was to seek a successor by direct negoti-
ation. The department therefore invited proposals from the two well
established catering concerns whose bids had also received consideration
in March 1960. One of these concerns showed interest in taking over the
catering company provided that ‘“the department would make some ad-
justments both with respect to the financial crisis which had developed
and the fee formula for continued operation of the restaurant”. With the
’ department’s approval the concern entered into discussions with the
directors of the company holding the catering contract. However, before
much progress could be made by this concern, the directors and princi-
pal shareholders of the company holding the catering contract suddenly
sold out their interest in the company to a fresh group of local citizens
in October 1962.

In November 1962, after current rental payments had been resumed,
but without reducing the backlog of indebtedness, the new directors of
the company holding the catering contract came forward with a pro-
posal that the basis for the payment of rental in so far as food sales were
concerned be substantially adjusted downward and made retroactive
to February 1, 1961, the effective date of the basic lease indenture.

Notwithstanding the unsatisfactory performance of the lessee com-
pany over the two years of its operation, the treasury board early in 1963
approved the financial reductions sought by the new directors and the
department was authorized to amend the lease indenture retroactively on
that basis. Although it is obvious that this will result in a substantial
reduction of the company’s unpaid indebtedness to the department,
which amounted to $167,400 at March 31, 1963, the actual amount of the
reduction has not yet been finally determined by officers of the
department.

This has to do with the extra catering contract for the Montreal interna-
tional airport. Before we get to the questioning I would like to advise the com-~
mittee that a report from the Minister of Finance in connection with the
exchange fund account is ready today and is being tabled. It will be up for dis-
cussion at the next meeting of the committee. But the minister and Mr. Hen-
derson were of the opinion that the members of the committee should receive
it now so that they might peruse it before the next meeting, and that this
would make for speedier action in the questions. Only English copies are
available today because the report was not finished until late yesterday. But
French copies will be made available on Monday and will be distributed to
those who wish to have them in French.

(Translation)

The ViceE-CHAIRMAN: Today, the report of the minister of Finance will be
tabled. It is printed in English only, but the French version of the report
will be available Monday and will then be distributed to the French-speaking
members of the committee. That is why this report is handed to you today,
so as to facilitate your work, because it will be examined at our next meeting.

@ (Text)

Mr. Henderson.

Mr. HENDERSON: The sequence of the unfortunate findings is set out here
on pages 54, 55, and 56. Members may want to put a number of questions to
Mr. Scott and his associates. We discussed and reviewed this matter in some
considerable detail last year with Mr. Baldwin the deputy minister, who was
most co-operative in furnishing me with full details. I understand that the
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company’s unpaid indebtedness to the department was reduced from $167,400
at March 31, 1963, as mentioned on page 56, to $107,921 by the amendment
to the lease that is referred to. The amount has since been further reduced to
$31,568 by applying against it the value of certain installations, which I under-
stand have since been acquired by the Department of Transport. That is all
I have to say.

The VICE-CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions on clause 87?

Mr. LEBLANC: We note here that the first group who tendered was com-
prised of two well known catering companies. When they got the initial tender
for themselves, they formed a limited company and they then signed a lease or
an indenture with the Minister of Transport. Now, was the lease signed by the
limited company under the name of the limited company, and were the direc-
tors held responsible with the company for the lease itself?

Mr. HENDERSON: I shall ask Mr. Smith to speak to this.

Mr. D. A. SmitH (Audit Director, Office of the Auditor General): The
lease was with the limited company.

Mr. LEBLANC: The directors were not involved personally with financial
responsibilities?

Mr. HENDERSON: The lease was signed by the limited company which they
formed.

Mr. LEBLANC: What was the percentage that they gave in order to get the
tender? You have in your notes that you asked for tenders on the basis of a
percentage of the revenue from the sale of food and beverages.

Mr. HENDERSON: I am afraid I do not understand.

Mr. LEBLANC: When the tender was asked for you mentioned here that
the Department of Transport invited public tenders for the rental of the
restaurant and other dining facilities on the basis of a percentage of the gross
revenue from the sale of food and beverages. Now, the question is, what was
that percentage?

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Smith, I think you have that information.

Mr. SmrTH: The percentage was the greater of 11.5 per cent of the gross
food sales or a minimum of $100,000 per annum. Later arrangements were made
for the percentage of 15 per cent to apply to bar sales.

Mr. LEBraNC: I understand they did not receive a licence for the sale of
beverages for quite some time; is that right?

Mr. HENDERSON: That is right.

Mr. LEBLANC: When was the licence granted originally? Was it granted
when the group changed?

Mr. ScorT: It was granted in the fall of 1961.

Mr. LeEBLANC: Thank you.

Mr. HALES: Mr. Scott, I presume tenders were called for operating the
food facilities?

Mr. ScorT: Yes.

Mr. HALES: You received three tenders?

Mr. ScorT: Yes.

Mr. HaLEs: The lowest tender was accepted?

Mr. ScorT: It is really the highest tender, sir, in these cases.

Mr. HaLes: The highest tender was accepted in this case. Who recom-
mended that that tender be accepted?
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Mr. ScorT: In all these cases the decision is made on the basis of a recom-
mendation of the minister to treasury board.

Mr. HaLES: Who would advise the minister?

Mr. Scort: The department.

Mr. HaLgs: There is an indication in this paragraph that executive approval
was given. What does that mean?

Mr. ScorT: That means that treasury board approval was given to an
entering into an agreement.

Mr. HaLES: Who made the recommendation that this tender be accepted?

Mr. ScorT: The minister.

Mr. HaLeEs: He made that on the advice of whom?

Mr. ScotT: In making a decision in respect of a concession like this there is
a great deal more taken into account than just the percentage of the gross
offered, or the minimum floor that might be suggested. One of the considerations,
of course, is the experience of the company and the initiative one might expect
the company to put into the business. There are many other intangible factors
which really cannot be assessed, such as standards of food the company
proposes to provide and things of that sort.

Mr. HaLEs: The minister was advised by the department to accept this
tender and those who gave the advice knew that this company tendering was
not a recognized company, is that right?

Mr. ScorT: The department’s advice was really in respect of the other two
tenders.

. Mr. HAaLES: Was there any consideration given to requiring this firm to
put up a bond in view of the fact it was being asked to equip and decorate
to the extent of a minimum of $350,000?

Mr. ScotrT: Not that I am aware of, no.

Mr. HaLes: Do you not think that would have been something the firm
should have been asked to do?

Mr. Scort: I do not think such a thing has ever been done, sir.

Mr. HALES: In view of the fact you were dealing with a company that
had no previous experience in this business whereas the other two firms did
have experience, and in view of the fact you were taking a gamble to the
extent of $350,000, did it not occur to the department that a bond should be
required?

Mr. ScorT: Apparently not.

Mr. WincH: Mr. Chairman, perhaps I should apologize at the outset for
the question I intend to ask, because in all the years I have been a member
of the public accounts committee I do not think I have found it necessary to
ask a question of this kind. In view of what the Auditor General has stated
in his report to the House of Commons in paragraph 87, considering the
intricacies and implications involved, I feel I must pose the following question.

As Mr. Hales suggested a moment ago this paragraph in part states:

Three of the bids received were given serious consideration, two being
from large, well-established concerns in the catering field. The third,
which contained a slightly better offer than the other two, came from
a group of Montreal citizens—

That group until that time apparently had not had any experience in the
catering business. The contract involved a major catering job. We are told by
the Auditor General that two of the bids were received from well established
concerns in the catering field but the contract was given to a group of Montreal
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citizens who at that time had not even been incorporated as a company, who
proposed to be incorporated as a company as indicated by the information con-
tained in paragraph 87 but who, as indicated by further information in this
paragraph, were completely unable to meet their obligations.

I think I have two logical questions to be asked by members of this com-
mittee.

The first is, why was a decision made not to give the contract to a concern
which had experience in the business but rather to a group of citizens who had
not even at that time been incorporated?

Second, and this question I think naturally follows the question just asked,
was there political pressure or implication in the granting of this contract in
respect of catering facilities at the Montreal airport? Can we receive a defini-
tive answer to that question?

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Winch, I suggest your first question is in order
but that your second question is out of order. If you intend to ask the second
question, then you should ask it of that individual who was the minister of
transport and responsible at that time. Certainly you should not direct it to
an employee of the government. ‘

Mr. WincH: I am directing the question to the deputy minister of transport,
and I should like to know how far he can go in an attempt to obtain that
information in regard to what I maintain is an absolutely extraordinary situa-
tion for this committee.

The VIcE-CHAIRMAN: You may maintain that, and I have no objection,
but I do not think your second question should be asked of an employee of the
government, and it is definitely out of order.

Mr. WiNcH: Perhaps we could have an answer to my first question.

Mr. ScorT: In respect of your first question, sir, the company claimed it
would have no problem in respect of the operation of hiring a competent
manager.

Mr. WincH: To which company are you referring?

Mr. ScorT: I am referring to this company.

Mr. WincH: According to the information we have, at the time the contract
was let the group only proposed to incorporate as a company and there was
actually no company in existence.

Mr. Scort: I should refer to the group, if you like.

Mr. WincH: Is that information incorrect?

Mr. ScoTT: There is nothing wrong with the information, Mr. Winch. As
it is stated here, it is quite correct.

Mr. WiNcH: There was no company in existence at that time?

Mr. ScorT: That is right.

Mr. WincH: I refer to the time the contract was let.

Mr. ScorT: That is right. The proposal was that the group could hire
adequate management and make this operation a success.

Mr. WincH: Is it your usual practice or policy as a deputy minister in a
situation like this, where a catering operation of this kind is to be let by con-
tract, to turn down two tenders sent in by concerns in the catering business
and award the contract to a group not in the business and which proposes to
form a company if they receive the contract? Is that a fair question to ask you?
Is that how you normally proceed in letting your contracts?

Mr. ScorT: No, that is not how we proceed. The department normally
makes an assessment of any submission that is received and refers that assess-
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ment to the minister. It is up to the minister to decide in respect of the tenders
and it is on the basis of the departments’ assessment that he makes a recom-
mendation or proposal.

Mr. WincH: I ask you this question as the deputy ministre because I pre-
sume the minister acts on the information you give to him.

Mr. ScorT: I am only acting deputy minister sir.

Mr. WincH: Did you make a recommendation to the minister in respect
of these tenders?

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: I must correct you, Mr. Winch. Mr. Scott is the acting
deputy minister and he should not appear on the record as the deputy minister
until he is promoted to that job.

Mr. WINcH: As the result of observing how he conducts himself, sir, I am
sure he will make a good deputy minister.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN:I am sure your contribution is accepted with pleasure.

Mr. WincH: Did you yourself, the department or the deputy minister make
any recommendations to the minister in respect of the awarding of this
contract?

Mr. ScorT: We did not make any recommendation other than the assess-
ment.

Mr. WincH: May I ask what your assessment was?

Mr. ScorT: I believe the majority opinion in the department favoured the
Hilton bid.

Mr. WincH: In other words, the department favoured an established cater-
ing firm?

Mr. ScotrT: That is right.

Mr. WincH: That assessment was not accepted by the minister and he,
on his own responsibility, made the decision to grant the contract to a firm not
yet in existence?

Mr. ScorT: The final decision really is made by the treasury board.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Winch, I do not want to interrupt your question-
ing but a civil servant cannot answer for an elected representative.

Mr. WincH: Mr. Chairman, I am trying to find out the procedure followed,
and I think I have the answer at this time. The three tenders were received by
the deputy minister or yourself, or the department?

Mr. ScoTT: Yes.

Mr. WincH: You received three tenders. The department made a recom-
mendation to the minister, recommending a firm which was in the catering
business. The minister therefore made the decision, or made a recommendation

to the treasury board; is that right?

Mr. ScorT: That is quite correct.

Mr. WincH: The treasury board accepted the recommendation of the min-
ister rather than the assessment of the department; is that right?

Mr. ScotT: Yes.

Mr. WincH: Mr. Chairman, you are ruling that I cannot ask a question in
respect of the basis upon which the minister made such a recommendation;
is that right? You are going to rule me out of order if I ask whether the recom-
mendation was made on a political basis; is that right?

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: I do not wish to stop you from asking that question,
but it is not possible for a civil servant to explain the action of a minister who
is an elected representative.

Mr. WincH: I think we have the answer at this time.
21182—3
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The VicE-CHAIRMAN: I think you do have the answer.

Mr. WincH: The responsibility for the decision was not the responsibility
of the department, the deputy minister or the acting deputy minister. The deci-
sion was made by the minister himself that the contract should be granted to
a firm not yet in existence.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: I think that fact has been established.

Mr. LeBLANC: The other question I wanted to ask follows along the subject
involved in questions asked by the previous speaker.
What were the names of the directors of that company?

Mr. WiNcH: Are you referring to a time after the company received the
contract?

(Translation)
The Vice-CHAIRMAN: The firm to which the contract was awarded?

(Text)

Mr. LEBLANC: I am referring to the first group which entered a tender in-
cluding that form of incorporation proposition.

Mr. SmiTH: I have the names of the officers of the company as given by
the deputy minister of transport in April of 1963. The names are: Mr. David
Belhumeur, president and a chartered accountant; Mr. Jean P. Dionne, vice
president and sales director of Dionne Limited, retail chain stores, Montreal,
and Mr. Paul O. Parent, the secretary treasurer and general manager of A.F.C.
Limited the company with which we are concerned here.

Mr. LEBLANC: According to the information I have, the group would not
be made up of those individuals. I am referring to the first group which received
the favour of the tender, and that is the group that bid on the tender as a
group and not as a company. You probably have the names of that group.

Mr. SmitH: The answer to your question would have to be obtained, sir.

Mr. LEBLANC: Thank you.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Presumably you will be willing to obtain that infor-
mation and send it to this committee for the next meeting, or send it to Mr.
Leblanc so that he has the information he is seeking?

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Chairman, I think the information is contained in
the department’s records because Mr. Smith was quoting from a letter I
received from Mr. Baldwin in answer to these questions. Perhaps it could be
obtained from the records of the department.

Mr. ScorT: That is possible.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: If that is the case, Mr. Leblanc, that question must
be asked on the Orders of the Day in order that the documents relating to
that transaction may be produced. The same thing would apply to Mr. Winch’s
question.

Mr. WincH: Mr. Chairman, if I may now, I should like to make a request
of this committee and then will not say any more.

I should like to ask that the steering committee, in view of the importance
of this situation and the implications, consider making a request that the min-
ister of that day appear before this committee and explain why he made a
recommendation to the treasury board in respect of granting this most signif-
icant contract involving catering at the Montreal airport, against the recom-
mendation of his departmental officials, that the contract should be granted
to a group not yet incorporated and not in the business. I request that you refer
this suggestion to the steering committee.
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The VIcE-CHAIRMAN: You are requesting that we refer this to the steering
committee?

Mr. WincH: I suggest we refer the suggestion to the steering committee
that the minister of that day appear before this committee to give some expla-
nation.

The VICE-CHAIRMAN: Your request will be taken into consideration by the
steering committee, I can assure you of that.

Are there any further questions in respect of paragraph 877

Mr. DanForTH: I should like to ask two questions, Mr. Chairman. The
first question has reference to a statement in paragraph 87 to the effect that
the third tender contained a slightly better offer. I wonder whether it is pos-
sible for this committee to obtain some explanation of the meaning of that
phrase, “slightly better offer”.

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Danforth, I think Mr. Smith mentioned the figures
but perhaps he could elaborate on them. You have that information there,
Mr. Smith.

Mr. SmitH: I said that the tender of the successful group was, the greater
of 11.5 per cent of the gross food sales or a minimum of $100,000 per annum.

The offer of the second company was, the greater of 11.15 per cent of gross
food sales up to $2 million and 12 per cent of the gross revenue over $2 million,
or a minimum of $130,000 per annum.

The third company, and this was an amended bid by the way, was, the
greater of ten per cent of the gross food sales except staff cafeteria sales, plus
five per cent of the gross staff cafeteria sales, or a minimum of $100,000 per
annum.

The first two I have mentioned offered a percentage of 15 per cent of the
gross liquor sales, and the third offered 16 per cent.

Mr. DANFORTH: I have one further question, Mr. Chairman. In the second
paragraph of paragraph 87 there is reference to the fact that executive appro-
val was given but only on the condition that at its own expenses an expenditure
of $350,000 had to be made in respect of furnishings, equipment and decora-
tion. Was this condition a part of the original tender or was it in addition to
the qualifications of the original tender?

The VICE-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Smith, can you answer that question?

Mr. Ramsay: The answer to the question is that the original tender called
for the successful contractor to furnish the areas to the approval of the depart-
ment, but there was not a specific sum mentioned. Subsequently there was a

, specific sum determined, which is the $350,000.

Mr. WincH: May I ask a supplementary question in that regard?
The VicE-CHARMAN: Yes, Mr. Winch.

Mr. WincH: Was the basis upon which the Auditor General made this
report to the House of Commons, that the original contractual tender stated
that the furnishings and equipment should be provided on an ownership basis
and not a credit basis? I understand from my reading of this that it was done
on credit. What is the actual cash delinquency of this group which finally be-
came a cost to the federal treasury?

Mr. HENDERSON: That is a rather tall order. In this paragraph you will
notice that the department required the group to undertake at its own expense
to spend a minimum of $$350,000 immediately on furnishings, equipping and
decorating for the several concessions.

Mr. WincH: Is that cash or credit?

Mr. HENDERSON: I am going on to explain that. When the agreement was
signed, the agreement or indenture contained the condition requiring that at
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least $350,000 be spent on furnishings, and so on, and that it was to be evi-
denced by certified copies of receipted vouchers furnished to the department
within 60 days of the effective date of the lease. '

I then go on to point out that this requirement was not met and the depart-
ment later explained to the audit office that a general awareness of wha had
been installed made it seem unnecessary to invoke the relevant clause. How-
ever, I go on to say that financial statements produced by the company to the
department in May, 1961, giving the financial position at the date of the lease
indenture, revealed that the company was proceeding to make commitments
for expenditures called for in the lease—that is the $350,000—but it was also
revealed that the company was undercapitalized in that only $$150,000 equity
capital had been introduced.

Mr. WincH: May I stop you at this point? I think this will help. May I ask
the meaning of ‘“certified copies of receipted vouchers”?

Mr. HENDERSON: Evidence that they had spent the money and production
of receipts to show they had spent the money on the furnishings—

Mr. WincH: And that they had paid for them.

Mr. HENDERSON: Yes. In this paragraph I go on to say that interim financial
statements provided to the department by the lessee as at July 31, 1961—that
is after six months operation under the lease—revealed—and then I list the
items. First of all, no equity capital had been introduced; second, they had
borowed $73,000; third, there was a deficiency of working capital and, fourth—
and this is your point—furniture and fixtures had been largely obtained on
credit.

Mr. WincH: How did they get it by vouchers?

Mr. HENDERSON: They did not get them; that is why at the top of page
55 I show that we had asked the department why that requirement was not
met.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Why was that requirement necessary?

Mr. HeEnDERSON: I think the department was very wise in making a
stipulation that they spend a sum of money like this on furnishing, equipping,
and decorating the concessions, if only as evidence of the seriousness of their
intent to perform under the indenture. This is a very logical businesslike
requirement to have made.

Mr. WincH: Had the original tender contract agreement been lived up to,
what would you say is the amount they are delinquent to the federal treasury,
or the department?

Mr. HENDERSON: I think the best way to answer that question is invite you
to read the balance of the comment on pages 55 and 56 where you will see
there were a number of changes made, and in point of fact a new contract was
entered into; this group packed up and a new group was formed.

Mr. WincH: Was this new group composed basically of the same members
as in the old group?

Mr. HENDERSON: No. I believe it was a new group of local citizens. They
said, in effect, “we will take it on provided you give us a better deal”. At the
top of page 56 I point out that this new arrangement with the new group was
made in 1963, but in the meantime the company at March 31, 1963—the
original company—stood indebted to the department for $167,400. As I
mentioned in my opening remarks, this $167,400 has since been reduced to
$31,568 as a result of the amendment to the lease and certain installations
made by the company having been taken over by the department. This is
a compromise situation which had to be made in order to keep the facilities
going at the Montreal international airport.
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Mr. WincH: When the second group took over, did they accept the debt of
the first group or who paid off that indebtedness?

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Scott may correct me, but it is my understanding that
the second group were prepared only to accept the debt and to operate the
restaurant provided they had a new deal in respect of the amount of profit
or commissions they were going to have to pay to the department.

Mr. WincH: I am sorry; that is not my question. I am referring now to the
money which was delinquent by the first group. When the second group took
over, did they accept any responsibility for the money owing by the first
group?

Mr. HENDERSON: That is described on page 55. You will see a paragraph
where I say on October 1, 1961, the company—the original company—ceased
to make the rental payments to the department called for by the lease indenture,
and these were not resumed until almost a year later. Following a general
assessment of the situation in February 1962, the department decided that a
proposal made by the company—the original company—for a major re-writing
of the lease, and a substantial reduction in the operation of the facilities was
unacceptable and that the only solution to the situation was to seek a suc-
cessor by direct negotiation. The department, therefore, invited proposals from
the two well established catering concerns whose bids had also received con-
sideration in March, 1960. Those are the two to which Mr. Scott referred. One
of these concerns showed interest in taking over the catering company provided
that the department would make some adjustments, both with respect to the
financial crisis which had developed and the fee formula for continued operation
of the restaurant. With the department’s approval, the concern entered into
discussions with the directors of the company holding the catering contract
However, before much progress could be made by this concern, the directors
and principal shareholders of the company holding the catering contract sud-
denly sold out their interest in the company to a fresh group of local citizens
in October 1962. So another outfit came in.

Mr. WincH: May I ask one question now? I have read this most carefully,
and that is why I am so interested. Has the Auditor General anything to say
beyond what is contained in paragraph 87 with reference to how this committee
might consider bringing in a recommendation which would take care of this
most unusual development.

Mr. HENDERSON: Well, it is a very regrettable state of affairs. I know
Mr. Scott and Mr. Baldwin share the same view. However, this type of thing
does come along in the course of any well organized business.

Mr. WincH: If it were a well organized business in free enterprise, I would
say they would be broke in two months.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: In private enterprise they would not be there.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): At the inception did you make any inquiries
to find out whether they had the money and had spent the $350,000 which they
were supposed to spend in order to acquire the equipment?

Mr. ScorT: Well, this became part of their undertaking.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): But you took no precautions to see that they
had the money?

Mr. ScorT: This is hard for me to answer, because I was not involved in
this at that time.

Mr. GoopwiIN: Mr. Chairman, I recall the meetings on the various particulars
and indeed the original four or five citizens did provide excellent bank references,
for what they were worth; mind you, it was not a guarantee from the bank.

However, the original group, which consisted of approximately four persons,
21182—4
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one of whom—I believe the president—was, in fact, a very well established
restaurant operator in the city of Montreal. The other gentlemen concerned also
were very highly regarded citizens in business in Montreal. So, at the time
the bids were reviewed, and subsequent to the original review, the original
group did present what the department at that time considered to be satisfactory
bank references, but not a bond or anything of that nature.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Then you relied on these bank statements and
the reputations of the individuals who were proposing to enter into this contract
in your assessment of their tender?

Mr. Goopwin: I would not agree with that. I think Mr. Scott has made
quite clear the official stand.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): There must be something on which you relied.
The only thing you have presented so far are statements in respect of the
banking reputations of the people who made the tender. You relied on that
to establish it was a bona fide solid, substantial group of persons who were
behind this, and in dealing with them you believed you were not dealing
with any fly by night sort of organization. Is that right?

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: I think I should point out that the recommendation
made by the department was not the recommendation that was made by the
minister to the treasury board.

Mr. WincH: It should be noted on the record that the recommendation
of the department was not that which was accepted by the minister.

Mr. CaMERON (High Park): When they entered into the contract with
this group they had bank statements and knowledge of the character and
reputation of these men. Probably, if they had not had the bank statements
and if the men were not of the character as indicated, they would have given
it a much closer look.

Mr. Scort: I think that is right, sir.

Mr. CaAMmERON (High Park): Having got that far, why did the department
waive the requirements calling for certified copies of the vouchers for the
equipment, and so on, that under the contract they were required to deliver?
Was that a decision of the department, or was it a decision made outside your
scope? Mr. Henderson, in his statement, says the general awareness of what had
been installed made it seem unnecessary to invoke the relevant clause. Was
that a decision of the department, or whose decision was it?

Mr. ScorT: I really would not put that on the basis of a decision, sir. I
think the fact was that these people were putting in the facilities in accordance
with their undertaking, and the local people at the airport watched this and
saw it going in. This seemed to be evidence of the good faith of the caterer.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): They were putting in the equipment which
indicated a value to you of something approaching $350,000; but, why did you
waive the condition that they produce receipts to show this equipment was
being paid for?

Mr. WincH: That is a top notch question.

Mr. ScorT: This way only over a relatively short period, because during tl_lat
period the company started getting into difficulties, and we had our financial
service people audit their operations.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): The effective date of the contract was Febru-
ary 1, 1961?

Mr. ScorT: Yes.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): And these receipts were to be produced within

60 days after the goods were put on the premises. By May 1 you knew that
the company was proceeding to make expenditures called for in the lease, but
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that the company was undercapitalized, and the interim financial statement
provided to the department as of July 31 indicated that no further equity
capital had been introduced, that $73,000 had been borrowed by the company,
that there was a deficiency of working capital, and furniture and fixtures had
been largely obtained on credit. What did the department do under these cir-
cumstances?

Mr. ScorT: I am advised that during this 60-day period the facilities actu-
ally were not put in. They did not have a licence.

Mr. CaMERON (High Park): So they still did not operate as of the first
of February?

Mr. ScorT: Not the bar; the food concession was in operation.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Then their position apparently continued to
worsen. Did the department do anything at all about it?

Mr. Scort: Oh, yes; we were very much concerned with this, because
basically it was turning out that the patronage that the concessionaire was
getting was not what had been anticipated.

Mr. NowLAN: Why?
Mr. ScotT: One of the reasons was that it did not have a liquor licence.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Under the tender did you not have the right
to cancel their contract?

Mr. ScorT: This could have been done.
Mr. CamerON (High Park): Was that ever considered?

Mr. Scotr: Yes; I think it was considered, but there was also the problem
of maintaining facilities in operation during a period of time. Even the food
side of this was not turning in the revenue which had been anticipated. It
was becoming evident to the department that new terms would have to be
negotiated with whoever came in.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): You made a general assessment of the situa-
tion in February, 1962, and at that time decided the only solution was to bring
in someone else to operate the concession. Why did you not follow through with
that? It seems to me it was a very wise assessment.

Mr. ScorT: At this time the original group came back. Prior to this they
were thinking of withdrawing and it was the thought of their withdrawal
which prompted us, with treasury board’s approval, to go and talk to the other
two bidders to see whether we could bring them back, but then the operation

changed hands and it became a practically new question.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Do you not think it was a rather peculiar
thing that this first company sold out at that time without any warning at all
to the department?

Mr. ScorT: You have no control over transfer of shares in the company.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): I am not asking about the question of having
any control; I am asking whether you did not think it was a peculiar thing
for them to do.

Mr. ScorT: It was not a very viable undertaking at that time.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Notwithstanding that, you continued to nego-
tiate with this new group that was taking it over.

Mr. ScorT: It was considered that the new group might be more expe-
rienced and have better financing.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): In what way were they considered to be
more experienced and to be more financially sound? In what way were they
going to manage this concession in a manner satisfactory to the department?

21182—43
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Did you get a bank statement? Did you get biographies? Did you get character
references behind these people to show whether they were eminent business-
men or not?

Mr. Scort: Well, when they came back with another proposal, it was a
somewhat different group. They were prepared to continue if they got a rene-
gotiation of the undertaking. The minister considered that this would be all
right.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Then the minister is back in the picture again?

Mr. ScorT: The minister is always in the picture.

Mr. CamEerRON (High Park): With all these different discussions, and
there must have been very many of them, the minister was fully informed
about them?

Mr. ScorT: Yes, sir.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): He knew about the fact I assume, and that
they were interested to come back a second time?

Mr. ScorT: You mean Aero caterers?

Mr. CaMERON (High Park): Yes, Aero caterers, and he knew about the
fact that they were negotiating with the original tenderers?

Mr. ScorT: He knew that the department had the approval of the treasury
board to go back to the original tenderers to see if they were interested to
come back and take over the operation.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Who made the recommendation to the treasury
board?

Mr. ScotT: It was done on the basis of the discussions we were having at
the time. This was put up to the treasury board at the time.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): What was the position of the department itself
in the matter? What was their solution to the problem? Did they go along with
it, or did they have a different solution?

Mr. ScotT: I think on the whole the view of the department was in favour
of another firm. We have had experience with this one, we knew Aero caterers
and that they were able operators, and we felt that they might be the ones
who could go in and do something about getting more patronage for these
facilities.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): The opinion of the department was passed on
to the minister?

Mr. ScorT: When this was being discussed with Aero caterers, that is when
the change took place in the other company. The view was that the other com-
pany would be on a better financial basis, and that they were going to have a
new deal to start with, and that they were not going to have the same obligation
of expense.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): The fact that a new group of persons took over
the existing contract would not enter into your decision about the qualifications
of Aero carrying on the contract?

Mr. ScorTt: No.

Mr. CameroN (High Park): What inquiries did you make about the
qualifications of the new group to carry it out?

Mr. ScorT: I certainly presume that inquiries were made.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): I do not think it is a matter of presumption.
Mr. Scort: I did not make them myself.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Probably someone else can tell us.
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Mr. Scort: I think it can be accepted that they would be assessed on the
same basis as the original ones.

Mr. CamMEeRON (High Park): I would like to know what the assessment was.
I would like to have a statement. Is there anyone here from your department
who can give us that information?

Mr. ScotT: I am sorry but we have no one here from property management.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Who recommended it? Was there an assess-
ment made in making the authorizations that were made in the contract to
reduce the liability?

Mr. ScorT: Yes, there was on the basis of the department’s appraisal of
the difficulties of the operator.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): What was the department’s appraisal of them?
What advice did they give to the minister who in turn would have to take it
to the treasury board, as opposed to Aero?

Mr. ScorT: Whoever came in would have to have a better financial deal
than the old company had.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): What about the financial responsibility of
whoever came?

Mr. ScorT: That they would meet it.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Did you set any standard of what that financial
responsibility would be?

Mr. ScorT: No, there was no fixed standard. They are meeting it now, as
Mr. Goodwin has pointed out.

Mr. CameroN (High Park): Perhaps we should have it in a little more
detail. I mean the form as to how the new organization is carrying on.

Mr. GoopwIN: The statement indicates that the indebtedness has been
reduced.

Mr. CaMERON (High Park): That would be by reason of the change in the
tenderers, and the department absorbed the loss, or the money which it might
have got, and set it out to reduce the amount.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Is it to be an adjustment or a payment? Is that what
you want to find out?

Mr. GoopwiIN: I am under the impression that both entered into it.

Mr. HENDERSON: At March 31 the indebtedness was $167,400; that would be
under the original indenture.

Mr. SmiTH: That is right.

Mr. HENDERSON: I understand that figure of indebtedness to the depart-
ment has been reduced by $60,000 to $107,921 by the amendment to the lease,
that is to say, the new lease that was entered into with the new group. It is an
adjustment. They wrote down the amount of the fees that they would charge
the new group, and accordingly credited it to reduce the amount of indebted-
ness. Since then that $107,921 has been further reduced by the value of certain
installations which had been made by the company. They presumably consist
of furnishings, which the department has taken over; that is, they took over
ownership. They took it over from the company and applied it against the
indebtedness which is now only $30,000 odd.

Mr. FRENETTE: Was it done by adjustment or by cash?

Mr. HENDERSON: That is what I have said—by adjustment.
Mr. WincH: In other words they have not paid a cent.

Mr. NowLaN: If you take their property, do they not then pay?
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Mr. CAMERON (High Park): I have one concluding question. In your opin-
ion, and in that of the department, is this new organization carrying on, doing
a satisfactory job, and living up to the contract in every respect, or have you
any complaints whatsoever?

Mr. ScorT: So far as I am aware they are doing quite well.

(Translation)

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Leblanc.

Mr. LeBranc: I would like to speak in French, Mr. Chairman, because it
is easier for me. What was the duration of the lease between the minister and
the first group, signed on January 3, 1961?

(Text)
The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Smith?

Mr. SmrtH: The lease is supposed to be for a period of five years with pro-
vision for an opportunity for two further renewals of five years each.

(Translation)

Mr. LesLaNc: Did that lease contain provisions granting more protection
to the Department of Transport than to the first group which obtained the con-
tract? So far, it seems that all the advantages were in favour of the first group
and not in favour of the Department of Transport.

(Text)
The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Smith.

Mr. SmutH: I think that is a question which might more advantageously
be answered by the department.

Mr. LEBranc: Is that your attitude?
The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Do you have an answer to that, Mr. Scott?

Mr. HENDERSON: We have the lease here. It would be very easy to answer
any specific question. Actually I read the lease and I thought that the depart-
ment had made a pretty good watertight lease. In fact, it was as a result of
seeing the clause which had to do with responsibility in reference to the furnish-
ings, which required invoices to be furnished within 60 days that my officers
called for the receipts; and there was the standard cancellation clause of non-
performance. It is a very long document, but I thought it was a good lease
that they made.

Mr. WincH: But you did not receive the invoices?

Mr. HENDERSON: We did not receive the invoices, as I say here. We had a
number of other questions in connection with the lack of performance in the
matter.

Mr. CameroN (High Park): You make the statement that the legal form
of the contract was good?

Mr. HENDERSON: I recognized the clauses to be the standard ones you would
expect.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): The contract then was a good one, formally.

Mr. HENDERSON: That is right. I do not presume to be a lawyer, but I
thought that they had endeavoured to foresee every possible contingency pretty
effectively.

(Translation)

Mr. LEBLANC: Then, the financial difficulties experienced by the first group,
which subsequently formed itself into a corporation, are not attributable to the
fact that the Department of Transport would have charged them an excessive
amount for the lease? I believe they themselves set the amount of the lease they
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were willing to pay, and it was on that tender that they obtained it. Then the
financial difficulties would arise from the fact that they did not supply enough
capital to start the work and to foresee the possible losses, as is usually done in
private enterprise.

(Text)

Mr. HENDERSON: Are you addressing that question to me?

Mr. LEBLANC: Well, it might be to you.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Henderson?

Mr. HENDERSON: Well, my own general impression of the performance of
the first group is that they did not seek to organize themselves very effectively.
Mr. Scott can say what views the department had on the competence of their
staff, but as you will see from what I say on page 55 they did not put any more
than $150,000 into the undertaking. Nevertheless they signed a lease to say
that they would spend $350,000 on furnishings alone. Then they apparently
went to the bank and borrowed $73,000. I suggest to you that they did not take
this very seriously.

(Translation)
Mr. LEBLANC: It seems that the initial capital did not amount to the $350,-
000 which they had pledged themselves?
(Text)
Mr. HENDERSON: No, it was not.
(Translation)

Mr. LEBLANC: In order that this group prove their good faith, should not
the Department, before it signed the lease, have asked it to deposit an amount
of $$350,000 in a bank, in order to show that it could meet at least its first
commitments?

(Text)

Mr. HENDERSON: Yes, that was one of the first points that occurred to my
officers and to me. I put that question to Mr. Baldwin.

(Translation)

Mr. LEBLANC: If I understood well the explanations given by Mr. Scott a
while ago, it seems that the financial standing and the experience of the second
group are much higher than those of the first group?

(Text)

Mr. HENDERSON: I am not too aware of the competence of the second group.
I did ask the deputy minister what experience the second group might have
had in the restaurant business. As I recollect it I do not think we have that
information. Have we got it, Mr. Smith? I recall asking the question of Mr.
Baldwin, who the contractors were and what their experience had been gen-
erally.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Baldwin is the deputy minister of transport. He
is not present today.

Mr. LEBLANC: Did you ask the same question of the first group? If so,
could we have the answer right now?

Mr. HENDERSON: Yes, I did ask that question. That was why Mr. Baldwin
told me who the president was. But as auditor I naturally only look at these
things after the event and not before.

Mr. LEBLANC: Why can we not have that? Will it be produced to the audi-
tor?

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Smith has the names of these people on record.
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Mr. LEBLANC: We know the names of the second group but we never got
the names of the first group, or the name of the company until they were
incorporated, and we do not know what the capital stock is either.

Mr. HENDERSON: I think we have that information. You have the name of
the first group. Would you see if you have the amount?

Mr. LEBLANC: While we are waiting, I have another question of the Auditor
General. Was the department organized to make a real audit of the gross
revenues. The rental was paid under the gross revenue. Did the department
ever look at the gross revenue of the company to see exactly if the revenues
declared were the exact ones? Not that I doubt that they did not introduce
the right figure, but I think as a matter of audit it is very good to have a strict
control.

Mr. HENDERSON: That is correct, sir. The department has a competent
internal audit staff. As I recall, Mr. Smith and I examined the financial state-
ment of this first group when it was produced. I think I said here on July 31,
1961, that they were presented to the department by a firm of accountants
in Montreal, and the internal auditors of the Department of Transport had
themselves gone over them in detail and reported on them to the officers of
the department. As far as I recall it they had raised a great many questions
about the situation that this statement disclosed when of course, for the rea-
sons Mr. Scott has stated, they became increasingly concerned with what
they had on their hands.

Mr. SmiTH: The only information we have with regard to the personnel
is that this group was incorporated under the presidency of Mr. J. Lionel
Paquette.

Mr. LEBLANC: So that in a group of 10 or 15 they were all shareholders of
the new company?

Mr. GoopwIN: Speaking from memory I would assume there were five
gentlemen who at least took the main lead in the negotiations with the
department. I could not say whether there were more shareholders. But I
am quite certain there would be not more than the five that I know of.

Mr. WincH: Do you know their names?

Mr. Goopwin: No, but I do know Mr. Paquette who runs a restaurant in
Montreal and has done so for many years.

Mr. LEBLANC: Do you remember offhand if there was the name of one
Charles Paquette who was interested in this company?

Mr. GoopwiN: I do not recall that name.

Mr. LEBLANC: Could we get the information about the first group that
was formed with whom the department dealt? I am sure they know them all,
and they must have all their names on record.

Mr. GoopwiIn: I guess we must have. It was decided earlier that we would
produce them in answer to a question.

Mr. LEsSARD (Saint-Henri): I think that most of my questions bave been
asked by Mr. Cameron, and I shall wait until we get some information about
the first group.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Is it not true that the first group were responsible
people, and they went into the restaurant business with the idea that they
would secure a liquor licence, but somebody interfered and they did not get
their liquor licence, so they could not possibly make their revenue. They were
good businessmen, and they did not want to throw good money after bad.
So they would not put any more money into the operation. Then it went on
to a second group who took it over. They were given a liquor licence and were
able to make money.

pret
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Mr. LESSARD (Saint-Henri): I think that a licence was given to the first
group under Mr. Paquette. I do not know the names of the others, but I
believe that a licence was given to Mr. Paquette and the first group.

Mr. LEBLANC: Would it not be more regular to obtain a licence before
signing an indenture involving $350,000? I am sure that they would have had
a licence before they got themselves involved in a business of this proportion.

The VICE-CHAIRMAN: You are saying that we should verify the fact
whether the first group got a licence or not. Are you able to answer it?

Mr. HENDERSON: Are you aware of that?
Mr. SmiTH: What I have seems to contradiet that information. I have a

note to the effect that the company received a liquor licence on February 24,
1961; but this is at odds with earlier testimony.

Mr. LESSARD (Saint-Henri): Did they not sign a lease in 1961, on Jan-
uary 31? If so, would they not get a licence right off the bat?

Mr. WincH: The Auditor General and a member of his staff say that the
record shows that they did have a liquor licence in 1961. -

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Smith said there was a liquor licence obtained in
February, 1961, which would have been shortly after the indenture was signed.

It was stated earlier that it was thought the licence was not obtained until
1962.

Mr. LESSARD (Saint-Henri): The licence was obtained earlier than that.

Mr. HENDERSON: The licence was obtained in the later part of 1961. I have
a recollection that the interim financial statement, which I mentioned, did in
fact show some revenue from that source at the time.

Mr. WincH: If they did not have a liquor licence how did they show
revenue unless they were bootlegging?

Mr. HENDERSON: They were running the restaurant and the eating facilities
at the airport.

Mr. WincH: I thought you referred to the lounge.
Mr. HENDERSON: I am referring to the restaurant at the Montreal airport.
The VicE-CHAIRMAN: There was no revenue received from liquor.

Mr. HENDERSON: There was a little delay in obtaining a liquor licence.
The fact that a restaurant can serve liquor helps the receipts from food.

Mr. STENsON: I should like to ask a supplementary question on this liquor
licence subject. Why was a licence denied these people?

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: Mr. Stenson, I believe Mr. McLean has a further
question.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): I should like to know whether they did obtain a
licence and whether the licence was cancelled.

Mr. HENDERSON: That is not the case to my knowledge, Mr. McLean. I
do not know whether Mr. Scott has that information, but I think there was
just a normal application made.

Mr. ScorT: That is my understanding.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): It is my understanding that the licence was held
up or cancelled.

Mr. HENDERSON: The licence may have been held up for some time. We
will have to get further information in that regard.

Mr. McLeEAN (Charlotte): There may well have been a licence although
they may just not have been operating under the licence for various reasons.
Is that the situation Mr. Chairman?
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The VicE-CHAIRMAN: I do not know the answer to that question. I am not
familiar with liquor licences.

Mr. McLeaN (Charlotte): You say that, not having had one.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: I guess some of my friends who regularly attend
the cocktail meetings might be able to give you a better answer, but I do not
know who that is.

Mr. McLean (Charlotte): It is now five o’clock. Do we get a liquor
licence now?

The ViceE-CHAIRMAN: We have one more item to deal with and I think we
should complete this at this meeting so that it will not be necessary to bring
these present witnesses back to our next meeting, and that we may at that
time proceed with our regular agenda.

Mr. STENSON: I have a question in respect of the liquor licence subject. Why
did this company not obtain a liquor licence?

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: As a result of an answer given previously I would
suggest they did obtain one.

Mr. LEsSsARD (Saint-Henri): The company did obtain a liquor licence.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Further information in that regard will be obtained
and presented to this committee at its next meeting.

If there are no further questions I think we should now turn to a considera-
tion of paragraph 98.

Mr. LESSARD (Saint-Henri): Will it be permissible for us to ask further
questions in respect of this paragraph?

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: You are going to receive further information in
respect of this subject and if at that time you wish to ask further questions you
will then have your regular Chairman who I am sure will give you permission
to do so.

Mr. LEssarD (Saint-Henri): Our present Chairman is doing very well.

The Vice-CHAIRMAN: I wish we had not talked about this liquor licence
subject because I am afraid we are going to lose our quorum.

Mr. McLeaNn (Charlotte): It is now five o’clock.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: May we now deal with paragraph 98 in respect of
non-productive payments.

98. Non-productive payments. Paragraph 71 of the fifth report 1961
of the public accounts committee reads:

The committee gave consideration to the extent to which it felt it
would wish to be informed regarding non-productive payments in
future. Although it recognized the difficulty that would be involved
in defining a ‘non-productive payment’, it came to the conclusion
that information regarding such payments would be of value, and it
accordingly requests the Auditor General, in his future annual
reports to the House of Commons, to include listings of any such
payments that might have come to his notice in the course of his
audit.

In accordance with the request contained in the foregoing observa-
tion, a listing is given, as appendix 1 to this report, of the payments that,
in the absence of a precise definition, might be regarded as non-productive
in character which were observed in the course of the audit of expendi-
tures for the fiscal year 1962-63.

Mr. HENDERSON: At page 148 there is an indication that the Department
of Transport is responsible for five of the 37 shown in appendix I. The numbers
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are, item 30, consultants’ fees, Sault Ste. Marie; item 31, consultants’ fees,
Winnipeg; item 32, cost of delays, Montreal; item 33, cost of landline circuit,
Val d’Or, and item 36, cost of delays, Edmonton.

The non-productive expenditures in respect of which these cases totalled
$209,323.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: That is the total in respect of all the paragraph you
have listed?

Mr. HENDERSON: That is right, sir.

The VIcE-CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions in respect of this paragraph
or do you wish me to deal with this clause by clause?
Are there any questions in respect of clause 30?

Mr. HENDERSON: Item 30 is the first item.

Mr. WincH: I am wondering whether you have made this comment because
of the fact these amounts were not to be exceeded?

Mr. HENDERSON: That is right. The treasury board granted approval in
principle to the construction of an air terminal building at Sault Ste. Marie at
the same time stipulating the estimated total cost of $610,000 was not to be
exceeded. Consultants prepared sketch plans, work drawings and specifications
prior to the tenders being invited, and when the last tender was received, and
the revised tender based on modified plans, both in excess of the prescribed
ceiling the department was instructed by the treasury board to cancel the
tender and redesign the building at a lower cost. During the year a final
payment of $12,363 was made to the consultants in respect of their abandoned
work, and this brought the total non-productive cost of the consulting services
and expenditures to $26,608.

Mr. WincH: May I ask a general question, Mr. Chairman.
The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Yes.

Mr. WincH: As far as I am concerned the problem in respect of all these
things reverts to what we have discussed at previous meetings. I am very sorry
to say that other departments run into this same kind of problem. One will
generally notice, in going through these items, that the increased costs are
fundamentally caused by changes in plans, wrong specifications and other similar
reasons. This committee has a responsibility to check into these matters. Is it
possible for Mr. Scott to tell us whether there is any means, for instance, with
a little more foresight or co-ordination between the various departments, to
cut down on the number of faulty plans and changes in plans before these
contracts are let? I am just asking that question in a general way in an attempt
to be co-operative and of some assistance.

Mr. ScotT: I think perhaps I should make two observations in this regard.
Firstly, I should suggest that this situation existed as far back as the Montreal
airport which certainly was the first large undertaking. From that point on we
were faced with a succession of large terminal buildings, secondary terminal
buildings, and small terminal buildings. As every member of the committee
knows, this situation developed in a relatively short period of time. Not very
many years ago if one were travelling across Canada and stopped in almost
any city he would find not much more than a leanto. The department was not
geared to deal with items of this magnitude. We did not have the men or
experience necessary. All these factors are involved. In many cases in respect
of some of the major buildings the time was very limited and usually involved
a target date. That is one side of the problem.

Along with that side of the problem there existed a difficulty in respect
of the practice of air lines. Ever since the first plans were drawn up in respect
of the Montreal terminal we have faced this problem. Air lines, such as Air
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Canada, for example, have gone through at least five different types of equip-
ment. For instance, if one week you are designing a terminal, knowing that
aircraft to be used will carry 50 passengers, and the following day, almost,
you find out the air line is not going to use that type of aircraft but a dif-
ferent kind designed to carry 150 passengers, it is obvious you are going to be
in real trouble.

There are other problems inherent to this area in that Air Canada at one
time was operating with Viscounts on secondary routes. Air Canada then sup-
plemented these routes with Vanguards. Again the size of the passenger load
increased. This was done by Air Canada with the idea of giving better service.
We have no control over these factors and certainly do not want to have any
control, but these are difficult things to foresee.

Also involved in this problem is the fact that the scheduling of flights is
in the hands of the air lines. While we work very closely with the air lines and
know their plans in respect of what their flight operations and frequencies will
be, if they change this for any operational reason we run into difficulty. If
for example we have planned on two Viscounts, if you like, meeting at a rela-

tively small city at the same time we will expect to have to provide accommo-.

dation, in respect of passengers, visitors and friends, in the building for per-
haps 150 people. If suddenly you are confronted with four Vanguards meeting
at the same time you will be looking at a crowd of some 400 or 450 people.

There has been a departmental problem involved in attempting to meet
these situations. We had very little experience when we began the Montreal
terminal. One could look anywhere practically in the world without finding the
same problem with which we were faced in that connection. Air lines in the
United States at that time were just beginning to move into large terminal
buildings. Furthermore, we just could not look to any country to find a prece-
dent, if you like, for our problems, because we are confronted with a number
of cities scattered right along and across the border carrying on operations on
a different basis than the normal international operations. We also have a
domestic service to contend with.

A great many things have happened in respect of the air operation indus-
try on the air side which have been extremely difficult to keep abreast of, and
one must remember that plans must be made in advance. There was no one
really that we could turn to, and certainly the department consulted everybody
available. This was another of the problems in respect of designing the terminal
buildings. Many factors were involved.

Mr. WincH: Mr. Chairman, I am very grateful for the statement just now
made by Mr. Scott. The statement intrigues me and is of interest to me. Over
the last two or three years I have had the opportunity of speaking with the top
executives of T.C.A. and also last year with two top executives of B.O.A.C.
They told me that when they are planning for the purchase of new aircraft
they have to calculate anywhere from three to seven years in advance of order-
ing the aircraft.

Applying this experience in respect of Trans-Canada Air Lines or Air
Canada, the officials must have had some idea regarding the utilization of those
aircraft, landing strips and terminal facilities required. I am sure I am correct
in what I am saying because of my information in respect of B.O.A.C., Air
France and the Scandinavian Air Lines which fly into Canada. In respect of our
own Canadian operations the officials must have known three to seven years
in advance of ordering, the type of aircraft to be used and the routes to be
travelled as well as the landing facilities required. Why was it not possible
through co-operation between the departments and the air lines to forecast the
type of difficulty you eventually ran into?

Mr. ScorT: What you suggest in respect of planning ahead for the purchase
of aircraft is quite true, as I understand the situation, but I can assure you that
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the department has and does work very closely with the air lines companies in
respect of planned schedules.
Mr. WincH: I understand they must plan three to seven years ahead.

Mr. Scort: Yes. Five years ahead we can tell you what Air Canada pro-
poses for Toronto, but that was not the case a few years ago. What happened
at that time was that the air lines operators did not themselves really foresee
going into large jets as quickly as they did. However, in the air transportation
industry once a better type of equipment is available competitors have to obtain
it otherwise they will have no traffic.

What happened as far as we were concerned is that all at once there was
a large inflow of entirely new and large types of equipment. This situation was
taken into account in respect of the design of airports, terminal plans and other
things. However, if you look around at this moment you will see that we are
concerned with what is going to be a smart jet aircraft but we do not know
which one. We cannot operate on that basis regardless of staying on top of
things, because they make their decisions on a scientific basis bearing in mind
the schedules they are going to operate and traffic they are going to carry. We are
aware of air lines planning regarding their intention in respect of co-ordinat-
ing their schedules, but within two years if they change the load factor, change
the frequency or something of that nature we have an entirely different num-
ber of aircraft arriving at a terminal at one time.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Are there any other questions?

Mr. WaHN: I should just like to ask whether, in view of the expressions of
opinion by members of this committee at today’s meeting, there is any intention
of tightening up the situation in respect of plans and specifications?

Mr. ScorT: I think we are doing a lot better right now in this regard.

Mr. WinNcH: And you intend to do better yet in the future; is that right?

Mr. ScorT: Yes, sir.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions in respect of para-
graph 317

Paragraph 33 is next.

Some hon. MEMBERS: Carried.

The VicE-CHAIRMAN: I think the next paragraph for consideration is 36.

Some hon. MEMBERS: Carried.

‘The VIC;-CHAIRMAN: I know that the members of this committee are very
anxious to sit tonight but there are very important reasons why perhaps we
should not. In the first place the House of Commons will be in session and we
mu;t look after the country’s business. The Prime Minister is arriving back
tonight and somebody should go to meet him. There is a football game taking
plaqe as wgll. We will not sit until next Tuesday at which time we will meet
again in this room, I understand at 9.30 in the morning.

May I request for the benefit of those of you who arrived late that the
report of the Minister of Finance on the exchange fund account which was
distributed to you should be brought to the next meeting because that is the
item we will then be discussing.

May I also take this opportunity of thanking the witnesses today who have
done a very excellent job and given a great deal of valuable information to
the members of this committee. They have promised that even though they
are in the process of tightening things up at the present time they will make
these things even tighter yet.

Mr. LESSARD (Saint-Henri): We should give a hand to our president.
The VicE-CHAIRMAN: Thank you very much.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

TuEsDAY, July 21, 1964
(24)

The Standing Committee on Public Accounts met this day at 9.40 am.
The Chairman, Mr. G. W. Baldwin, presided.

Members present: Messrs. Baldwin, Cameron (High Park), Crouse, Fane,
Forbes, Francis, Hales, Harkness, Leblanc, Legault, McLean (Charlotte),
McMillan, Nowlan, Pilon, Rinfret, Rock, Ryan, Stefanson, Stenson, Tardif,
Tucker, Wahn, Winch (23).

In attendance: From the Department of Finance: Mr. R. B. Bryce, Deputy
Minister; Mr. A. B. Hockin, Director Financial Affairs and Economic Analysis
Division; Mr. H. D. Clark, Director Pensions and Social Insurance Division;
Mr. D. W. Franklin, Director Programme Analysis Division; Mr. M. H. Wilson,
Financial Affairs and Economic Analysis Division; Mr. H. W. Johnson, Director
Accounting Services Branch, Comptroller of the Treasury, Mr. Scott Robertson,
Authorities Branch, Comptroller of the Treasury; From the Bank of Canada:
Mr. A. C. Lord, Assistant Chief, Foreign Exchange Department; and Mr. A. M.
Henderson, Auditor General of Canada, and Messrs. Long, Crowley, Chapman
and Laroche of the Auditor General’s office.

Mr. Baldwin thanked the Vice-Chairman, Mr. Tardif, for presiding at
sittings last week.

The Chairman announced sittings for tomorrow of the steering subcom-
mittee and the Main Committee to consider ‘“draft” reports to the House.

The Committee resumed consideration of the 1962 carryover items and the
1963 Report of the Auditor General.

On “Advances to Exchange Fund Account”, (paragraphs 141 and 194 of the
1962 Report and 175 of the 1963 Report), Mr. Henderson commented briefly and
was examined thereon,

Mr. Bryce was called, and after introducing Messrs. Hockin, Wilson and
Lord, commented on the Report of the Exchange Fund Account by the Minister
of Finance, tabled in the Committee on July 16, and was examined thereon.

The Committee agreed that the Exchange Fund Account Report of the
Minister of Finance be printed as an Appendix to the Minutes of Proceedings
and Evidence of this day. (See Appendix).

The questioning of the witnesses still continuing, at 10.55 a.m., the Com-
mittee adjourned until 3.30 p.m. this afternoon.

AFTERNOON SITTING
(25)

The Committee resumed at 3.40 p.m. The Chairman, Mr. G. W. Baldwin,
presided.

Members present: Messrs. Baldwin, Cameron (High Park), Crouse, Dan-
forth, Fane, Forbes, Francis, Gendron, Hales, Harkness, Legault, McMillan,
Southam, Stenson, Tardiff, Tucker, Winch (17).
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In Attendance: same as at morning sitting, with the exception of Messrs.
Hockin, Wilson and Lord.

The Committee resumed consideration of the 1962 and 1963 reports of the
Auditor General.

On paragraphs 62, 144, 145 of the 1962 Report, and 52, 124 and 125 of the
1963 Report, relating to superannuation matters, Mr. Henderson made a lengthy
statement explaining their background. He referred to previous recommenda-
tions of the Committee, and also the statement of the Minister of Finance to the
House on March 6, 1964, and was examined thereon, assisted by Mr. Long.

Mr. Bryce commented on Mr. Henderson’s statement, supplied additional
information and was examined thereon.

On paragraphs 53 and 54 of the 1963 Report, dealing with additional super-
annuation items, Messrs. Bryce and Henderson reviewed these paragraphs and
were examined thereon, assisted by Messrs. Long and Clark.

The questioning of the witnesses still continuing, at 5.25 p.m., the Com-
mittee adjourned until 8.00 p.m. this evening.

EVENING SITTING
(26)

The Committee resumed at 8.10 p.m. The Chairman, Mr. G. W. Baldwin,
presided.

Members present: Messrs. Baldwin, Cameron (High Park), Cardiff, Dan-
forth, Fane, Forbes, Francis, Hales, Leblanc, Pilon, Rock, Southam, Stefanson,
Stenson, Winch (15).

In attendance: (same as at afternoon sitting).

Mr. Henderson clarified information given at afternoon sitting on para-
graph 54 of the 1963 Report.

On paragraphs 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 45, 60, 61, 110 and 123 of the 1963 Report
and 66, 140 and 142 of the 1962 Report, which included, amongst other items,
interest charges on loans to the National Capital Commission, and Governor
General’s Warrants, Messrs. Henderson and Bryce commented on these para-
graphs, supplied additional information to the Committee, and were examined
thereon.

The questioning of Mr. Bryce being concluded, the Chairman thanked him
on behalf of the Committee.

At 10.10 p.m., the Committee adjourned until 3.30 p.m. on Wednesday,
July 22, 1964.

M. Slack,
Clerk of the Committee
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TUESDAY, July 21, 1964.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, I see a quorum. The meeting will come to order.

I want to express my appreciation to the Vice Chairman, Mr. Tardif, who
presided at the last meeting and at the tag end of the meeting a week ago.
I understood you had a fruitful and profitable meeting with the Department
of Transport.

I hope that, if time permits, we will be able to submit to the main com-
mittee at an in camera meeting the third interim report which, you may recall,
I spoke to you about some time ago and which will deal with all the matters
we had before us from the time of the inception of the committee until June 30.
If time permits I would hope that possibly tomorrow we might meet and con-
sider this report before its submission. I hope that the steering committee will
meet to consider a draft for the fifth interim report which will deal with the
Canadian Broadcasting Corporation so that this too can be submitted to the main
committee for its approval or change, as the case may be. It may be before the
end of this week.

Now, gentlemen, you have all received, I think, notices which indicate the
matters which are going to be dealt with today and which involve the appear-
ance here of officials of the Department of Finance.

There are a number of items in both the 1962 and the 1963 reports, and I
think some of these will probably be dealt with together as they deal with
the same subject matter.

First, let me introduce to you Mr. Robert Bryce, deputy minister of finance,
who, of course, is well known to all of us here. He has had a very long and
distinguished career in the public service in many fields. He was before the
committee last year briefly, and it was understood that some of the matters
which we then dealt with would be the subject of further discussion at this
particular meeting. Before calling on him, however, at which time he will
introduce his officials, I shall ask Mr. Henderson to make an opening statement

from the viewpoint of the various matters which we will be discussing during
- the day. Mr. Henderson?

Mr. A. M. HENDERSON (Auditor General of Canada): Mr. Chairman, we
have a number of paragraphs regarding matters affecting Mr. Bryce’s depart-
ment, and referred to in my 1962 and 1963 reports, and we perhaps will deal
with them on the subject basis in order to reduce the number of paragraphs
and to keep the subject matter together. It will be necessary to explain the back-
ground of some of these items to you, because, as you know, we have been
jumping around a little in our meetings, and moreover a number of the matters
are carried forward from your sessions last December. At that time they were,
in several cases, the subject of recommendations you made in your report at
that time. Therefore, if you will bear with me, I may sound a little lengthy
in the way of details on the subject matter, because of the importance of the

figures and the principles. We are most anxious to get it across to you as
broadly as possible.
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The CHAIRMAN: Let us now deal with paragraph No. 62 of the 1962 report e

and paragraph No. 52 of the 1963 report:

62. Government contributions not made to superannuation accounts.
In last year’s report (paragraph 59) attention was drawn to subsection
(2) of section 32 of the Public Service Superannuation Act, 1952-53,
c.47, which reads:

There shall be credited to the superannuation account, as soon
as possible following the authorization of any salary increase of
general application to the public service, such amount as, in the
opinion of the Minister, is necessary to provide for the increase in
the cost to Her Majesty in right of Canada of the benefits payable
under this act, as a result of such salary increase.

Similar provisions are contained in the Canadian Forces Superannuation
Act, 1959, c.21, and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Superannuation
Act, 1959, c.34.

It was stated last year that no special credits were given to the public
service superannuation account, the Canadian forces superannuation
account or the royal Canadian mounted police superannuation account
(with offsetting charges to expenditure) to provide for the increases in
benefits payable as a result of the salary and pay increases granted to the
members of the public service, the armed forces and the Royal Canadian
Mounted Police during the year ended March 31, 1961—although the
additional liabilities resulting from these increases were estimated at
$80,700,000, $79,050,000 and $1,760,000, respectively.

It was also mentioned in last year’s report as being understood that,
so far as the public service superannuation account was concerned, the
Department of Finance took the view that, since the salary increases
during 1960-61 had been granted to different groups of civil service
classes at intervals over a period of several months, they did not represent
a “salary increase of general application” for the purposes of the above-
quoted statutory requirement.

No contribution was made to the public service superannuation
account during the year under review in respect of the salary increases,
ranging up to $1,000 per annum, granted to approximately 7,000 em-
ployees in certain classes in the civil service, approved by the treasury
board on February 15, 1962 retroactively to July 1, 1961. We were
informed by the department that no estimate was available of the addi-
tional liability that was thereby imposed upon the account, and that no
request had been made to the department of insurance for the making
of such an estimate.

If this practice is continued, and the special credits referred to in sub-
section (2) of section 32 of the act are not given to the public service
superannuation account (with offsetting charges to expenditure) when in-
creases are granted during a fiscal year to one or more substantial groups
of civil service classes, the subsection in question will be rendered in-
operative. To the extent that the practice is continued, the present con-
siderable actuarial deficiency in the Account will continue to mount.

52. Government contributions not made to the public service super-
annuation account. subsection (2) of section 32 of the public service
superannuation Act, 1952-53, c. 47, reads:

There shall be credited to the superannuation account, as soon as
possible following the authorization of any salary increase of general
application to the public service, such amount as, in the opinion of



PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 705

the minister, is necessary to provide for the increase in the cost to
Her Majesty in right of Canada of the benefits payable under this
act, as a result of such salary increase.

In paragraph 62 of last year’s report, reference was made to the
increase in the actuarial deficiency in the superannuation account when no
special contributions were made to provide for the increased cost of
benefits payable under the act as the result of salary increases that had
been granted to substantial groups of civil service classes.

It had been announced in 1961 that future pay adjustments would be
based on a program of cyclical salary reviews, and the civil service classes
had been divided into four large groups for review purposes.

In December 1962 the treasury board approved of salary increases
with effect from October 1, 1961 for the group which includes the admin-
istrative, clerical and related classes with about 70,000 employees.
Increases were also approved in December 1962 for nurses and hospital
staff with effect from January 1, 1962 and for the penetentiary service
with effect from April 1, 1962. Increases similar to those given civil
servants were given to employees of certain crown corporations, including
many if not all of those that are under the Public Service Superannuation
Act. As was the case when salary increases were approved in the two
previous years, no special contribution was made to the superannuation
account with respect to the increases granted in 1962-63.

Salary revisions for another large group of employees were approved
on July 9, 1963 with effect from October 1, 1962.

Thus salary increases have been approved for practically the whole
public service since 1960 without any special credits having been given to
the superannuation account as required by subsection (2) of section 32 of
the act quoted above. The view taken by the Department of Finance that
the granting of increases on a cyclical basis does not result in a “salary
increase of general application” has rendered subsection (2) of section 32
of the act inoperative, with a consequent significant increase in the actu-
arial deficiency in the account.

In paragraph 124 of this report comments are made regarding the
balance at credit of the account at March 31, 1963 and the basis of report-
ing the actuarial deficiency.

Mr. HENDERSON: The first of these, to which we have referred is paragraph

. No. 62 in my 1962 report. No government contributions were made to the public

service superannuation account. While considering this we could also consider
paragraph 52 in my 1963 report. You might like to have it open before you. It is
page 25 of the 1963 report.

This matter was first discussed in the committee—that is, of course, para-
graph 62 of my 1962 report—Ilast November. I explained how I first brought it
up in my 1961 report when following the granting of salary increases to different
groups in the public service over a period of several months, any credits, that is
to_say, credits with offsetting charges to budgetary expenditure, were made to
this superannuation account as is required by section 32 of the Public Service
Superannuation Act which I quote in my report.

The Public Service Superannuation Act called for credits in respect of
salary increases in 1960 and 1961—which is the first year that this was not
done—amounting to over $160,000,000.

The next year, 1961-1962 with respect to salary increases, they ranged up
to $1,000 per annum granted to approximately 7,000 employees in certain classes
of the civil service and approved by the treasury board on February 15, 1962,
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retroactively to July 1, 1961. No estimate was available of the additional pension
liability cost this year because no request was made to the department of :
insurance to make such an estimate. |

Mr. Bryce appeared before the committee on December 6 last and made a ]
lengthy statement which is to be found in the evidence at pages 225 to 230.

The CHAIRMAN: I am sorry to interrupt you Mr. Henderson, but Mr. Bryce

has indicated to me that he had been under the impression that the exchange '
fund would be discussed this morning, and the officials he has brought with ‘
him are those who will deal with it. 1

Mr. R. B. BrycE (Deputy Minister, Department of Finance): The clerk
told me that we would be dealing first with the exchange fund.

Mr. HENDERSON: I was following the order that we have before us.

The CHAIRMAN: The exchange fund does appear to be at the beginning
of it.

Mr. HENDERSON: Under our present procedure the exchange fund will be
the third item. If you wish to switch over to the exchange fund, it is all right
with me.

Mr. Bryce: I do not mind. I just would ask for a moment of time in order
to change teams. That is all.

The CHAIRMAN: If we could, it might expedite matters, simply because we
have officials from the Department of Finance who are prepared to deal with
the exchange fund. If this is satisfactory to the committee it would save the
delay of Mr. Bryce having to have other officials here.

Mr. TarDpIF: We announced at the last meeting that we would make a
start this morning with the exchange fund.

Mr. HENDERSON: My apologies. I thought we were following the schedule. !
But we can return to the other subject which will keep.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you.

Mr. HENDERSON: Paragraph 141 is the one dealing with the advances to
the exchange fund account.

Mr. WincH: You are referring to your 1962 report.

Mr. HENDERSON: That is right. As stated in this note, in its fifth report,
1961, this committee recommended that the Minister of Finance be requested
to submit to the committee at its next session a report dealing yvith the
desirability of writing off the amount in the account with appropriate par-
liamentary authority, for example, as against the reserve for losses on realiza-
tion of assets, the committee stated that the importance of the problem is such
that it believed that at the next session of parliament special attention should
be given to the problem, including the question of transfering ar}nually to
the consolidated revenue fund the realized profits or losses from trading opera-
tions and re-evaluation of holdings.

In dealing with this matter today when we have the advantage of Mr.
Bryce’s presence, may I suggest that we also include paragraph 194 dealing
with the exchange fund account, and also paragraph 175 of my 1963 report
which read as follows:

194. Exchange fund account. The exchange fund account, first estab-
lished by the Exchange Fund Act, 1935, c. 60, and continued by the
Foreign Exchange Control Act, 1946, c. 53, now operates under Part
III of the Currency, Mint and Exchange Fund Act, R.S., c. 315. The
purpose of the account is “to aid in the control and protection of the
external value of the Canadian monetary unit”.

The accounts of the Exchange Fund for its financial year ended
December 31, 1961 were examined pursuant to the requirement of
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section 27 of the Currency, Mint and Exchange Fund Act and the
relative report was addressed to the Minister of Finance in accordance
with established practice. The section requires that a special certificate
be given annually to Parliament, and in accordance with that require-
ment it is now certified that the transactions in connection with the
account for the year ended December 31, 1961 have been in accordance
with the provisions of the act, and that the records showed truly and
clearly the state of the account.

The following is a summary of the transactions in the account for
the year ended December 31, 1961 compared with the transactions in
the previous financial year:

Year ended December 31

BalanceralrJangary. Mo o o
Deduct:
Paid into Consolidated Revenue Fund in
TREDert- Ol - @arNINES o e iie o siais 6
Repayment of advances (net) .........

1961
1,929,536,000

32,536,000

32,536,000

1960

$ 1,969,513,000

25,513,000
47,000,000
72,513,000

Add:
Advances (net) received during the year
Earnings on investments during the year
(to be paid into the Consolidated Rev-
S T IRUTA)" T e e N e B

1,897,000,000

233,000,000

32,606,000

1,897,000,000

32,536,000

Balance: at December: 31 il tvis voivesnnss
Represented by:
Eanacian ‘dallars s o el s s ST
United States dollars and securities ....
e U VSR SRR el s SHemint S NS U e e

2,162,606,000

844,000
1,128,605,000
987,296,000
3,000

$ 1,929,536,000

382,000
905,919,000
882,258,000

2,116,748,000
45,858,000

1,788,559,000
140,977,000

$ 2,162,606,000 $ 1,929,536,000

The deficit of $45,858,000 at December 31, 1961 represented the
difference between (a) $133,941,000 for the net loss on revaluations of
gold and foreign currencies reduced by profits on dealings in gold and
foreign currencies and securities since the establishment of the exchange
fund account in 1935, and (b) $88,083,000 for the exchange gain arising
from valuation of United States dollar and gold holdings at the exchange
rate of $1.0411/32 Can.—$1.00 U.S. at December 31, 1961.

175. Exchange Fund Account. The Exchange Fund Account, first
established by the Exchange Fund Act, 1935, ¢. 60, and continued by
the Foreign Exchange Control Act, 1946, c. 53 now operates under Part
IIT of the Currency, Mint and Exchange Fund Act, R.S., c. 315. The
purpose of the Account is “to aid in the control and protection of the
external value of the Canadian monetary unit”.
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The accounts of the Exchange Fund for its financial year ended
December 31, 1962 were examined pursuant to the requirement of sec-
tion 27 of the Currency, Mint and Exchange Fund Act and the relative
report was addressed to the Minister of Finance in accordance with
established practice. The section requires that a special certificate be
given annually to Parliament, and in accordance with that requirement,
it is now certified that the transactions in connection with the account
for the year ended December 31, 1962 have been in accordance with the
provisions of the Act, and that the records showed truly and clearly
the state of the account.

The following is a summary of the transactions in the Account for
the year ended December 31, 1962 compared with the transactions in
the previous financial year:

Year ended December 31

1962 1961
Balanee at'January: 1., oo iTaReess $ 2,162,606,000 $ 1,929,536,000
Deduct:
Paid into Consolidated Revenue Fund in
respect of  earnings uhio i aE e 32,606,000 32,536,000
2,130,000,000 1,897,000,000
Add:

Advances (net) received during the year 521,000,000
Earnings on investments during the year
(to be paid into the Consolidated Rev-

233,000,000

32,606,000

entie Bund )it ol et sl e e A o 35,227,000
Balance at December 31 ................ 2,686,227,000
Represented by:

Canhadian dolars: Ay & te, 2 Reoiees S 160,000
United States dollars and securities ...... 1,941,310,000
Fold Vi o s RR et Sl S PSS 763,169,000

2,162,606,000

844,000
1,128,605,000
987,296,000
3,000

2,704,639,000
Surplus . (Defcit)ya il seailu st 18,412,000

2,116,748,000
(45,858,000)

$ 2,686,227,000

$ 2,162,606,000

In the year under review the value of the United States dollar
increased from $1.04 11/32 Canadian at December 31, 1961 to $1.07 23/32
at December 31, 1962 and the deficit of $45,858,000 at December 31,
1961 was replaced by a surplus of $18,412,000 at December 31, 1962.
This gain of $64,270,000 resulted from the following:

Net profit on sales of U.S. securiti€s ..........ceeoees $ 2,846,000
Gain on sales 'of galdiii b Ve ki e Gl e e 2,095,000
Exchange valuation credits (net) ..........ceesveees 59,329,000

$64,270,000
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It should be noted that the surplus of $18,412,000 at December 31,
1962 would have been considerably larger at that date if losses accumu-
lated in the Account, and representing a cost of exchange management
since its inception, had been written off in the central Government
accounts. In paragraph 141 of our Report to the House of Commons for
the fiscal year ended March 31, 1962 we recommended that provision
be made for transferring annually to the Consolidated Revenue Fund
the realized profits or losses from trading operations and revaluation of
holdings of gold and foreign currencies. This recommendation is now

repeated.

Likewise on the exchange fund account, which brings the situation up
to March 31, 1963.

When he appeared before the committee on December 13, 1963 Mr. Bryce
stated (pp. 287-290 of the evidence) that he had found that while a draft
report had been prepared in 1962 and approved early in 1963 by the then
minister of finance, it had never been presented to the committee either in
1962 or in the earlier session of 1963. In the meantime he pointed out that the
situation had been overtaken by the change in exchange position referred to
in paragraph 141 which really called for a rather different content of the report.
He therefore proposed to discuss the revision of this with the minister and
would be tabling the report requested by the committee in due course. I men-
tioned this to you on May 25th in my follow up report on the recommendations
contained in the committee’s fourth report 1963.

Mr. Bryce has now completed this report and I believe copies were dis-
tributed to the members at the last meeting on July 16.

Mr. McMiLLAN: What are the numbers again?

Mr. HENDERSON: Paragraphs 194 and 175 of the 1963 report which brings
this situation up to March 31, 1963.

The CHAIRMAN: I shall now ask Mr. Bryce to speak to this particular sub-
ject, but before doing so he may introduce the officials who have come with
him from the department who might be called upon to answer specific ques-
tions. Mr. Bryce?

Mr. BryciE: Thank you. I have with me Mr. Hockin, sitting beside me,
and Mr. Wilson, of the Department of Finance and Mr. Lord of the Bank of
Canada. The latter two gentlemen are sitting at the side of the room. I should
be glad to answer questions which will no doubt arise in the minds of the
members of the committee as a result of this report of the minister which was

~ distributed late last week. I propose to commence with a modest apology. There

is a clerical error at the bottom of page 10. The date there should be 1963, in
the bottom line, rather than 1964. I think it is evident from the context that
that should be the case. I think this report presents the history in some little
detail, and we have endeavoured in the tables attached to it, and in the sum-
mary of tables on page 9 and 10, to indicate where the small surplus in the
fund has now come from, in terms of earnings and re-evaluation profit and
losses. That is the main purpose of the report. The last two pages deal with the
question of taking these profits or losses into the government accounts. There-
fore, I think that the main statement can be taken as having been made in the
report.

I think the only difference that now lies between the department and the
minister, on the one hand, and the Auditor General’s recommendations on the
other, concerns the treatment of revaluation profits and losses. Perhaps I might
direct your attention to the paragraph at the bottom of page 11 and the top
of page 12 of the report, in which the minister states his view on that point.

Would it be proper for me to read that paragraph into the record?
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The CrAIRMAN: If you would, Mr. Bryce.
Mr. Bryce: The minister says:

I would not propose that any decision now be taken to transfer to
the consolidated revenue fund any future profits or losses at our year-
ends arising from changes in exchange rates. We now have a formal par
value for the Canadian dollar established by law. In our accounts we
now value our foreign exchange and gold holdings at that par value
(with suitable allowance for shipping costs on gold). This will give more
stability to the accounting valuations. Any change in the par value is a
hypothetical contingency which does not require action now. To require
by law that any profits or losses arising from changes in the year-end
valuations of our reserves be brought into budgetary revenues or
expenditures immediately thereafter could have led at times in the
past to serious distortions of our budgetary accounts and caused undesir-
able confusion and uncertainty as to the state of the budget. We can and
do take into our accounts the changes in value of the government’s foreign
cash balances that are held for current operating purposes, but these are
significantly smaller and are required for immediate use. The exchange
reserves are held for national economic purposes and can properly be
treated in a different manner.

I think perhaps, Mr. Chairman, that that is the one paragraph that merits
bringing specifically to the attention of members of the committee at this time.
I think that is sufficient introduction.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you. Perhaps before any further comments are
made or questions are put you might agree that this particular report of the
Minister of Finance to our committee on the exchange fund account, together
with the annexed tables, be printed as an appendix to today’s proceedings. Is
that agreed?

Some Hon. MEMBERS: Agreed.
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Winch.

Mr. WincH: Mr. Chairman, I have a couple of questions to ask at the
moment. In respect of myself, if we go beyond $100 in finance I am mixed up.

I may have missed this point in the report but as this interests me could I
ask what the gold holdings in Canada are and if they are used very often on
this exchange. Also, I would like to know in what amounts they are held. I
ask the latter question because of the inclusion of shipping costs.

Mr. BrycE: The gold holdings at the end of June were $931.3 million.
They have been increasing gradually since the low point of $669 million reached
at the time of the exchange crisis in June of 1962. Our normal operating trans-
actions in the exchange fund are carried on in U.S. dollars, foreign exchange,
rather than in gold. But, we do hold a fraction of our reserves in gold. It is now
30 odd per cent, 36 or 37 per cent. This percentage has been increasing since
October 1962, when it got down to some 24.9 per cent. But, we do not carry
on the normal day-to-day operations in gold.

Mr. WincH: With that answer, perhaps I may put my second question in
a definite and understandable form. At the time of the revaluation of the
dollar, I believe we had to obtain certain credits outside. What is the reason
we did not use our gold instead of having to obtain credits? In addition, outside
of the free market where I seem to remember that a law was passed, does all
the gold production in Canada come to the federal treasury, or is it sold to the
United States?

Mr. Bryce: This is a double barrelled question.
Mr. WincH: I meant it to be double barrelled in order to get the answer.
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Mr. Bryce: First in respect of the exchange crisis of 1962, the crisis itself
followed the actual revaluation which, as I recall, took place some time early
in May.

When it was necessary to obtain additional resources for the exchange
fund late in June, 1962, the gold reserves, as well as the exchange reserves,
had been drawn down to levels where it was felt these had to be increased.
To sell the remaining gold at that time for foreign exchange would not have
increased the total of our reserves; it would only have changed their form.
Consequently, it was necessary to find some other source of additional
reserves; this we did by entering into a number of arrangements. I did not
bring with me the details of these arrangements, but you will recall that in
all they added something in the order of $1 billion to the reserves available to
the government for exchange stabilization purposes.

Mr. WiNcH: May I ask a supplementary question?

Mr. Bryce: That is just the first barrel, first of all. Do you wish me to
answer the second barrel?

Mr. WincH: Yes, would you answer the other barrel?

Mr. Bryce: In respect of the other question concerning the purchase of
gold production, I do not believe that at any time there has been any legal
barrier to gold producers selling their production anywhere they wish. I do
not recall offhand whether or not this is the situation now, but for some years
it was a condition of obtaining the emergency gold mining subsidies that one
sold the gold to the mint at the standard price. This arose at a time when
there was a market in various parts of the world for gold at a higher price
than it was dealt with in monetary terms by the government and central bank.

I believe that some of our gold is not sold to the mint, but that is only
a modest fraction of the total.

In recent years, since mid 1962 probably, we have been buying the
gold that has been sold to the mint, which is the great bulk of the output, to
to add to our reserves, and that is the chief factor which has brought about
the increase from the levels of the $600 million odd that I mentioned, up to
the $900 million odd at the present time.

Mr. WincH: Mr. Chairman, I should like to ask a supplementary question
which I think will explain why I posed that double barrelled question.

Does the Bank of Canada hold all the gold reserves on behalf of Canada
and, if so, at the time of what I believe you yourself called the dollar crisis
in 1962, can you tell the members of this committee why, there being no

‘legal barrier to the selling of Canadian produced gold to the United States,

from a financial point of view and from the point of view of the federal
treasury of Canada, the Bank of Canada did not acquire all Canadian gold
and place it on the foreign exchange in order that we could avoid being
placed in the position we did find ourselves in, in respect of the exchange
fund? Is that question understandable?

Mr. BRYCE: Your question is understandable but whether I can recall
the details or not, I am not sure, Mr. Winch.

First of all, in respect of the bank holding the gold, gold holdings are
almost all legally in the possession of the government. The exchange fund is
operated by the Bank of Canada for the Minister of Finance. The holdings are
in the hands of the Minister of Finance on behalf of the government so that
they are available for disposition as he directs, and the bank carries out the
day to day operations in accordance with those directions.

In respect of your second point, why the gold holdings could not have
been used to prevent or obviate the exchange crisis of 1962, I should perhaps
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say we were taking gold fully into account in our reserves in 1962, and what
was necessary, as I indicated earlier, was to add to the total of the reserves
including all the gold we had accumulated.

In so far as the gold is concerned that had been produced in Canada in the
years preceding 1962 and sold abroad as most of it was, if you consider the
period from the end of the war up to 1962, you will see that those sales helped
to meet our current foreign exchange requirements year by year.

Mr. WincH: This was done by selling the gold outside and receiving the
foreign exchange; is that right?

Mr. Bryce: That is right. We received the foreign exchange which we used
to pay our bills abroad during that period.

Mr. WincH: I have just one more question to ask, if I am not boring the
committee, because I think if we have a clear picture of this situation it will
be of help to us.

May I ask Mr. Bryce, or the representative here from the Bank of Canada,
whether we can be given in a concise but understandable way, and I know that
is perhaps difficult when dealing with money, as I have found with my wife on
some occasions, what is the policy position in respect of control of gold at the
present time? I understand the gold goes to the mint or in any event is held
by the treasurer of Canada, yet at the same time there seems to be some control
effected by the Bank of Canada. Just how do these three things relate in respect
of the situation such as that which developed in 1962? Are recommendations
received from the Bank of Canada in respect of this matter?

Mr. BrycE: Perhaps I can tell you how they tie in precisely in this way.
The producers send their gold to the mint to be sold and refined there. The
mint in turn sells the gold to the Minister of Finance who takes it into the
exchange rate, or at least has done so in recent years. The Bank of Canada
enters the picture simply as the agent of the Minister of Finance in buying the
gold from the mint, holding it and managing it. Of course, the physical holding
of the gold requires vaults and expertise involved in actually handling, shipping
and transferring as well as various other things concerned.

In respect of your second question regarding the role played by the bank
in such circumstances as 1962, that is quite a different matter. I am not sure
how far I should expand upon this.

Mr. WincH: Is that not the point which is of interest to the Auditor
General, or am I confused in this regard?

Mr. BrYCE: I do not think the problem in respect of dealing with the crisis
in 1962 is that which concerned the Auditor General.

Perhaps I should make it clear that in 1962 the government was responsible
for setting the par value, which was done by order in council, a copy of which
I have here and can give you if you wish.

The government, of course, received the views of the governor of the Bank
of Canada when it did that, as well as the views of other officers. The govern-
ment got those views when it had to take the measures which were necessary
in June of 1962 to supplement our reserves in the manner I described, and to
take the various actions, which we called austerity, to resolve and deal with
the concern which was leading to capital movement out of Canada. Again the
decisions were taken by the government, and the government received the
advice of the Bank of Canada as well as other officials concerned, and, of course,
the Governor of the Bank of Canada helped in arranging some of the trans-
actions in question.

I think that perhaps gives you in a summary form the best answer I can

give.
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Mr. WincH: That answers my question except in respect of one point. I
will ask one further question and then allow another member to continue.

Perhaps someone could explain the advantage to Canada of not purchasing
all the gold to be used in respect of its exchange fund account as compared to
it being sold to the United States or other countries resulting in additional
foreign currency, and as further compared to the advantage of the gold being
sold directly by the producer to foreign countries? Is there an advantage to the
producer selling it directly to foreign countries and receiving the foreign
exchange rather than Canada itself purchasing the gold production and using
it in respect of its foreign exchange account?

Mr. BrRyCE: Are you asking why we do not hold more of our reserves in
the form of gold, or why we do not accumulate larger reserves?

Mr. WincH: That is my question, having in mind using the gold on the
foreign exchange during a crisis such as that occurred in 1962.

Mr. Brycg: In regard to the total amount of our reserves, we are limited
by the means available to us for accumulating reserves. One can only accumu-
late reserves by selling more, borrowing more, spending less or lending less,
and I refer to the nation as a whole. In other words, your exchange reserves
are represented by that which you have accumulated out of your balance of
payment for the nation as a whole. It is only by those efforts and necessary
measures that you can add to your reserves as a whole.

In respect of the decision between holding these reserves in the form of
gold and foreign exchange, one has to balance certain advantages of holding
gold against advantages of holding foreign exchange which chiefly involves the
fact that you can invest on short term and receive interest. This is the way
most of our reserves have been held in the last few years and, of course, we
have been getting considerable interest on them as is shown by the tables
appended.

Mr. WincH: In other words it is easier to hold foreign exchange than
gold now that we are on the gold standard?

Mr. BrycE: It is easier administratively to hold foreign exchange than
gold and we also receive a return of interest.

Mr. WincH: Thank you.
The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions or comments?

Mr. LeBraNc: I should like to direct my question to the Auditor General.
At page 10 of the report of the minister in respect of the exchange fund account,
the minister states:

It is clear from the above description that the balance in the surplus
account at December 31, 1964 results from a variety of causes, including
the several revaluations as well as trading operations. I propose that
this be left in the fund, where it may serve as a modest reserve against
any possible future revaluation losses.

Would you agree with that statement?

Mr. HENDERSON: Yes, Mr. Leblanc, and I am pleased to hear that the min-
ister proposes that the present surplus in the exchange fund account of $30.3
million be left there as a modest reserve against possible future revaluation
losses.

I am also pleased to note that in future the annual balance of profit and
loss arising from trading operations and investment, including discount on
securities, trading profits and losses on purchases and sales on foreign exchange,
gold and securities, and the net valuation adjustments on unmatched pur-
chases or sales during the year, are to be transferred to the consolidated revenue
fund. In proposing this the minister is carrying out the recommendation I have
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been making in my reports to the house. If you look on page 138 of my 1963
report which sets out the summary of transactions in the exchange fund account,
you will see that in carrying this out the minister is not proposing, as Mr. Bryce
has explained, to go any further. He will take out what you might loosely
describe as the closed transactions and transfer them to the consolidated
revenue fund. However, with respect to the losses from revaluation of holdings
in gold and foreign currencies, he would propose to leave those in this sur-
plus or deficit account. I cannot object to his proposal that no decision should
be taken at the present time to transfer to the consolidated revenue fund any
future profits or losses arising from changes in the exchange rates. As the
minister says, there is now a par value for the Canadian dollar and as there
is a surplus in the account, Canada’s investment in the exchange fund is pro-
tected at the present time. I say it is protected because there is a credit balance
of $30.3 million, whereas in previous years there has been a very substantial
deficit balance.

As you will see, on December 31, 1962 it swung over for the first time to
a surplus position of $18,400,000, whereas at the end of 1961 it had been run-
ning as high as $46 million in the form of a deficit. It swung over to a surplus
position because of the action taken on May 2, 1962 when the par value was
introduced and our currency was devalued in terms of the 921 cent rate. How-
ever, I do feel I must point out to the committee that had losses owing to ex-
change valuations in the past been charged to expense as they occurred, the
surplus in the account today would be much larger than $30.3 million, and
would provide what might have been a more adequate reserve against possible
future losses. I say this to you because as matters stand a drop of as little as
two cents in the value of the United States dollar would return the account
to a deficit position, and I would then again be forced to draw attention to a
deficit in the account. Does that answer your question, Mr. Leblanc?

Mr. LEBraNnc: Thank you.
Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Should not the bank of Canada take over the

fund and operate it from the bank of Canada? Do not the central banks in
Europe operate it? Is it not separated in the European central banks?

Mr. BrycE: I would like to be able to answer that question, but I cannot.
I think that in many cases the reserves do belong to the central bank and they
are also operated by the bank.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): We talk about profit and loss. There could ‘pe no
true profit unless gold was revalued the world over. This is just imaginary
profit that we have, going up and down with the Canadian dollar. There could
be no real profit realized unless gold was revalued. Is that not true?

Mr. BrYCE: I am afraid this gets down to the meaning of words. Just what
a real profit is, is a nice point. Obviously, if the gold that we hold were
revalued, we could sell it for more foreign exchange than we do now.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte) : When we put our dollar down, did we not actually
revalue the gold ourselves?

Mr. BrycE: We do so in our books because we keep our books in Canadian
dollars, but of course what is important in our exchange reserves is what they
are worth in terms of other currencies, and that is not what we are talking
about this morning or what the Auditor General has been talking about. He is
talking about the value in Canadian dollars, in which we must keep our
accounts.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): I am talking about real value. We are talking
about the balance of payments. When Canada was in trouble with her balan(_:e
of payments—the United States was in the same position—the Russians came in
with about $500 million in gold. This seemed to help the balance of payments in



75 0

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 715

the United States and help our balance of payments also. The Russians mine their
gold not at $35 an ounce, not at $25, or $55 an ounce. They get to work and mine
it, and then they have international currency. Would it not be possible for us
to do the same?

Mr. BrycE: I must confess I do not know too much about the Russian
policy in regard to gold production, or even how much the Russian gold produc-
tion is. As you know from reading the papers, this is a bit of a mystery. The
Russians have always regarded this as something they wanted to keep secret for
their own reasons.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Did it not help our balance of payments and the
United States balance of payments?

Mr. Bryce: It did help our balance of payments obviously when the Rus-
sians bought wheat from us, as they did last year.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): When we revalue our currency we help the
gold mines, but we are getting around it because we agree with the international
monetary fund that we will pay $35 an ounce for gold. Is not that right?

Mr. BrycE: Let me point out the reason we pay $35 an ounce for gold, or
its equivalent in Canadian dollars, is because that is what we can sell the gold
for. The market for gold is basically set by what the United States price is.
Of course, other countries also buy gold, but it is based on the same value.
Secondly, we have a quite detailed and elaborate law subsidizing gold produc-
tion in Canada. We do it in a rather more selective way than would be done by
setting an artificial price for gold.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): We cannot set the price for gold as long as we
live up to our agreement with the international monetary fund; is that not
right? We therefore get around it by subsidizing gold.

Mr. BrycE: I do not like that phrase, “get around it”.

The CHAIRMAN: I think we are straying from the subject. It is an interesting
philosophical discussion, but we are mainly interested in the report before the
committee.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): I have another question about these reserves.

The CHAIRMAN: As long as it is tied to the issue that is before the committee.

Mr. McLeEAN (Charlotte): This is the issue before us. My question is with
regard to the reserves. If you go back to 1920, when we had no reserves our
currency went down to a 26 per cent discount. Inside of a year our currency
was at a small premium. That was the law of supply and demand at work.

Could that not have worked on these reserves in the crisis we had?

Mr. Bryce: Well, sir, it is a long time since I looked at what happened in
1920 and 1921.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): I lived through it.

Mr. BryceE: There are frequently quite quick changes in international
affairs, capital movements, and price movements. The years 1920 and 1921 were
periods in which not only prices changed quite rapidly but also capital move-
ments were quite pronounced. It is quite understandable that our situation may
have reversed very quickly; and of course the less reserves we hold, the less
control we have over the value of our currency, and the more we are dependant
on changes in the economic conditions and capital movements from outside to
determine the value of our currency.

Mr. McLeEAN (Charlotte): Our reserves were capital reserves at that time
which just flowed over the line from the United States. Again we have a
premium on Canadian money which was flowing. Of course Canadian money
went as high as 6 per cent. Then we had losses, I suppose, in our gold,
according to our bookkeeping.
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* dead that there was no need to have a premium on Canadian money because you

Mr. BrycE: That is right. That is shown in our report here. gk O
Mr. McLEaN (Charlotte): I was told by a prominent banker who is now o

brought your gold in at 95 cents on the dollar and you had it behind your cur-
rency, and all you had to do was to issue a paper dollar in order to get a dollar’s
worth of gold, and that there was no need to have a premium on Canadian
money, such as we had for a number of years. E

Mr. Bryce: I am afraid it is rather more complicated than that. The 1
premium on the Canadian dollar resulted from the market forces which were
allowed to determine the exchange rate. .

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): You mean the demand for Canadian money? §

Mr. Bryce: That is right. P,

Mr. McLeaNn (Charlotte): All the Bank of Canada had to do was to issue
money and take in the gold.

Mr. BRYcE: We could have sold more Canadian dollars and taken in foreign
exchange for it and thereby prevented the exchange rate from moving in the
direction you indicate, but it was the government at the time who made the
decision that the other was the policy which should be followed.

Mr. McLean (Charlotte): Do you mean to say that that was what led up to
the crisis, that it was these years of premium on Canadian money?

Mr. Bryce: That situation had changed before the crisis developed. e

Mr. McMIiLLAN: You mentioned $154,000,000 deficiency in the exchange
account. That has accumulated over several years, has it not? :

Mr. Bryce: I am sorry, sir, could you just indicate it to me? -

Mr. McMILLAN: In connection with the $154,000,000 which I think accumu- j_
lated, that was over a number of years? ..

Mr. BrycE: Oh, yes, sir, you refer to the figure in the Auditor General’s
report, not the one in the minister’s report.

Mr. McLeEAN (Charlotte): Yes. Do you have the day to day profits in that
account, if the dollar is constant?

Mr. Bryce: We do not have day to day or week to week profits and loss;
these have been summarized in tables one, two, and three on a yearly basis
rather than on a daily basis. Of course if we reckoned them on a daily basis it ‘
would be a prodigious matter. !

Mr. McMiLLAN: So the big change in the account was really accounted for
in 19627

Mr. Bryce: If you will look at table one as appended to the report you will id
see that the figures change. I suppose, of the lot, 1946 was when there was the 3!
biggest major change at one time, when the value of the Canadian dollar—the
new par value established in Canadian dollars—equal to $1 in the United States.
That was the biggest single change as I recall the figures.

Mr. McMriLLan: And were the figures you were giving for our gold reserves
in Canadian dollars?

Mr. BrycE: No, sir, that is in United States dollar value.

Mr. McMiLLan: That is for gold on hand?

Mr. BrycE: Yes. We give the values from month to month of our foreign
exchange holdings and we give them in terms of United States dollars be-
cause of course that is the purpose for which we hold it, so as to be able to
get foreign exchange when we wish it.

Mr. McMiLLAN: Actually you obtained more gold than you show?
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Mr. BRYCE: 'No, we pay the same price that we expect to realize. It
depends. We may buy an odd amount from abroad from time to time at the
price that it is offered to us, if we are endeavouring to accumulate gold.

Mr. McMiLLaN: You pay the Canadian produce $45 plus.

~ Mr. Bryce: We pay the Canadian producer the United States price of
~ $35 United States per ounce. Converted to Canadian dollars, less eleven cents
" for insurance and for the cost of sending it to New York.

Mr. Rock: The inflating and deflating of money between the United States
and Canada is mostly due to the amount of imports or exports between the
different countries. Why then in this report is there no reference to the regu-
lations which were enforced during the time when the exchange revaluation
or devaluation of our dollar occurred? Why does your report not show the
regulations concerned? During the war, for instance, when we were not
allowed to import certain things,  as well as after the war, this would have
a lot to do with the balance of our payments would it not?

Mr. BryYce: Yes, sir.

Mr. Rock: What I cannot understand is why there is not reference to the
regulations enforced at the time which could have caused a lot of these
imbalances.

Mr. Bryce: I am afraid this is really only a report dealing with the
| accounting aspect of the exchange fund. If we were to go into the economic
aspects it would amount to a book.

v, Mr. WAHN: I have two or three questions. I am not sure whether they
+' are relevant. If they are not, you will kindly check me. My first question is
. this: How is the fixed rate of 92 cents for the Canadian dollar maintained?
Is it maintained by reason of the operation of this fund we are now discussing?
In other words, is it the buying and selling of foreign exchange in order to
meet demands to maintain the value of the Canadian dollar within the range
desired?

Mr. BrRYCE: Yes, sir. When we are on a par value, as we are now, we are
obligated to buy exchange offered to us, or to sell exchange if people demand
it from us, in Canadian dollars, so that we, therefore, have to operate as the
residual factor in the market day by day; and this keeps the exchange rate
within the narrow margin above or below the par value.

Mr. WanN: You say that we are obligated. Are we obligated to do so
because of international reasons?

Mr. Bryce: First, by the Breton Woocds Agreements Act, and the agree-
ment to which parliament gave approval under that act; and secondly, as a
practical matter. If you are going to have a par value, this means that you
are going to have to buy and sell as the market requires.

Mr. WAHN: Is that the main function of this account at the present time,
to maintain the value of the Candian dollar within one half per cent?

Mr. BrYCE: One per cent is the outside limit, and normally we work well
within it.

Mr. Wann: I gather from the report that when the Canadian dollar is de-
valued down, you get a surplus. Presumably if it were valued higher you would
tend to get a deficit?

Mr. BrycE: Yes, that is shown up in the tables. Naturally we keep our
account in Canadian dollars. If the value of the Canadian dollar is increased
by a change in the par value or in the exchange rate, then the amount of hold-
ings of foreign exchange in the Fund will be equivalent to a lower amount of

Canadian dollar. That is the reason for the changes in the valuation.
212322}
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Mr. WanN: If there is a large surplus or deficit in the account, it results
from the devaluation of the Canadian dollar, and it continues to affect the
fund’s holding of gold in United States dollars and in foreign investments?

Mr. BRYCE: Yes.

Mr. Wann: If the fund holdings equal the value of Canadian securities,
then the fund is in a position that it would not be affected one way or another
by changes in the value of the Canadian dollar?

Mr. BrycE: If the fund were holding Canadian dollars, the change in valua-
tion would not affect the amount in the account, but in fact the fund does not
normally hold Canadian dollars. When it acquires Canadian dollars they are
-used normally to repay advances received from the consolidated revenue fund.
When it requires Canadian dollars to buy more exchange, it draws them from
the consolidated revenue fund.

Mr. WaHN: I can see that. But my question is whether, if there is a surplus
or a deficit, it could be minimized, and if you have to do so, you must convert
the value of Canadian securities in the fund. Would there be any import
exchange?

Mr. BrRYCE: The holding of Canadian dollars would not offset the change
in value of United States exchange because when a change in rate occurs the
value of the Canadian dollar remains constant in terms of the Canadian dollars,
and there is no way that we can help it. There is no way that we can hedge our
foreign exchange position because the essential purpose of the exchange reserve
is to maintain a net long position in foreign exchange.

Mr. WanN: This is my final question. As I understand it, the United States
settles its international accounts in gold and the Canadian dollar now is fixed
at 92 cents per United States dollar. Having swung over to a fixed exchange
rate, does that mean we are for all essential purposes back on a gold standard?

Mr. Bryce: That, sir, is a long, deep question.

We are not on a gold standard in the old classical sense because in that
sense the volume of your money supply is directly tied to gold movements, and
I think almost all countries have departed from that in recent decades. In that
sense we are not on the old gold standard. All we really are doing now is
accepting gold as between central banks and monetary authorities as a valuable
commodity, whose value is fixed in terms of the various moneys involved.
Therefore, it is a very useful form of reserve. Gold, so to speak, is on a currency
standard rather than the currencies being on a gold standard.

The CHAIRMAN: Have you a question, Mr. Harkness.

Mr. ForBES: Mr. Chairman, I have a supplementary question. Then, on
what basis are Canadian dollars issued?

The CHAIRMAN: What was your question, Mr. Forbes.

Mr. ForBES: On what basis do you issue Canadian dollars since we are not
on the gold standard?

The CHATMAN: Mr. Bryce can answer that if he wishes. But, I think we are
going a long way away from our original issue.

Mr. ForBES: Mr. Chairman, I thought we might as well finalize this.

Mr. Bryce: This is a long story and perhaps I could give you a summary
sort of answer.

The volume of our money is determined really from day to day by the
monetary operations of the Bank of Canada. Anyone who wants to hold coin
or currency can get all he wishes in exchange for bank deposits, so the amount

of those forms of money are determined by public demand. The volume of
money in the form of bank deposits is controlled and regulated by the Bank
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of Canada chiefly in its open market operations. By buying or selling govern-
ment securities from day to day the Bank of Canada effectively regulates the
volume of bank deposits in the country which is the chief form of money in
terms of volume and in terms of the volume of transactions.

Mr. ForBES: So, the dollar is not related to the amount of gold we have on
hand or to the volume of wheat or cattle that we have.

Mr. Bryce: No.
The CHAIRMAN: Would you proceed, Mr. Harkness.

Mr. HARKNESS: I take it that the chief point the Auditor General is making
in his report is if the profits or losses in this exchange fund are not taken into
the consolidated revenue fund this distorts the budgetary picture, and when
you have had a loss instead of the budget, we will say, showing a deficit of $100
million, if the losses were $100 million, they would show a $200 million deficit,
and if you had a profit the opposite would apply. Is this of very much importance
in view of the fact that the swing over the years has resulted in very little
change one way or the other. There was a big deficit position and now there is
a profit position of $30 odd million.

Mr. BrYCE: Yes.

Mr. HARKNESS: Does it make very much or any difference whether or not
this is put into the budgetary picture each particular year?

Mr. BrycE: Well, as indicated in the quotation I read from the report, we
think that it would be unwise to undertake in advance that we would always
bring out any revaluation profit or losses immediately after it appears in the
exchange fund books. As is evident from these tables, some of these profits or
losses are fairly substantial and if they were brought immediately thereafter
into the budget accounts they would be quite large in relation to the budget
accounts. For example, the amount of losses in 1946 at revaluation was approxi-
mately $164 million. The budget surplus that year or the following year was
some $374 million, so you can see it would have greatly altered the relative size.

Mr. HARKNESS: It would have brought the surplus down to $100 odd mil-
lion instead of $300 million.

Mr. BrYCE: Something of that order, yes.

The Minister of Finance does not like to commit himself and future
ministers to suffer such sudden changes in their budgetary accounts without
knowing in advance the kind of situation there is apt to be.

Mr. WincH: Then we are not getting a true picture.

! Mr. BRYCE: A nice question is what is a true picture. Our normal accounts
reflect our expenditures and revenues and various charges that turn up in
our books of an accruing nature, but these profits or losses, in fact, are changes
in the Canadian dollar value of stocks of gold and foreign exchange that we
hold for national economic purposes. There have been no transactions at all
reflected in it; it is a change in the value that arises because of a change in the
exchange rate at which we show them in our books.

I personally feel that it would confuse the average citizen if we tried
to take this into account; he would not know whether the government had had
a budget surplus or deficit for a particular year.

Mr. HARKNESS: I would think the one thing that should not happen is that
the Minister of Finance in any particular year either could take this in or leave
it out depending on how good or how poor a picture he wants to make. In
other words, I think it should be on a definite basis; either it is taken into
account every year or it is not taken into account at all. And, perhaps there
should be a provision that at the end of each ten year period it either will be
made up or whatever the balance is be put into the consolidated revenue
account. But, as I say, I think it is unfair and it is likely to confuse the



- accounts and present a wrong picture if, when a Minister of Finance, we will
- say, has a deficit of $100 million in his budget in a particular year but because
~of a change in the value of the Canadian dollar there was a profit of $150
- million in this fund he took this into account and showed a balance in his
- budget of $50 million when there actually was a deficit of $100 million.

Mr. WincH: Would Mr. Harkness permit to ask a supplementary question.

I know he is interested in this and, so far as I am concerned, it would clarify
~ the matter for me. Would Mr. Henderson tell us whether or not he is recom-
mending that at the end of a full year there should be a true picture of the
situation. Is that the basic principle involved here? =

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Winch, perhaps Mr. Bryce should answer Mr. Harkness’

question first in respect of the report as given, and then Mr. Henderson could
comment.

Mr. Bryce: First, in respect of Mr. Harkness’ question, I think if a minister
of finance dipped into whatever surplus was available in this account, simply
when it was convenient, to bolster his budget, that both the opposition and the
Auditor General would very quickly draw attention to this and he would not get
away without having this revealed and being severely criticized for it. So, I i
think we really can leave that to the processes of parliament at the time to
control rather than to try to provide a law for it in advance.

Mr. HARKNESS: The general point I am trying to make is that it should
be on a definite basis, either this is taken into account every year or it is taken &
into account only at some specific period, say at the end of ten years. In other
words, your proposition really was that it essentially should be left to the
discretion of the Minister of Finance whether or not it is taken into account, i
and I think you said you would not want to be found to take it into account =
in any particular year.

Mr. Bryce: I would say that, sir; as I say, there is that implication.

Mr. HARKNESS: This is the very situation in which I think it would be
unwise that it should be at his discretion.

Mr. BryYcE: So far in the history of the account no minister of finance has
taken any of these revaluation profits or losses. As indicated here—and the -
Auditor General has indicated he concurs in this—it is now proposed that the &
operating profits and losses would be transferred annually. These are fairly
modest items. With regard to a systematic treatment of revaluation profits or
losses the difficulty one sees in providing for a systematic treatment in advance
is these things are occasional and unforeseeable in their direction and magnitude.
You cannot tell whether you are apt to have a profit or loss years and years
ahead, or what sort of magnitude it will be.

If one were to have any established practice or policy, it probably would
be better, I would think, to agree to amortize the accumulated profits or losses
on some kind of a basis so that you get it into the accounts in some systematic

way; but I have not been able to think of any formula that would do that in a
systematic way.

Mr. HARKNESS: I do not know whether or not you would call this a system-
atic way, but I would think the only way in which you could do ij: would be
on some definite period of five years, ten years, 15 years, or something else.

Mr. Bryce: I suppose you could say that at the end of every ten years
you will see what is there and write it off or take it in over the next ten years,
or something of that sort?

Mr. HARKNESS: Yes.

2 The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Henderson, did you wish to comment on the matter
brought up by Mr. Winch?
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Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Chairman, I am not sure I can agree with the minister’s
statement in his report to the effect that any change in the par value is a
hypothetical contingency.

For 12 years prior to the fixing of the par value of May 2, 1962, we had a
free exchange rate which fluctuated at the year end between a low of .9522 and
a high of 1.0594. In the ten year period immediately preceding that, the formal
par value for the Canadian dollar was changed on three occasions. The Bretton
Woods Agreements Act, under which the present par value was established
in co-operation with the international monetary fund, makes specific reference
to changes in par values, and, therefore, it seems to me it would not be un-
reasonable that the Currency Mint and Exchange Fund Act might give specific
directions with regard to the disposition to be made of profits or losses arising
from changes in par value, or in the market value when there is a free exchange
rate.

To sum it up and tie it in with what Mr. Harkness said, and what I said
earlier, I can understand and I think you can understand the undesirability of
risking any serious distortion of the budgetary accounts, and I would point
out that this could be avoided by adopting the conservative practice of re-
taining in the account any revaluation surpluses as a reserve against future
losses. As you will see, at present this account has a credit balance of $30 million
arising out of our devaluation action of 1962. Any loss in excess of the reserve
should then be charged to expenditure in the year in which it occurred and
in this way the investment in the exchange fund never would be impaired.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on this?

Mr. Wincha: May I ask one more question? There is one phase which I
do not have clear and which I would like to have clarified. There may be
an easy answer to it. In view of the fact that over the years the federal treasury
has been paying out millions of dollars annually in subsidies to gold mining
production, why does Canada, which subsidizes gold mine production, not buy
the subsidized gold instead of having it, to some extent, sold outside.

Mr. Bryce: In recent years we have been buying the gold.

Mr. WincH: All of it?

Mr. BryceE: Almost all of it. We have been buying it at the regular price
and we have been paying the subsidy quite separately under the statute. We
have been buying the gold. When we do not buy it, it is for two reasons; first,

we feel we then have sufficient gold reserves. It is a matter of general policy;
it is a matter of judgment in respect of what the total reserve should be, and

“what proportion should be in gold. This is a decision of policy which the gov-

ernment takes. The second reason is, we sell the gold production—which to
some degree is stimulated by the subsidy—when we feel Canada gets the
advantage of that, because it increases our income of foreign exchange just
as does any export, and that is used to pay for imports or for people travelling
abroad, or to pay interest on what we borrowed. It is not thrown away; it is
used to meet our bills from month to month.

Mr. HARKNESS: Are there not two factors involved in so far as subsidies on
gold are concerned? One reason we pay the subsidy is to improve our balance
of payment position, and the other is to keep these mines in operation which
creates employment, and so on.

Mr. Bryce: Yes, sir; I think the last point you mentioned deserves some
emphasis. In the last amendment to the Emergency Gold Mining Assistance
Act it was made clear that any new mine can receive the subsidy if it is in a
community which has been dependant on gold mining. This largely is a subsidy
to try to maintain these communities where there is almost no other alterna-
tive source of employment.
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Mr. HARKNESS: It is an employment measure?
Mr. Bryce: Yes.

Mr. WincH: When legislation was introduced three or four years ago to
the effect that they cannot sell on the free market at a price higher than $35,
was this because it would bring in an additional amount of foreign exchange
over and above the $45 which is the balance?

Mr. BrRycE: Any mine that wishes can sell in any market in which it wishes
to sell, but in order to qualify for the subsidy they have to sell to the mint
here. I do not think there ever has been any law against the mines exporting
to the free market. I remember back in the late 1940’s when I was involved
in some of this, at that time a lot of the mines wanted to get the premium.
Some of them did sell on the free market, particularly those that could not
qualify for the subsidy.

Mr. WincH: I seem to remember some change in legislation brought for-
ward three or four years ago, in respect of the sale of gold.

Mr. HARKNESS: I think the change you have in mind probably involved the
provision allowing any individual to buy a gold brick and keep it in a bank if
he so desired.

The CHAIRMAN: We have time enough left for one question by Mr. McLean
(Charlotte) and one by Mr. Crouse and then we will have to yield to the
defence commitee.

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): As I have said before, I think that any profit
we make is imaginary unless it is international. Mr. Winch asked about Cana-
dian gold. Is it not true you are buying Canadian gold because the producers
are receiving more for it as a result of the discount on money. They are really
receiving more than $35 an ounce; is that right?

Mr. BryYcE: They would receive that advantage, sir, if they sold it on the
London market, for example, but it is more convient for them to sell here and
they normally receive just what they would if they exported it elsewhere.

Mr. McLeaN (Charlotte): I notice the gold reserves are going up in re-
valuation, but if the thing was done on a 50-50 basis you would not lose any-
thing; is that right? If you had 50 per cent gold and 50 per cent United States
treasury bills, for example, you could not possibly lose because one would offset
the other; is that right?

Mr. BryYCE: If the price of gold in terms of United States dollars went up,
the U.S. dollar value of our gold reserves would, of course, increase, but our
U.S. dollar foreign exchange reserves would remain fixed. We would get the
increase in the value of the gold even if we were holding the other half of our
reserves in the form of U.S. dollar investments.

Mr. McLeAN (Charlotte): But in relation to gold, if you had none, you
would lose; is that right?

Mr. BrycEe: If we had no gold we would not receive any profit, for example,
from an increased value in gold. We have to bear in mind the possibility of a
profit on a change in the gold price, set off against the return that we can get
by investment of our foreign exchange reserves in United States treasury bills.
Over the years we have done a lot better by putting our reserves into invest-
ments in foreign exchange because we received a return from the investment.

Mr. McLEeAN (Charlotte): You do not receive any return from gold?
Mr. BrycE: No.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): You do receive a return from your investment
in the United States?

Mr. Bryce: That is right.
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Mr. CROUSE: I have just one question. This discount on the Canadian
dollar does encourage foreign takeovers of Canadian industry and this is
creating a problem for our Minister of Finance. Does it not follow that this is
also affecting our balance of payments?

Mr. BrRYcE: Mr. Crouse, I should like notice of that question because that
leads to quite an elaborate analysis.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Bryce now has notice.

Gentlemen we will resume at 3.30 this afternoon in this room at which time
we will commence with the public service superannuation fund. We now adjourn
until 3.30 p.m.

AFTERNOON SITTING

TuUESDAY, July 21, 1964.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you, gentlemen, I see a quorum. The meeting will
come to order. I shall ask Mr. Henderson if he will be kind enough to revert
to where we left off this morning when I re-routed him to the exchange fund
account to deal with matters in relation to the superannuation accounts. Mr.
Henderson, there are a number of other paragraphs which you will bring up
which are related to this in the 1962 and 1963 reports. You will no doubt try
to pull them all together so there will be all one subject matter.

Mr. HENDERSON: The paragraph we are talking about is paragraph 62 in
my 1962 report, and along with it paragraph 52 of my 1963 report deals with
the same subject, namely, government contributions not made to superannuation
accounts.

As the Chairman said, while we are about it, we shall also be taking into
consideration in the 1962 report, paragraphs 144 and 145 which are on the
public service superannuation accounts and the Canadian forces superannuation
accounts respectively, and also paragraphs 124 and 125 of the 1963 report, which
update the status of these two funds. I must apologize for the lengthy introduc-
tion I shall make on this subject because it is rather highly technical and
involved. But I hope as I persist the issues will become clear, and as I recall
to your minds the earlier discussions we had on the matter.

The CHAIRMAN: Now on the aforementioned paragraphs:

144. Public serwvice superannuation account. In previous reports
mention has been made of the fact that the balance of the public service
superannuation account, forming part of the liability item ‘annuity,
insurance and pension accounts”, included an amount that had resulted
from bookkeeping entries with counterparts in an offsetting “asset”
item described as “deferred charge—unamortized portion of actuarial
deficiency—public service superannuation account”.

Section 32 of the Public Service Superannuation Act, 1952-53, c.47,
which specifies the amounts to be credited to the public service super-
annuation account, reads:

“32. (1) There shall be credited to the superannuation account
in each fiscal year

(a) an account representing interest on the balance from time to
time to the credit of the said Account, at such rates and cal-
culated in such manner as the governor in council by regulation
prescribes,

(b) an amount matching the total amount estimated by the minister
to have been paid into the said account during the preceding
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fiscal year by way of contributions in reéﬁeét of lcurrent servi

or other corporation as defined in section 23, and

(¢) such amount in relation to the total amount paid into the said
account during the preceding fiscal year by way of contributions

in respect of past service as is determined by the Minister.

(2) There shall be credited to the superannuation account, as
soon as possible following the authorization of any salary increase
of general application to the Public Service, such amount as,
in the opinion of the minister, is necessary to provide for the increase
in the cost to her majesty in right of Canada of the benefits pay-
able under this Act, as a result of such salary increase.

Following an actuarial valuation as of December 1, 1951, it was
estimated that the actuarial liability existing under the Public Service
Superannuation Act was greater than the balance then standing at the
credit of the account by $312 million and this amount was credited by
means of an extra-statutory bookkeeping entry made in the fiscal year
1951-52, with an offsetting charge to the “asset” account described above.
In the same year parliament voted $98 million as a special government
contribution towards amortizing this deficiency, and this left a balance
of $214 million in the “asset” account. In the years 1952-53 and 1956-57
further amounts of $25 million and $50 million were appropriated by
parliament and written off the “asset” account, reducing it to $139
million as at March 31, 1957. These reductions involved charges to
expenditure and had the same effect from the accounting point of view
as if parliamentary authority had been given for the making of addi-
tional credits to the Superannuation Account beyond those provided for
by section 32 of the Public Service Superannuation Act.

In 1960-61, following an actuarial valuation made as of December
31, 1957, a further bookkeeping credit of $137,661,000 was made, bring-
ing the ‘“‘additional credits” included in the accounts to a total of
$276,661,000, an offsetting amount being charged to the “asset” account
for ‘“deferred charge—unamortized portion of actuarial deficiency—
public service superannuation account”.

Over the years, the Department of Finance has taken the view that
the practice of enlarging the balance at credit of the superannuation
account in the manner outlined above, so as to relate it to the actuarial
liability, was within the authority granted to the Minister of Finance by
section 64 of the Financial Administration Act, subsection (2) of which
reads in part:

(2) The public accounts shall be in such form as the minister
may direct, and shall include:

(c) a statement, certified by the Auditor General, of such of the
assets and liabilities of Canada as in the opinion of the minister
are required to show the financial position of Canada as at the
termination of the fiscal year.

The finance department received an opinion from the Department of
Justice on December 30, 1960, which included:

Section 63 of the Financial Administration Act requires the
Minister of Finance, subject to regulations of the treasury board to
cause accounts to be kept to show such of the assets and direct and
contingent liabilities of Canada as in his opinion are required to give
a true and fair view of the financial position of Canada; section 64
requires the public accounts to be in such form as the Minister of

other than current service with any public service corporation . ;
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Finance may direct, and it prescribes that the public accounts shall
include such accounts and information as are necessary to show,
with respect to the fiscal year, the financial transactions and financial
position of Canada. In compliance with these provisions the public
accounts contain a balance sheet showing on the liability side
the total actuarial liability of Canada under the Superannuation
Act, and on the asset side the unamortized portion of actuarial
deficiencies. The latter amount, I understand, is intended to offset
the amount added to actual receipts under the Act in order to bring
the liability figure up to the total possible liability under the act.
These items, as I understand them, are intended to show, as required
by the Financial Administration Act, the assets and direct and con-
tingent liabilities of Canada, and in my opinion they do not affect
the obligation to pay benefits under the superannuation act, or the
authority to discharge accruing liabilities out of the consolidated
revenue fund. Whether the statements appearing in the public
accounts constitute sufficient compliance with the provisions of the
Financial Administration Act is a matter upon which the opinion
of the Minister of Finance is the governing factor.

We understand that the Department of Finance interprets this
opinion to mean that the Minister of Finance possesses the legal authority
to direct the making of bookkeeping entries enlarging the balance at
the credit of the superannuation account and the recording of charges
to the offsetting ‘“‘asset” account at his discretion—but we feel that
there was no obligation to make the entries in question.

Our view continues to be that the public service superannuation
account should have been credited (in addition to amounts contributed
by participants) only with amounts provided for by section 32 of the
Public Service Superannuation Act, as quoted above, or by special parlia-
mentary appropriations—and that the offsetting bookkeeping entries made
by the Department of Finance, being at variance with accepted account-
ing practice, should not have been made. In our opinion, the actuarial
deficiency remaining after credits provided for by parliament had been
duly recorded should have been explained each year by means of a note
to the statement of assets and liabilities.

145. Canadian forces superannuation account. In the 1960 report
(paragraphs 100 and 108) reference was made to the non-cash or book-
keeping entry of $326,300,000 which gave credit to this account in 1958-
59, with a corresponding charge being made to the “asset” account
entitled “deferred charge—unamortized portion of actuarial deficiency—
Canadian forces superannuation account”. The audit office view was
stated, and was reaffirmed in last year’s report (paragraph 114) that
amounts additional to contributions by members of the forces should be
credited to the account only as provided for by parliament—either under
section 24 of the Canadian Forces Superannuation Act or by special
appropriation.

As in the case of the public service superannuation account (para-
graph 144), our view is that the actuarial deficiency remaining after
recording cerdits provided for by parliament should have been explained
each year by means of a note to the statement of assets and liabilities.

124. Public service superannuation account. In paragraph 144 of last
year’s report and also in earlier reports reference was made to the extra-
statutory “bookkeeping entries” aggregating $450 million which were
made in 1951-52 and 1960-61 in order to increase the balance at credit of
the public service superanuation account to the amount of the currently
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estimated actuarial liability. The offsetting debits were recorded in an
“asset” account captioned “deferred charge—unamortized portion of
actuarial deficiency—public service superannuation account”.

In the years 1951-52, 1952-53 and 1956-57 portions of the 1951-52
deferred charge of $312 million (in the amounts of $98 million, $25
million and $50 million, respectively) were written off to expenditure,
leaving a balance of $139 million at March 31, 1957. This was increased to
$277 million in 1960-61, when a further entry was made to the credit
of the public service superannuation account following the actuarial
valuation made as of December 31, 1957.

In previous years’ reports, we have expressed the view that the
public service superannuation account should have been credited (in
addition to amounts contributed by participants) only with amounts
provided by section 32 of the Public Service Superannuation Act or by
special parliamentary appropriations—and that the offsetting bookkeep-
ing entries should not have been made. In our opinion the actuarial
deficiency remaining after credits provided for by parliament had been
duly recorded should have been fully explained each year by means of a
note to the statement of assets and liabilities. In his budget speech of June
13, 1963, the Minister of Finance indicated his concern at the magnitude
of the actuarial deficiency.

The amount of the actuarial deficiency is, in fact, considerably
greater than the $277 million indicated on the statement of assets and
liabilities. This amount continues to represent the estimated actuarial
deficiency at December 31, 1957. However, in our 1961 report (para-
graph 59) reference was made to the fact that, as mentioned in a note
to the statement of assets and liabilities as at March 31, 1961, the balance
was not adjusted to reflect the additional liability resulting from general
salary and pay increases during 1960-61, estimated at $80,700,000. More-
over, as mentioned in paragraph 52 of this report, no account has been
taken of the considerable (though not officially estimated) additional
actuarial liabilities that arose between April 1, 1961 and March 31, 1963
as a result of salary and pay increases granted from time to time to sub-
stantial groups of Public Service employees.

Section 33 of the Public Service Superannuation Act, 1952-53, reads
as follows:

The minister shall lay before parliament at least once in every
five years an actuarial report on the state of the superannuation
account, containing an estimate of the extent to which the assets
of the said account are sufficient to meet the cost of the benefits pay-
able under this act.

The act is silent as to the remedy to be applied when a deficiency is
found to exist, and no proposal for dealing with the actuarial deficiency
was made when the report on the last actuarial valuation was tabled
in the house on June 20, 1960. We understand that a further actuarial
valuation as at December 31, 1962 has been undertaken and is expected
to be completed by March 1964.

125. Canadian forces superannuation account. In the last three
reports, references have been made to the non-cash or bookkeeping
entry of $326,300,000 which gave credit to this account in 1958-59, with -
an offsetting amount being charged to the “asset” account entitled
“deferred charge—unamortized portion of actuarial deficiency—Canadian
forces superannuation account”.

In 1962-63, following an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 1960,
adjusted to March 31, 1963, a further bookkeeping credit of $198,549,000
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was made, with an offsetting charge of the “asset” account referred to
above, bringing the additional amounts thus included in the balance
at credit of the account to a total of $524,849,000.

The audit office view continues to be that amounts additional to
contributions by members of the forces should be credited to the account
only as provided for by parliament—either under section 24 of the
Canadian Forces Superannuation Act or by special appropriation. As
in the case of the public service superannuation account (paragraph 124)
our view is that the actuarial deficiency remaining after recording credits
provided for by parliament should be explained each year by means of
a note to the Statement of assets and liabilities.

We first discussed this matter, that is, paragraph 62, on November 29,
1963 (Minutes, pages 180-181). I explained how I had first brought it up in
my 1961 Report when, following the granting of salary increases to different
groups in the public service over a period of several months, no credits, that is,
credit with the offsetting charge to expenditure, were made, to the superannua-
tion account concerned as required by section 32 of the Public Service Super-
annuation Act which I quoted. The superannuation credits called for by the
salary increases in 1960-61 would have amounted to over $160 million.

Similarly action was not taken to credit the fund during the year 1961-62
with respect to the salary increases given in that year ranging up to $1,000
per annum granted to approximately 7,000 employees in certain classes of the
civil service and approved by the treasury board on February 15, 1962 retro-
actively to July 1, 1961. No estimate was available of the additional pension
liability and cost this year because no request had been made to the department
of insurance for the making of such an estimate.

Members may recall that Mr. Bryce appeared before the committee on
December 6, 1963 and made a lengthy statement (Evidence, pp. 225-230) out-
lining the position of the Department of Finance in this matter. He did not
disagree with what I had had to say in my Reports on the subject except to
say that the department did not feel the salary increases were in the nature
of general pay increases as set out in the Act. He indicated he was studying
what arrangements could be made to deal with the situation and that the min-
ister of finance had indicated his intention during the year to consider the
action that should be taken to deal with these accounting deficiencies.

In its fourth report 1963 tabled in the house on December 19, 1963 the
committee expressed concern that no contributions had been made either in
'1960-61 or 1961-62 to the three superannuation accounts as required by their
acts and asked that steps be taken promptly by the Executive to remedy this
situation and urged the minister of finance to give the matter his early attention.

When commenting to the committee on May 26th last on action taken on its
fourth report 1963 recommendations, I reminded you that a statement had been
made by the minister of finance in the house on March 6th of this year in which
he mentioned several adjustments being made in the accounts for 1963-64 with
regard to the accumulated actuarial deficiencies in the various superannuation
accounts, and said I had addressed some queries concerning these adjustments
to the deputy minister of finance.

Of course, by this time my 1963 report to the house had been tabled last
February and my paragraph 52 in that Report continued to bring the matter
forward. I had reported there that for the third year in succession, that is 1962-
63, no credits had been made to the superannuation accounts despite further
rounds of increases which, I might say, had resulted in salary increases having
been granted for practically the whole public service since 1960 without any
special credits having been made to the superannuation account as required by
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section 32 of the Act. This had not been done because the view taken by the
Department of Finance continuing to be that the granting of increases on a
cyclical basis did not result in a “salary increase of general application” had in
fact rendered section 32 of the act inoperative—and as a consequence there has

" been a significant increase in the actuarial deficiencies in these accounts.

The minister of finance stated on March 6th that the government intended to
deal with the accumulated actuarial deficiencies in the various superannuation
accounts. He proposed that as a general policy the deficiencies existing prior to
the commencement of this current fiscal year should be written off to net debt,
which constitutes in effect an adjustment of prior years’ accounts and would not
enter into the accounts for 1963-64. He went on to say that the deficiencies which
would be created by general pay increases made during 1963-64, which the law
requires be charged to that year’s expenditure, would, of course, be so charged.
On the other hand, deficiencies arising from pay increases in 1963-64 which are
not general in scope and therefore not covered by the existing law, will in future
be charged to expenditures over a five year period commencing in the fiscal
year 1964-65. In future, the deficiencies arising from pay increases, whether of a
general or cyclical character or otherwise, will be charged against expenditures
over a five year period commencing in the year in which the increases are
authorized.

Accordingly he then referred to vote 68e of the supplementary estimates he
was tabling under which the Department of Finance proposes to delete the exist-
ing deferred charge from the accounts of Canada and charge to net debt the
unamortized portion of the actuarial deficiency of the Canadian forces super-
annuation account arising in periods prior to 1963-64, which is $524,800,000. The
vote would also authorize the writing off to net debt of a similar deficiency of
$6,300,000 in the superannuation account of the R.C.M.P. The actuarial liability
of some $76,000,000, including interest, arising from the general increase in pay
and allowances granted members of the armed forces in 1963-64 will, he said, be
charged to expenditure in 1963-64 in accordance with the terms of the statute.

He then went on to say that the quinguennial actuarial report on the public
service superannuation account as at December 31, 1962 was in course of prepa-
ration. He thought it would become available in a month or two when he would
then seek authority from parliament to write off to net debt the deficiency
estimated in that report. The additional deficiency created by pay increases
authorized during this current fiscal year will then be estimated and will be
charged over a five year period commencing with the fiscal year 1964-65 in
accordance with the policy he had already outlined. He said the period of five
years had been selected because it is the statutory period between valuations of
these accounts.

In addressing my queries on the minister’s statement to Mr. Bryce, I stated
firstly that when the several adjustments mentioned by the minister had been
made in the accounts for 1963-64, it would appear to us that the following
items will not have been adjusted when the books were closed at March 31, 1964:

(1) the deferred charge of $276,661,000 with respect to the public service
superannuation account;

(2) further deficiencies in the public service superannuation account
created by salary increases granted since December 31, 1957.

Mr. Bryce confirmed that our understanding was correct and said that the
Minister’s statement on March 6th meant that it was his intention to seek parlia-
mentary authority to write off to net debt during 1964-65 both the existing
deferred charge of $276,661,000 and an amount equal to the new actuarial defici-
ency which will be disclosed when the actuarial report is completed covering the
five years from January 1, 1958 to December 31, 1962. In this connection I am
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very doubtful whether there is any justification for writing off this new actu-
arial deficiency, that is, the one about to be disclosed by the actuaries, to net
debt because if a five year plan of write-off is to be adopted it seems to us it
should be started with this current new deficiency rather than with the one to be
determined five years hence when the next actuarial valuation takes place.

My next question to Mr. Bryce had to do with the minister’s statement that
amounts to cover any deficiencies created by future cyclical salary increases are
to be credited to the superannuation account over a period of five years. If these
cyclical salary reviews are to be a continuing process, I explained that we find it
difficult to associate the payment of deficiencies into the superannuation account
with the period which lapses between the quinquennial valuations of the account.
The acts now call for payment into the accounts of any amounts necessary to
cover any such deficiency as soon as possible, and I therefore wondered whether
payment over a period of five years would meet the requirement of this section.
I went on to say that, from the practical point of view, if cyclical salary reviews
are to be continuous and if, as in the past, these result in salary increases which
in turn create deficiencies in the superannuation account, it seems obvious that
the annual credit to the superannuation account could be the sum total of
one-fifth of the annual deficiencies created in each of the preceding five years.
Consequently, the plan could result in reduced charges to appropriations over
the next few years but after that the effect might be little different than if the
deficiencies were met in the year in which they were created.

Mr. Bryce informed me that it is the intention during the present fiscal
year to ask parliament to amend the acts and stated that the proposed procedure
was designed to ensure that once the plan gets into full operation, then in each
fiscal year one-fifth of the deficiency revealed by the last preceding quinquennial
actuarial valuation and one-fifth of the estimated deficiencies arising from cycli-
cal pay and salary increases granted during that fiscal year and the preceding
four fiscal years would be charged to the annual budgetary expenditures. He
went on to say that the objective in providing that the deficiencies be amortized
over a five year period rather than by a single charge was to ensure that there
would be no undue charge placed on the budget every five years.

My feeling on this matter is that while the amortizing of deficiencies deter-
mined by quinquennial actuarial valuations over a period of five years makes
good sense, it does not necessarily follow that five years should be taken for
amortization of deficiencies due to cyclical pay increases. Surely the very fact
that salary adjustments are on a cyclical basis itself serves to spread the cost
of deficiencies over several years and adoption of a five year amortization period

‘only further delays the charging of the expense. In short, I think it would be

very much cleaner to charge it off each year as it occurs and as the act itself
contemplated when it said this should be done as soon as possible.

Would you like to make a comment, Mr. Bryce?

Mr. WincH: Before Mr. Bryce makes his comment, we have, as nearly as I
could analyse it, a most important statement from the Auditor General. I
presume that Mr. Bryce will have to go into a lot of detail in order to answer it,
because I think it can be straightened out. It looks to me from what I have
heard now that in one way perhaps the federal government has kept two sets
of books, the same as the Social Credit party claim that British Columbia does.
My point is, would it help in any way if, before Mr. Bryce makes a statement,
some of us—we would perhaps not require an immediate answer—could at
least suggest an outline, because of Mr. Henderson’s statement and Mr. Bryce’s
answer, of the things which we would like to hear? Would that speed up
our work?
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Mr. Francis: I would like to hear Mr. Bryce’s comments. I am sure he
would sort them out. I am sure Mr. Bryce is capable of putting things fairly.

Mr. WincH: I have written down about ten questions I would like to ask
about this.

The CHAIRMAN: I think Mr. Bryce will first take up the particular points
raised by Mr. Henderson. Then there will probably be a discussion. I have you
second on the list, Mr. Winch. Perhaps that is the best way to proceed.

Mr. WincH: I think it might help him if Mr. Henderson’s presentation was
referred to.

The CHAIRMAN: I think Mr. Bryce probably has found the points of issue
raised by Mr. Henderson, and then in turn we will have further questioning
from the committee. Then you may outline your questions. You may find that
some of them have already been answered by that time. Now, Mr. Bryce.

Mr. Bryce: I am in the hands of the committee as to how you want me to
proceed. This thing is technical and potentially confusing to those of you who
have not had to deal with it from day to day, so I hope, if I assume too much
familiarity on your part with it, you will not hesitate to ask me or Mr. Hender-
son what really is involved in some of these points. Mr. Henderson has covered
quite a lot of ground on the origin of this thing and the announcement that the
minister made about the policy to be followed in future. I do not think it is
necessary for me to go into the background which was discussed at some length
in December and which Mr. Henderson has recalled briefly now.

I should perhaps call the Auditor General’s attention as well as the
committee’s to the fact that when he attributes something as being a decision of
the department, these are matters of size and are in the nature of ministerial
decisions. I think that due respect ought to be paid to the fact that they are
ministerial decisions and not just some bureaucratic attitudes.

Now, the first point perhaps is to deal again briefly with the question of
whether the cyclical salary increases which extended over a period—I have
forgotten just how long—from 1959 to 1962 or something of that order—required
contributions to be paid into the fund. The government of the day satisfied them-
selves that legally they did not. I was not involved in this. One can make an
argument in fairly simple terms that general means general and not partial.
This is about the essence of it.

Now, of course, they were more general than if we had covered only one
particular class of employees or a small group of employees. How widespread
something has to be before it becomes general in terms of the law is a matter
of degree. In any event it is past history now, and we are dealing with a situation
which existed at the beginning of the last fiscal year and with what we are
going to do thereafter.

I do not think I can go further into that legal point. Suffice it to say that
the minister of finance at the time and the government at the time felt that
they were not required by law to deposit these amounts in the fund, or charge
these amounts through to the expenditures for those years. Beyond that they
have followed the action that they did.

When the present Minister of Finance looked over the situation last year
he came to the conclusion that a systematic policy should be devised for dealing
with these reserves. The essential problem, I would say, is when and how we
take the actuarial liability which represents the present value of the future
pensions that we have undertaken to pay less the present value of the future
contributions which we expect to receive, and how we charge that systematically
and properly to expenditures so that our accounts reflect properly first the
state of our net liabilities or assets, and secondly, I would say even more
importantly, so that we can be satisfied that we are reflecting in the cost of
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operation each year a proper charge to maintain these funds and therefore a
proper reflection of what we are really paying our employees.

This is why we have striven to try to get some systematic way to treat
these aceruing liabilities in future. There are all sorts of complications in doing
this which I think I may mention when questions are asked if one wishes.
One has to take a lot of things into account, such as the interest rate being
paid by the fund, and we have to take into account what the impact is going
to be of the Canada pension plan on the superannuation plan; how we are
going to adjust the matter to the Canada pension plan; this is not yet com-
pletely settled because of the changes which have been made in recent months
in the proposals for the Canada pension plan itself.

Again it is necessary to settle quite a number of actuarial problems in
making these valuations. At a time when the Canada pension plan is bringing
about changes one has to be rather careful about this.

Well, as to the conclusion Mr. Gordon came to. The systematic approach
to this is represented in a statement that he made in the House of Commons
on March 6, which Mr. Henderson has outlined and commented upon. In fact,

there are two parts to the plan: one is to clean up the accumulated deficiencies
of the past.

Mr. Gordon said that we now propose as general policy that deficiencies
existing prior to the commencement of that current fiscal year (1963-64) should
be written off to net debt, which constitutes in effect an adjustment of prior
years’ accounts. This is not going into the accounts of the current year. In
other words, the main boundary line is drawn at the beginning of April, 1963.

Well, Mr. Henderson has made a comment which I will come back to, and
which is one of substance. Suffice it to say the proposal is that the major
deficiency of this nature has already been charged with parliamentary approval
to the net debt, that is the deficiency which existed in the armed forces super-
annuation account and the R.C.M.P. superannuation account. I assume Mr.
Henderson’s comment that he has made in regard to the public services super-

annuation account would equally apply to the others, as they were announced
on March 6.

As for the future, the minister proposed that any deficiencies arising out
of pay increases from April 1, 1963, onwards would be charged to expenditures
over a period of a five year cycle in each case. The deficiencies found by the

future actuarial valuations would be charged over the five years immediately
commencing at the time that the valuations were received.

The deficiencies arising each year from pay increases would be estimated

,and then would be paid off year by year over a similar five year term. I will

come back in a moment to Mr. Henderson’s comment and the use of a five year
term there. This at least would produce a plan which would be understandable
and I think about as simple as one can get it in a complicated matter of this
sort. It may be oversimplifying it, but in essence what it amounts to is this:
Whenever we determine either as the result of making pay increases or as a
result of having a periodic evaluation made of the account, that there is not
enough shown as our liability in the account, we would add that liability to
the amount shown in the account, and we would add it in the first instance to

the deferred charge shown on our balance sheet to which Mr. Henderson made
reference, which is to be found on page 168, item 8(a).

This is one of these accounting concepts which, I must say as a non-expert,
I have always found hard to understand, how you show a deferred charge as
an asset. However, the accountants have a way of doing it. What it means is
that it counteracts a liability that you are acknowledging. We would add to the

liabilities on the one side and to the deferred charges on the other these
212323
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additional estimated liabilities arising either from pay increases or from actuarial
valuations. We would then be charging each year in future to our expenditure
one fifth of the amount on the total deferred charges, and in that way we have
a systematic means of acknowledging the cost which the employment of civil
servants, with their aceruing pension rights, gives rise to.

If I can return to Mr. Henderson’s point about using the five years to
amortize these costs arising from the pay increases each year, it is true that if
the pay increases are reasonably uniform each year and we took them into the
accounts every year as they are made and charged them, we might get a similar
pattern over the years to what the minister has proposed. However, we cannot
be confident that the pay increases will be reasonably uniform from year to
year; economic conditions change moreover we are getting into a regime of
collective bargaining. We do not know how this is really going to work out, and
we may find that the increases in different years are of different amounts and
at different rates. We, therefore, feel that it will produce a smoother curve, a
smoother charge, to amortize them as well as the actuarial deficiencies over a
year period.

Moreover, the liability does not really accrue immediately. The reason
that we increase the liabilities of the pension fund when we increase pay is that
people in future will be getting pensions based upon a higher level of pay, and
the extra contributions they make to the fund will not in fact be high enough to
cover the higher pensions they get because the pensions are based on the best
six years, which is normally the last six years, of their service. To charge these
deficiencies created by pay increases over a six year period would have some
logic to it because this is the period over which the higher pay entitles them
to higher pension rates. I think I mentioned last year there was some question
of a choice between a five and a six year period, but we felt that it would
produce a simpler and more understandable system to use the same five year
period that we use for valuation purposes which is in the statute for that
purpose, than to set up a six year cycle which you could argue had some logic
because of the six year period in the Act.

This is an explanation of how we got the five years. I do not think that this
is a matter of great moment. What is important is the government has decided
that in future it will have a systematic means of charging to expenditures and
to the cost of operation the increaesing liabilities for pension that arise when
pay is increased.

I said I would pass over the point that Mr. Henderson made about
beginning this plan by charging matters to net debt. The accumulated deficiency
in the armed services plan has been charged off in that way, and the same
in the case of the R.C.M.P. plan. I think if we did not do the same with the
public service superannuation plan, where the valuation has been delayed
by the fact that the actuaries were so busy working on the Canada pension
plan, we would be having a different system in connection with the publie
service generally than we have had for the armed services and the R.C.M.P.
I think it would be illogical and confusing. When the plan gets into full opera-
tion, we will be doing what Mr. Henderson is proposing in effect, or what
meets his tests and carries his judgment. It is just a question of making the
transition from the earlier arrangements to this. The minister made the
decision, which is reflected in his statement, that he would commence charg-
ing the deficiencies arising from April 1, 1963 onward.

If T tried to add any more I would be apt to confuse the members more
than to help them.

Mr. Francis: I would like to ask Mr. Bryce whether in his opinion the
proqedure as proposed by the minister at present meets the requirements of
section 32 of the Public Service Superannuation Act.
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Mr. BRYCE: We contemplate amending that either by an amendment to
the statute itself or by securing an appropriation that would specifically auth-
orize the kind of system that the minister has proposed. The provision of the
act that one would have to vary is the one that Mr. Henderson has drawn
attention to, that is “as soon as possible following”. What we are proposing
is “over a period of years following”. That is the essential difference. We would
also propose taking out the word “general” in it so that it will apply to salary
increases however widespread. Here we get into a minor problem. Every time
we increase an individual’s salary rate, or something of that sort, we are
obviously not going to try to assess its impact.

Mr. Fraxcis: There obviously has to be some discretion.

Mr. BryYcE: Yes, some lower boundary lines, but if there is, that will be
taken up in due course in the quinquennial valuation.

Mr. Francis: I followed with interest Mr. Bryce’s details concerning the
problems of a valuation of the fund. In his opinion is there any reason to
believe that the amounts indicated in the Auditor General’s report are too
high or are more than would be required in fact with regard to making up
the deficiencies in the fund?

Mr. BryceE: I am not sure just which amounts you are referring to.

Mr. Francis: I started off with the 1962 report and I saw the number of
specific items in paragraph 62. I recognize that you cannot anticipate what the
Canada pension plan will be and you cannot anticipate a retirement policy,
whether or not people will retire at the age of 65. You also cannot anticipate
the mortality rate, and there are many such things. However, I wondered
from your comment whether you felt that there might have been a question
whether the sums are on the conservative side in estimating the possible
requirements.

Mr. BrycE: I rather hesitate to generalize there. The actuaries, each time
they make one of these valuations, review the experience on the points where
they had made assumptions previously, and they make some modest variation
of the basis on which they work.

Mr. Francis: Perhaps I could put it in another way. We had a lot of dis-
cussion on funding when talking about the Canada pension fund. This is
another type of public pension plan and its assets keep mounting from year
to year. Do you feel that it is required in terms of public policy to stick to a
striet actuarial fund?

Mr. Bryce: We try to keep it a fully funded plan. The boundary of argu-
ment here is twofold: How far is it necessary to meet these pay increase

~deficiencies year by year in order to keep it fully funded, and secondly do we

have the transitional problems I mentioned, which Mr. Henderson was con-
cerned about. That is not so much a problem of keeping the plan fully funded
as how to charge it through to our accounts. This is a fully funded plan, and
it is necessary.

Mr. Francis: This is the intent of the legislation.
Mr. Bryci: That is right.

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Chairman, may I just speak to Mr. Francis’ question
when he asked Mr. Bryce if the figures that are shown in the third paragraph
of note 62 were correct, that is to say, the additional liabilities resulting from
the increases? These are figures which were obtained by the Department of
Finance itself. They were prepared for the department by the department of
insurance. They made this computation on what the liabilities would have been.
As I have explained, they did not take them up, but they did ascertain how
much they amounted to. However, in the year 1962-63—the next year—no

such request, as I mentioned earlier, was in fact made to the department of
212323}
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insurance for such an estimate. So that these are as close as they can come,
They are only estimates, but they are in the habit of asking the department of
insurance to determine how much liability would in fact have been provided.

Mr. Francis: I wondered whether it was significant that no request was
made.

Mr. WincH: Mr. Chairman, with your consent and that of the members

I have something to say. I may have to go a little bit slowly because I do want *

to get this right. The Auditor General has raised a most important matter before
this committee. The importance of it is shown by the fact that in the 1962
report he has paragraphs 62, 144, 145, and in his 1963 report he has paragraphs
123, 124 and 125 on this subject. After listening to the Auditor General and
to Mr. Bryce I not only recognize the importance of this matter, but also its
complications and confusions. I will proceed slowly so as to try to present the
problem as I see it and to present the questions which I would like to ask.

If my memory is correct, all superannuation payments or policies are
governed by acts of the parliament of Canada. We have a number. However,
in those various acts of the parliament of Canada the payments to be made
by a servant of the crown and also the payments to be made by the crown
itself are outlined in specifics. Now, if my interpretation is correct, what is
binding on the servant of the crown is also binding on the crown itself. Again,
if my interpretation is correct, then an increase in salary to a servant of the
crown immediately affects his payments on superannuation. There I come to
my first point, that as a servant of the ecrown is immediately caught under the
act on payment, then on what basis is the crown itself not under an obligation
to meet whatever might be its matching payments?

Mr. Bryce: Could I answer that right away?

Mr. WincH: Could I build it up before? On what basis is a servant of the
crown obligated, while a decision of a minister or someone else can defer pay-
ments by the crown? I want to draw the entire picture. When it comes to
the act itself it is not a question of the validity of the actuarial soundness of
the fund because if it is found to be not actuarially sound it is up to the govern-
ment to come to the House of Commons and ask for additional money or ask
to make changes. If I am correct on that—I am just building it up now—
then by deferring payments by the crown for five years we have basically not
had a true report to the House of Commons on the position of the obligations
of the crown. I base that view on my interpretation of what Mr. Henderson
presents in about six paragraphs. What he is pointing out is a backlog which
has not been paid by the government as required by the law of Canada on
superannuation as between master and servant, if I may use that term. If I
am incorrect here, perhaps I will be corrected by Mr. Bryce or by Mr. Hender-
son. These have not been charged as budgetary expenditures year by year,
as they have occurred. I am not an auditor, but to me it seems that we have a
most important point here, that the backlog has not been paid for five years
and therefore it has not been shown as budgetary expenditures as should have
been shown in the reports to the House of Commons.

I then want, if I may, to ask Mr. Bryce to explain something which I find
most difficult to understand in view of the fact that he presented it in two
different ways which mean the same thing, and that is “pay increases of general
application, not necessarily a salary increase for superannuation purposes”.
This is something which passes all comprehension. You can just take one
example. If you were a member of the House of Commons up until last year—
as I was for the last 10 years—you would know that we paid $240 a year to
superannuation. A change in the act made it $720 a year. Immediately the act
went into force a deduction was made from our salaries on the basis of one
twelfth of $720, and inside of six weeks we got letters that we had to make
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a choice on whether we were going to pay up on the past. Do I gather that
the government perhaps did not immediately, when we had to pay the one
twelfth of $720 and not one twelfth of $240, match our contribution? Apply
that to a servant of the crown. Is he not in exactly the same position? According
to what we now have in front of us, I gather that for five years the government,
to some extent, has not matched what the law demands and what the crown is
obligated to pay. What should have been charged to budgetary expenditures
was not shown.

We then go on to what I also admit is something that puzzles me immensely,
and that is the statement about writing off a net debt of moneys owing to
superannuation. How can you change the public accounts of Canada to write off
as a net debt—and this is the way I got, and I think I got it right—moneys
owing superannuation? If it is a debt which is owing to the superannuation fund,
how can it be written off as a debt? There may be a complication of auditing
and high financing there that I do not understand, and it might help me an
awful lot if I could learn more about it.

To go back to Mr. Henderson’s statement—I will come to a conclusion very
soon—

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Bryce might deal with all those questions as one item.

Mr. WincH: I have just one more point. Mr. Henderson said that no con-
tributions were made, and he specifically mentioned 1961 and 1962. He said
that it is required in the act under section 32, I think. Therefore, the Auditor
General has drawn to our attention the fact that the act of parliament under
section 32 requires payments. The payments were not made. We have Mr. Bryce’s
statement that payments amounting to hundreds of millions of dollars were not
made. We have the statement of certain things that are going to be written off
as a net debt. We have the statement that the servants of the crown have to
pay immediately but that the crown does not. We also have the statement, which
I would like cleared up, that the basis of the fund, whether actuarially sound or
not, is not the subject now before us, nor under the authority of the minister.
The law says that you have to pay so much money every year on the various
superannuation acts. It has not been paid. When it comes to actuarial soundness,
then it is up to parliament to meet the deficit or change the act.

I do not know whether I compounded the confusion or not, but I hope I have
given enough to you so that you understand the kind of information which I
think this committee would like to have on the reasons why the crown thinks
it can disregard the law but everyone else has to obey it.

Mr. Bryce: I think Mr. Winch has put the case very eloquently. My only
worry is whether I can remember all the subpoints that he has raised.

Firstly, I think we should start by recalling that the employee does not
suffer by any delay that there may be in the crown making these payments or
charges because of deficiencies created by pay increases. The employee’s rights
are defined in the act. The crown is obligated to pay the employee’s pensions and
benefits when he is entitled to them. He can sue the crown for them, as I recall.
Therefor we are not talking about anything here that endangers the employee’s
position. The essence of the argument is whether we are properly disclosing the
liabilities that are created by the employees’ service in earning pensions, and
whether these are being charged to expenditures in a proper way.

Secondly, we have the point on what the law requires the government as
an employer to contribute. If we take the Public Service Superannuation Act
itself, it says that there shall be credited to the superannuation account in each
fiscal year, first, an amount representing interest on the balance to the credit
of the account.

The CHAIRMAN: That whole section is quoted at page 78 of the 1962 report.
Section 32 is quoted verbatim, if members are interested.
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Mr. WincH: I read it very carefully.

Mr. Bryce: The crown has, of course, been paying the interest from year
to year without any question.
The second thing is—

Mr. WincH: I am sorry. Has the crown been paying the interest on the
money it has not paid?

Mr. BryceE: It pays the interest on the balance from time to time to the
credit of the superannuation account.

Mr. WincH: But not interest on the five years of money which it should
have turned into the superannuation account.

Mr. BrRyYcE: They have only paid interest on what is shown as the liability
in the account from year to year. As you will see on page 169 in the 1963 report,
what they pay is the amount which is included on the liability side under item
16, annuity, insurance and pension accounts, schedule N. Unfortunately it is not
reprinted here, but in the public accounts themselves we will find that in
schedule N.

Mr. WincH: What rate of interest does it pay on its liabilities?

Mr. BryceE: Four per cent. This is determined by regulations made by the
governor in council. It is the amount shown as a liability on the liabilities side
which determines what interest we pay. That is in the public accounts, volume 1,
at page 167 under the Department of Finance public service superannuation
account. That shows the amount we recognize as a liability and on which we
pay the interest.

The government is also required to pay matching contributions to the
employees’ contributions. The government is required to pay an amount match-
ing the total amount estimated by the minister to have been paid into the said
account during the preceding fiscal year by way of contributions in respect
of current service other than current service with any public service corpora-
tion or other corporation as defined. In other words, we match our employees’
contribution, but match it the following year when the total can be determined
and then put in a bulk amount.

Mr. WincH: But you have not been matching it.

Mr. BrycE: We match it in the way the law says we shall match it. We
total up what the employees’ pay in one year and put in an amount the next
year equal to that. Perhaps Mr. Clark could tell us why it has a lag of one year.

Mr. H.. D. Crark (Director, Pension and Social Insurance Section, Depart-
ment of Finance): Originally it was a matter of totalling up at the end of the

year to find out what the contribution by the employees came to and simply
matching it then.

' MI’..WINCH: I am awfully sorry; I do not wish to interrupt, but I cannot
tie that in with what is declared to be a five year lag.

Mr. Bryce: I am coming to that. These are all employer’s contributions as
such; these are the things that the boss pays, just like the employee. These are
under item (b) here.

Thirdly, the government is required to pay such amount in relation to the
total amount paid into the said account during the preceding fiscal year by way
of contributions in respect of past service as is determined by the minister. In
othgr words, there are very complicated provisions in the law about employees
paying for or being credited with past service. We have to determine under
these_ complicated provisions of the law how much the government has to
contribute for prior service. In some cases of war service, the employee does
not pay but the government does.

Mr. CLARK: In certain types of war service.

I W
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Mr. BrRycE: That is the third thing. In all this kind of contributions there
has been no question of the government paying up when the law requires it.

The question really has arisen in respect of subsection 2 of section 32
which Mr. Henderson has quoted in the paragraph concerning these contribu-
tions. Here you get into this question of whether salary increases are increases
of general application, and whether the contributions are being paid as soon
as possible following. Well, the preceding government took the view that these
cyclical increases were not salary increases of general application. We know
the facts. They have taken this view and have received advice with regard to
what the law really requires. Therefore, they feel they do not have to put
these in. I cannot tell you any more. I am not a lawyer and I cannot get into
the fine points of what the words “salary increase of general application” mean,
or whether there are any court cases which would give a guide in respect of
how general they have to be to come within that.

However, I think this is what is worrying you, Mr. Winch; that is, did the
government meet this test of putting in an amount to provide for the increase
in cost to Her Majesty that would arise as a result of such salary increases.

Mr. WincH: It is a key point. What I cannot understand is that it is a
cyclical increase, but is an increase in salary and the employee has to pay
superannuation on any salary increase, so where does the interpretation of the
government come in to the effect that it is not a salary?

Mr. Bryce: When the pay of a civil servant is increased he has to pay a
6% per cent contribution on the increase in pay; the government matches that.
However, over and above what the government pays in matching its employees’
contribution, we know when we increase salaries the government’s matching
contribution is not enough to look after the actuarial liability created in respect
of future years. It is this increase in actuarial liability which is at issue here
under section 32 (2). It was only ten or 12 years ago that the law came into
effect which required that this be taken into account. Previously it was not
there at all.

As I recall it, there is nothing in the law which requires us to put in an
amount to cover a deficiency shown up in the actuarial reports.

Mr. McMiLLAN: Why would it not be enough if the government met their
whole obligation?

Mr. BryceE: It is because of the nature of the fund. The employees con-
tribute a certain percentage year by year up to 35 years. If the salary rates
always remain the same for various classes of work, the rate contributed by
the employee and matched by the government, as the employer’s contribution,

~would, I suppose, roughly work out as being enough when interest is taken

into account.
Mr. McMILLAN: You said it would not be enough.

Mr. BRYCE: Yes, if salary rates are level; but if salary rates are rising in
the employees lifetime which, fortunately, is what happens as the country
becomes better off and can afford more, when the employees’ payments are
based on his whole lifetime of contribution, and his pension is based on the six
best years, or normally the last six years at higher rates of salary, then the
year by year contributions, in practice are not enough. We know that it depends
on the rate at which salaries are rising. That is why this provision was put in
the act in 1951 in order to attempt to keep that deficiency from accumulating.
I think that is the essence of the point. It is this, as Mr. Winch points out, which
has been allowed to accumulate for some years.

Mr. WincH: What would be the actual amount?

Mr. BrYCE: The actuaries are going to tell us that, I hope, within a matter
of days. I have not received the report which Mr. Henderson mentioned, but I
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believe it is due this week. I do not know how much it will be, but it is their job
to tell us what it was as of December 31, 1962. Now, as I said a moment ago,
there is nothing in the law that obligates us to put in the end any deficiencies
that the actuaries find in their quinquennial valuation. However, the purpose of
the valuation is to find whether we are in fact falling behind. With proper credits
being made because of pay increases we should not fall too far behind. In
future, therefore, under the plan the minister has outlined, the amounts arising
out of the quinquennial valuation should not be large amounts; they should be
“tidying up” amounts rather than “making up” amounts, so to speak. The
amounts to be settled in respect of the past period are much larger, as was evi-
dent in the amount for the armed services and as may well be the case for the
public service superannuation account, because of the fact that the pay increases
were not considered to be of general application, and therefore we did not fill in
the hole created by those pay increases. So that I think this has some bearing
on the point Mr. Henderson made about the initiation of this thing without
charging over the next five years what the actuaries find to be the deficiency at
the end of 1962. The deficiency at that date is, to a considerable extent, a reflec-
tion of the fact that the pay increases were not found to be of general applica-
tion and therefore gave rise to more cumulative deficiencies than would be the

case in future when we are going to deal with them systematically, whether or
not they are of general application.

Mr. WincH: Could I ask Mr. Henderson whether, in view of what Mr. Bryce
has said, he is satisfied with what I gather to be the future policy of the depart-
ment, that there will not again be a large backlog and that we will see each year
a budgetary expenditure of the moneys required.

Mr. HENDERSON: I would certainly hope so, Mr. Winch. Section 32, sub-
section (1) of the Public Service Superannuation Act, which Mr. Bryce has been
describing to you and which you have before you, seems to me to be quite
understandable and normal. It requires, as he has explained, special provisions
to be made in this account or fund whenever the salary and wage increases of

general application are given to the public service employees covered by the
fund.

Mr. WincH: That is annual, is it not?

Mr. HENDERSON: Yes, annual increases of general application. You find a
similar sort of provision usually present in most big corporation superannuation
funds for the purpose of keeping the funds actuarially sound. Then, as Mr. Bryce
has described, you employ actuaries usually at five year intervals, sometimes at
three year intervals, to recheck the status of the funds so as to see how the fund
is doing. These actuaries have regard to the prevailing rates of earnings on the
fund’s investments, the pattern of the age group of employees covered, and the
salary levels currently being paid, on which, as Mr. Bryce has said, the pensions
or superannuation are going to have to be based at the end of the road.

In direct answer to your question, the procedure Mr. Bryce has outlined—
and this I think is very important—recognizes the principle of keeping the fund
actuarially sound. But instead of making provision in the fund each year in
future for the salary and wage increases granted in that year—that is each year
by itself—he says that since there is going to be a pattern of cyclical salary
increases throughout the public service in future, he proposes to distribute the
charges over the ensuing five years. Thus, he believes, as he says, that a more or
less standard charge will enter into budgetary expenditures each year, arriving
at the same result. I think you can appreciate that theoretically this may be quite
true; however, in my view, as I said to you, it would be better and cleaner and
simpler accounting were the appropriate amount in respect of salary and wage
increases during each year to be placed into the fund in that year and charged
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off, just like the salaries and wages themselves, to budgetary expenditures. To
my way of thinking this gives immediate recognition within each fiscal year to
the real cost of salary and wage increases.

Mr. WincH: Have you discussed this with the department?

Mr. HENDERSON: Yes, we have had the exchanges to which I referred,
and Mr. Bryce has been good enough to set down his thinking on the five year
pattern which the minister announced on March 6 he proposes to adopt. Obvi-
ously, as I said earlier, if you are going to be taking one fifth of the five years,
the thing will level itself out and you will wind up with the same result. I
naturally asked the question: why not start out doing it the simpler way,
because these are expensive costs which go right along with the salaries and
wages paid, and you might be up one year and down the next year. This may
not give you a nice and even line, but if you are trying to ascertain real
costs, there is an argument for it. That would make it simpler, but, on the
other hand, it is Mr. Bryce’s prerogative, not mine, to adopt the procedure that
he feels will best tie in with his departmental approach. I am only pointing
out the way I see it because that was what you asked me.

Mr. WincH: I have one more question and then I will subside. I am sorry
I have taken so much of your time. Could I ask Mr. Henderson whether,
from your point of view as the Auditor General of Canada, responsible to
parliament, wanting to present to parliament every year the revenue and
expenditure, it is your opinion that it would be better if there could be at
least an approximate annual budgetary estimate submitted to parliament?

Mr. HENDERSON: If it were written off as a budgetary expenditure each
year?

Mr. WincH: So that we would know what it required. At the end of the
five year period we would know the approximate figure for every year.

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Bryce’s proposal would include a charge each year.
He might want to expand on that.

Mr. WINcH: An additional charge of one fifth to catch up on the last five
years.

Mr. Bryce: I hate to point out that it is a little more complicated than
that. We propose to show every year in our liabilities the full amount of that
increase in liabilities that arises from the pay increase in that year.

Mr. WincH: You do not intend to pay it?

Mr. BrycE: We do not intend to pay this at once. In our liabilities we
propose to show, whenever we get an actuarial valuation, the increase in lia-
bilities arising from that valuation. We show that in our liabilities, and pay
interest on that right away so there would be no accumulation of deficiencies.
However, we propose to charge the increase in those liabilities to expenditure
over the ensuing five years, as Mr. Henderson said. So I think the only dif-
ference between us and the Auditor General is not in what we show as a
liability, not in what we pay interest on, but rather on when we charge it
through to our budgetary expenditures. We feel that charging it over five years
gives not only a smoother picture but, I would suggest—although I hesitate to
say this to an eminent accountant like Mr. Henderson—in some ways it is a
better way to reflect the charge because in fact the higher pension liabilities
are contingent upon the employees continuing their service and continuing to
serve, and in fact it is not all a cost that accrues immediately we make the
pay increase; it accrues as the employees continue to serve. You might well
argue that it should be amortized over the future service life of each employee,
and in fact I think the practice of private employers with plans like this is to
spread the cost arising from pay increases over even more than five years.
However, we have simply been taking five years as giving us enough reflection
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of the fact that it is future service that really creates the increase in the
liability. So I do not think there is really much difference between Mr.
Henderson and myself in this.

Mr. HENDERSON: A most important point, I think is something which I
would like to say to the members of the committee, namely, that a plan has
now been evolved to write this off to budgetary expenditure in an orderly
manner. It may not be the way that I think would be the simplest one, but
at least we have a plan, and provided that that plan is adhered to, I would
hope that this situation will tidy itself up.

I would like to ask Mr. Long if he has any comment he would like to add
to this. This is a subject to which we have given a lot of thought and he might
have a few words to say on it.

Mr. G. R. LonGg (Acting Assistant Auditor General, Auditor General’s
Office): One thing I might mention is that when these comments were made
by the Auditor General the law called for payments into the fund with respect
to salary increases of general application. Over a four year period, the entire
service was covered, but nothing was put in.

Mr. WincH: Nothing was put in?

Mr. Long: That is right, nothing was paid into the fund to cover the cyclical
increases granted over a four year period, but over this four year period there
were increases for the entire service. Mr. Bryce is proposing that the law
should be changed so that you do not have to reimburse the fund all at one
time, you reimburse it over a five year period. Of course, if parliament changes
the law in that way, we would not be able.to say anything about it as long
as the department adhered to the new law.

Mr. WincH: That is the point I was hoping to get out eventually, and
now I have got it. You said that according to the existing law for the past four
years the law has not been lived up to, but it requires a change in the law
to do what you have been doing for the last four years. Am I right?

Mr. BrYCE: Are you asking me?

Mr. WincH: I am trying to ask the Auditor General or Mr. Long. I want
to go along with what was just said. Did I interpret you correctly, that accord-
ing to the existing law there should have been money paid in that has not
been paid in, but that if the law is changed, then it will overcome the difficulties
which faced you, Mr. Long, and the Auditor General? Have I made a correct
interpretation?

Mr. Long: This is right, but I would go on to explain that the Minister of
Finance interpreted ‘“general application” as being over the entire service in
one year. Obviously when salaries are reviewed on a cyclical basis that inter-
pretation rendered this section of the act completely ineffective, and we do not
think that parliament intended this section to be rendered ineffective in
that way.

Mr. WincaH: May I say that I appreciate your kindness and that of the other
witnesses in giving us that information. I wish I had more knowledge of finance
and auditing, but I have a far clearer understanding now than I did half an
hour ago.

The CuAIRMAN: Have you still got a question, Dr. McMillan?

Mr. McMirLan: There were two or three things I did not understand. You
have been referring to deficiencies resulting because of contributions not made
in respect of several increases. Then Mr. Henderson said that at another time
no contributions were made. Does he mean that no contributions were made
in respect of salary increases, or none at all?
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Mr. HENDERSON: No contributions have been made. I first started reporting
this business in 1961, and I was reporting then for the year 1960-61. Then I
reported for the two succeeding years. The amount of the liabilities that should
have been put in under section 32 were determined but they were not charged
to the budgetary expenditures, neither were they put in to the superannuation
fund for the three years since. As you see, it is a very formidable figure. It
was about $161 million alone in the year 1961. What it has been since, I do
not know because nobody has computed it.

Mr. McMiLLaN: In fact, nothing was put in, in respect of basic salaries
that they were getting before?

Mr. HENDERSON: No, this should have been charged to budgetary ex-
penditure.

Mr. McMiLLaN: Of course, it should have been taken into the budget and
written off as a debt at that time?

Mr. HENDERSON: That is correct.

Mr. Hares: I do not think we should spend any more time on this.
Apparently the department and the Auditor General have come to an agree-
ment that seems to be suitable to both. I should like to ask Mr. Henderson
what the outcome would have been had this been a private corporation or a
firm with some authorized pension plan which the inspector of insurance was
supervising or looking after?

Mr. HENDERSON: As far as the inspector of insurance is concerned, and I
hope Mr. Bryce and his associate Mr. Clark will correct me if I am wrong, I do
not believe he is interested in private pension plans of large corporations.
There are no rules applicable thereto. Private corporations faced with a problem
like this would seek to write this off just as soon as they could, always provid-
ing they could get it for tax purposes. The tax department have established rules
regarding what it will allow, and they are quite generous. The private corpora-
tion seeks to get this sort of thing written off to the greatest extent the tax posi-
tion permits. That has been my experience.

The CHAIRMAN: Will you speak into the microphane, Mr. Hales?

Mr. HALES: Would you not think this a good policy to follow in your
department, writing it off each year?

Mr. BrycE: No, sir. We think it would be better to reflect it in our liabilities
each year, in view of what we know about the liabilities created by increases
as well as by evaluations, and to charge that increase in liabilities over a five
year period rather than in one year for the reasons I have outlined essentially
here, to make sure this is a smoother curve, and also because it is accrued over

. future services rather than at the immediate time.

Mr. WincH: The amount involved now is approximately $400 million?

Mr. Bryce: This actuarial report I presume will be tabled shortly in the
House of Commons so you will be able to see what they estimate the amount to
be.

Mr. SoutHAM: I think Mr. Hales referred to a particularly salient feature
here which I think we sometimes confuse. As a result of his question and the
answer given by Mr. Henderson I think the difficulty has been clarified. It
related to the academic or auditing practice as far as private corporations are
concerned compared to government practice. The thought came to my mind,
as Mr Bryce has outlined it, that because of the fact we as the government
have a national resource in perpetuity, we can take a more flexible plan and
apply these things to liabilities. I think this is one thing we try to think of in
terms of a private individual, or as a private corporation immediately writing

these things off for tax purposes, whereas the government does not have to take
this attitude.
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Mr. Bryce: I think we should be cautious about what private enterprise does.
I am not certain, but as I recall the Glassco commission report, it suggested we
should write off this deficiency over 20 years; is that not right?

Mr. HENDERSON: I just do not recall the specific recommendation.

Mr. CLARK: It certainly recommended that it be written off over a greater
period than five years.

Mr. HENDERSON: Of course, there are very substantial figures involved,
and to write off an expenditure of the size this is now would be a most unattrac-
tive project.

Mr. SoutHAM: I see.

Mr. HeEnDERSON: That is why it is being written off to net debt, Mr.
Southam.

Mr. SoutHaM: I think perhaps the Minister of Finance in attempting to
develop a budget to present to Canada would not want to be saddled with this
large amount in one year. I think the period of time approach is possibly the
better, but I can see a difference in the opinion here between the private sector
and the government sector.

Mr. HENDERSON: Perhaps I could just answer Mr. Southam on that point,
Mr. Chairman.

By delaying the write off, and taking it over a five year period, as Mr.
Bryce mentioned, he also pointed out that this deferred charge is carried as an
asset on the statement of assets and this will of course continue, and will
increase the liability and put it into this unamortized figure that appears as a
deferred charge on the balance sheet, and there it will stay while one fifth is
being written off over the ensuing five years. Under the preference I expressed,
it would be written off each year and there would not be a deferred charge.

Mr. WincH: In other words, you would have this $150 million figure, such
as you had in the years 1961-62?

Mr. HENDERSON: It was 1960-1961, Mr. Winch.

Mr. WincH: There was nothing paid for each year since, so instead of
having written off $150 million a year we now have approximately $500 bil-
lions left; is that right?

Mr. HENDERSON: This, of course, is going to be cleared off to net debt in

order to get this off the ground, and that is probably the best way of handling
a figure of that size.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Mr. Chairman, I intended to ask Mr. Bryce
or Mr. Henderson whether there was a written legal opinion from the Depart-
ment of Justice regarding the amount taken by the Minister of Finance in
accomplishing this.

Mr. BrYCE: Are you referring to the salary increases not being treated as
of general application?

Mr. CaMmEeErRON (High Park): Yes.

Mr. Bryce: I am told there was a written legal opinion. I do not think
I have it with me, but perhaps I have. I do not have it with me.

Mr. CaMmERON (High Park): Do you think you could obtain that written
report for us?

Mr. WiNcH: You are not worried about owing the superannuation fund
this amount of money; is that right?

: MI Bryce: I understand the committee discussed the question of legal
opinions and how they should be treated at an earlier meeting. Of course, if the

committee thinks it right that we should produce this legal opinion I will
produce it.
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The CHAIRMAN: I suppose Mr. Cameron we are in the same position we
would be in the House of Commons in respect of a request for a legal
opinion.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): I am satisfied, knowing what you are going to
say, with what you are going to say and I know we cannot have these
opinions produced. I wanted to find out whether there was a legal opinion
obtained.

The result is that there has been accumulated as deferred liability by the
crown in respect of the superannuation fund a large amount of money, and if
this rule of law had not been applied that would have been charged directly
in each year and naturally increased the budget deficit in each of those years;
is that right?

Mr. BryceE: That is right, or it would have increased taxes.
The CHAIRMAN: It may have increased taxes also.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): The result would have been outgoing rather
than incoming and, furthermore in writing it off over this desired period each
year, as you are now writing it off, you are going to include an amount of
these arrears so that the result in coming years will not actually reflect the
direct financial picture of the cost because of the inclusion of that which belongs
to prior years; is that right?

Mr. BrycE: Mr. Gordon does not propose to write off the back arrears
prior to April, 1963.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): He is going to commence writing them off as
a schedule?

Mr. BRYCE: Yes.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): He is going to include this amount and, there-
fore an amount covering accruing deficits; is that right?

Mr. BrYCE: Yes.

Mr. WincH: This situation gives rise to a very interesting question. If the
government borrows money at three per cent, or round three and three quarters
per cent and this amount of money is being paid off each year and the govern-
ment has to borrow money to do that, we will then have to pay four per cent
on this amount of money in respect of the superannuation fund; is that right?

Mr. BrYCE: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, we have dealt with the two largest problems
with which we are concerned. We still have a number of smaller items, quite

" a few of which have an impact and impinge on the question of superannuation.

Is it the wish of the committee to remain for a short period of time to see how
many of these items we can clear up before adjourning until this evening?

Mr. WincH: Let us remain for at least 30 minutes.

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps we could remain to see how many of these items
we can clear up.

Mr. Henderson, will you now carry on?

Mr. HENDERSON: I should like to ask Mr. Bryce whether it might be better
to continue our consideration of the superannuation items while they are fresh
in our minds.

The CHAIRMAN: That is exactly what I meant to do, Mr. Henderson.
Mr. HENDERSON: We can then return to the others.

The CHAIRMAN: I think we should carry on with paragraphs 144, 145, 62
and 63.
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Mr. HENDERSON: Perhaps we can now turn to paragraph 63 of my 1962

report and paragraph 53 of my 1963 report dealing with errors in public service
superannuation account pension and contribution calculations, as follows:

63. Errors in public service superannuation account pension and con-
tribution calculations. Reference is made to the comments on this subject
contained in paragraph 61 of last year’s report. Since then, further meet-
ings have been held with officers of the Department of Finance to con-
sider what steps should be taken to secure a greater measure of internal
control.

Our test examinations of the records of the superannuation branch
for the year ended March 31, 1962 continued to disclose a high incidence
of error, involving both overpayments and underpayments of pension on
a continuing basis, and also incorrect charges for contributory service. As
was pointed out in last year’s report, many such errors could be avoided
were there a complete review or internal audit of the contributors’ files
prior to authorization of the payment of benefits.

The administrative directive issued several years ago and quoted in
last year’s report, provided that once the superannuation branch had
determined the extent and cost of elective service in the case of an
election made prior to January 1, 1954, the case for administrative pur-
poses was to be considered closed unless any contributor or his employing
agency reopened the case, in which event the relevant laws were to be
applied. It was intended that there would be a complete verification of
elective service cases by the superannuation branch where the election
had been made subsequent to January 1, 1954, and that, in the meantime,
all such cases would be checked as usual at retirement. However, in
February 1958 this program was abandoned.

Although the practice of making a final check of elective service,
prior to authorization of the payment of benefits, was resumed in April
1962, the operations of the superannuation branch continue to give cause
for concern. We were informed by the secretary of the treasury board in
May 1962 that consideration was being given to the re-establishment of
the comptroller of the treasury’s pre-audit which had been discontinued
in 1958, but we have not yet been informed of any decision in the matter.

53. Errors in Public Service Superannuation Account pension and
contribution calculations. In the 1961 report (paragraph 61) and again
last year (paragraph 63) we reported that our test examinations of the
records of the superannuation branch of the Department of Finance had
disclosed a high incidence of error, involving both overpayments and
underpayments of pension on a continuing basis, and also incorrect
charges for contributory service. It was pointed out in both reports that
many such errors could be avoided were there a complete review or
internal audit of the contributors’ files prior to authorization of the
payment of benefits.

In last year’s report it was stated that we had been informed by the
secretary of the treasury board in May 1962 that consideration was being
given to the re-establishment of the comptroller of the treasury’s pre-
audit of superannuation accounts which had been discontinued in 1958.
This has not yet been done although various steps were taken by the
Department of Finance to improve the superannuation administration, and
an improvement was, in fact, noted in the accounts during the year under
review. However, pension payments under the Public Service Super-
annuation Act, unlike those made under the Canadian Forces Super-
annuation Act, the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Act and the Pension
Act, are made without verification by the comptroller of the treasury
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of the gross amount of any entitlement, other than a return of con-
tributions.

During the year it was found that information concerning salary
payments by crown corporations whose employees are contributors under
the Public Service Superannuation Act was no longer being received in
the central pay office, having been replaced by a listing of salary rates
being paid as at the end of each year. In June 1962 we inquired of the
superannuation branch as to what verification was being made of the
correctness of the employees’ contributions which these Crown corpora-
tions were sending in. In August 1962 we received a reply conceding that
there existed a gap which should be closed and indicating that a solution
to the problem would be worked out. In reply to a follow-up inquiry in
October 1963, we were advised that no verification of these contributions
was yet being made.

This matter was raised by me in my 1962 report and members of the com-
mittee may recall that it was discussed at some length with Mr. Bryce when he
appeared before this committee on December 6, 1963. He outlined the problems
with which the Department of Finance was faced in the administration of the
superannuation act, stating that the minister had decided on his recommendation
that the superannuation branch should be transferred from the general direction
of the secretary of the treasury board to the general direction of the comptroller
of the treasury who was more familiar with this type of large clerical operation
and that he and the minister hoped that it would now be possible to apply to it
the kind of techniques of pre-audit, checking and correction of records that the
superannuation branch operations require. Consequently, he hoped that real
progress would be made in dealing with the situation to which I called attention.

In this committee’s fourth report, 1963, tabled in the House of Commons on
December 19, 1963, it expressed concern that a high incidence of error had con-
tinued in the superannuation branch of the Department of Finance involving
both overpayments and underpayments of pension on a continuing basis and
also incorrect charges for contributory service and requested the Auditor
General to keep parliament informed regarding the progress being made.

When we discussed this on May 26, I advised the committee that I intended
to keep parliament informed on the progress being made in remedying this
situation. As little time has elapsed since Mr. Bryce introduced the changes I
have just mentioned, I would have no further comments to make at this stage,
unless Mr. Bryce has something he would like to say to the committee on the
progress that he is making.

Mr. BrRYCE: Mr. Chairman, action has been taken to deal with the situation
''that was discussed last December. I have not brought along a detailed report in
this regard but if the committee would like to have a report I suggest that
Mr. Balls, the comptroller of the treasury, might report at a suitable time in
respect of measures that he has put in hand to deal with this situation. I think
the committee will find that they are going ahead and that they will be effective.
I think that it would be best on the whole for the committee to leave this and
consider it when the accounts for this current year are before the committee.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): Can you not make any general observation
regarding improvements that are going to take place? This seems to be quite a
serious problem.

Mr. Bryce: It is a serious matter.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): I think the members of this committee should
like to know that it has been corrected.

Mr. BrYCE: The situation is being corrected but it takes time to correct this
sort of thing. I think it was evident during discussions last December that what
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is required is trained staff who can handle all these very complicated calcula-
tions and handle them accurately, with a suitable internal audit to see that they
have been handled accurately.

Mr. CaMmERON (High Park): Is not one of the key points that Mr. Henderson
referred to the fact that instead of having specific figures of contributions made
by each pensioner all you have is something based on his salary rate which may
not actually correspond with what he is actually contributing? Does that not
represent one of the important factors?

Mr. Bryce: I hesitate to speak in this regard from memory.

Mr. CLark: Certainly there are often errors made both in respect of contri-
butions and salaries, but it is ultimately salary that involves the important
portion.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): I think the situation is due largely to an
improper accounting system and I should like to know that a proper accounting
system is not only being considered but actually in operation.

Mr. Bryce: Mr. Balls is revising it. It is really a record keeping system
which is at issue, and this is being revised and included to satisfy the internal
audit system which is being applied.

Mr. CaAMERON (High Park): Why then do we have to wait until next year
in order to find about what is going on now?

Mr. Bryce: If you wish, I am sure Mr. Balls will be glad to come along at
a subsequent meeting and explain it to you.

The CrHAIRMAN: We can discuss this later before the fall. Mr. Bryce said
last year that steps were being taken to start with, and we may hear Mr. Balls
on this matter later.

Mr. HALES: There is a notation here that the salary payments are made by
crown corporation employees who are in the superannuation fund, but there
has not been a list of their payments at the central office. Has this been corrected
as of this date?

Mr. BryceE: I am sorry. I should know the answer to that, but I do not.
I am sorry that I cannot tell you.

Mr. McMiLLaN: Did contributions from erown corporations go into this
fund during the years when they said nothing went in from the government?

Mr. Bryce: The crown corporations are not required to make contribu-
tions of the nature we were discussing. Theirs are matching contributions but
not contributions to meet actuarial deficiencies.

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Long may have something to add.

Mr. Lowng: I was trying to follow Mr. Hale’s question. I am not sure I have
the two questions. Some crown corporations are covered by the superannuation
fund and they do make contributions to the fund.

Mr. McMiLLan: Did they make contributions to this particular fund in
these particular years?

Mr. Long: Oh, yes. I think the problem was whether anything was being
done to check the reports made by the crown corporations to the superannuation
branch. I have not got this from the superannuation branch, but we do audit
the crown corporations, and I heard from one of the financial officers that the
superannuation branch had asked for quite a lot of information going back
over the past three years. I think this would indicate that the matter has been
taken in hand by the superannuations’ branch.

The CHAIRMAN: Might we go on to the next item now dealing with super-
annuations?

Mr. HENDERSON: I now refer to paragraph 54 of my 1963 report.
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The CHAIRMAN: Now paragraph 54:

54. Public Service Superannuation Act—questionable decisions.
Three instances were noted in which evidence of doubtful value was
accepted as the basis for administrative decisions. In one of these instances
there was a resulting reduction of $4,800 in the cost of elective service to
a contributor who had retired. In the two other instances contributors
were able to elect to pay for service on the basis of the rate of salary
received on first appointment to the public service after world war II
and the rate of contributions then in effect, rather than on the basis of
current rates of salary and contributions—the difference in the cost of the
service amounting in one case to $11,200 and in the other to $8,600. This
was made possible by an amendment to the Public Service Superannua-
tion Act in 1960 and an amendment to the regulations in 1961. The
amendment to the act reads as follows:

30. (7) The governor in council may make regulations pre-
seribing, in the case of a contributor who in the opinion of the
Minister was one of a class of persons who, pursuant to erroneous
advice received by one or more persons of that class, from a person
in the public service whose ordinary duties included the giving of
advice as to the counting of service under this act or the Super-
annuation Act, that a period of service of such a person before the
time he became a contributor thereunder could not be counted by
him under the said act, failed to elect under the said act within the
time prescribed therefor to pay for that service, the circumstances
under which and the manner and time in which the contributor may
elect to pay for that service, and the circumstances under which and
the terms and conditions (including conditions as to interest) upon
which any such election made by him to pay for that service, or any
election - made by him under paragraph (b) of subsection (1) of
section 5 to pay for that service as a period of service described in
clause (F) of sub-paragraph (iii) of that paragraph, shall be deemed
to have been made by him under this act or the Superannuation Act,
as the case may be, within the time prescribed therefore by the
said act.

The three contributors (who were considered as constituting a ‘“class’)
had not elected, on permanent appointment to the public service during
the years 1949 to 1952, to pay for war service, and claims subsequently
that they had been misinformed as to their eligibility to elect. It could
not be substantiated from departmental records that erroneous informa-
tion had, in fact, been given in these cases. The superannuation branch
accepted a departmental officer’s affidavit, taken in 1961, to the effect
that he “likely” gave incorrect information to one of the contributors in
1950. A personal affidavit was accepted from one of the others and the
third contributor was included in the “class” because, in previous corre-
spondence, he had made the statement that he was ineligible to elect.
Another case is that of a contributor to the superannuation account
who ceased active duty on September 30, 1959 and who was certified
by the Department of National Health and Welfare in May 1960 as
being permanently disabled. Pending the result of an attempt to have
the contributor’s wife appointed administrator of his affairs, action was
not immediately taken to commence payment of an annuity under the
provisions of the Public Service Superannuation Act. On August 1, 1961
the superannuation branch received a notice of termination of employ-
ment, effective July 5, 1960, which stated that retiring leave had been
granted from June 1 to July 5, 1960. The treasury board, on October 3,
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having been informed that the contributor had entered hospital for
domiciliary care on June 1, 1960 and had become entitled to an annuity
when he retired from the public service on July 5, 1960, designated the
wife as recipient of the annuity payable to her husband. In April 1962
the superannuation branch accepted a second notice of termination of
employment which showed the date of termination as July 15, 1960 (one
day after the coming into force of an amendment to the Public Service
Superannuation Act which provides automatic continuation of death
benefit coverage and for the calculation of annuities on the basis of a
six-year rather than a ten-year average salary). As a result, death bene-
fit coverage of $3,750 was reinstated and the annuitant’s pension was
recalculated and increased by $175 per annum.

Mr. HENDERSON: This comment in my 1963 report on page 27 was left until
Mr. Bryce could attend the committee.

As you will see from this note, the regulations surrounding the adminis-
tration of the Public Service Superannuation Act are, to say the least, very
involved, and we were concerned in noting these three instances in which
evidence of doubtful value was accepted as the basis for administrative
decisions. In one of these cases there was a resulting reduction of $4,800 in
the cost of elective service to a contributor who had retired, while in the other
two instances contributors were able to elect to pay for service on the basis
of the rate of salary received on first appointment to the public service after
world war II and the rate of contributions then in effect, rather than on the
basis of current rates of salary and contributions, with the result that there was
a difference in the cost of the service of $11,200 in one case and in the other of
$8,600. I deal with a further case in the last paragraph of this note on page 28.

These regulations are extraordinarily involved and I am sure that mem-
bers will appreciate the importance of their administration. I discussed these
cases with Mr. Bryce and he may have something he would like to add to them.

Mr. BRYCE: As is evident here, in 1960, parliament approved the principle of
what was done here when they authorized an amendment to the act. Parliament
leaves it to the opinion of the minister whether the person is one of a class who
received erroneous advice and therefore can take advantages of what is provided
here. The minister must use officials to try to determine whether in fact such
people did receive erroneous advice. As you can imagine, it is not easy to get
conclusive evidence of matters of this kind, especially about erroneous advice
which was alleged to have been given orally years before when someone con-
sulted a person whose duties included the giving of advice about counting his
service under this act. I think the department in dealing with these cases some
years ago has done as fair and honest an appraisal of the evidence as can be
done from the evidence that is available.

Obviously a substantial amount in relation to the persons concerned hinges
on these decisions, and they have tried to take whatever measures were possible
to check on whether it can be confirmed that they received erroneous advice or
whether it is likely that they might have received erroneous advice. Perhaps the
whole thing is in its nature very difficult to ascertain, but since parliament put
the provision in the law, then we must do our best to administer it in a fair and
honest way, and that is what we have tried to do. Those are the first three cases
here. I do not know if there is anything more. I have a few details about the
particular claims, but I do not think they are very germane. The problem was
that we have to act on whatever evidence can be found, and in some cases this
was evidence in the form of affidavits from people about what they did or might
have done when giving erroneous advice earlier.
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The CHAIRMAN: I suppose under the sanction or provision for making regu-
lations, if you come to the conclusion that there was a tightening of regulations,
you may recommend that the regulations be changed to conform to what your
experience has been.

Mr. BryceE: That is right. The governor in council may make regulations
prescribing the class. Then the minister has to decide whether the individual
falls within that class of people who have received erroneous advice.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions?

Mr. BrYCE: I am prepared to speak about the other case covered in the
final paragraph if you wish me to do so.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, if you would, please.

Mr. Bryce: This is a different kind of problem. This is a question of when
this poor fellow who became permanently disabled left the service. We have
looked into the facts of this case. Perhaps I might read a few sentences to try
to give you the facts. Firstly, a termination notice was received by the super-
annuations branch from the Department of National Defence on August 1,
1961, giving the date of termination of this chap’s service as being July 5, 1960.
Pension was paid on that basis. Secondly, an amended termination notice was
received by the superannuations branch in April, 1962, changing that termina-
tion date as the Auditor General suggests here, to July 15, 1960; in other
words, ten days later.

However, the superannuations branch did not amend the pension to reflect
that date and did not accept the second notice of termination. In fact, from the
evidence which it had, it questioned the dates given by the department as to the
termination, the one that the Auditor General referred to here. Discussions
took place between the superannuations branch and the Department of National
Defence and as a result the department issued a third termination notice finally
establishing the date of termination of this man’s service as being July 21,
1961, that is, practically a year later.

The nature of the evidence they went on in fact was the date of the docu-
ment in which the Department of National Defence first said that this man was
off duty or had ceased to work, and that document was dated July 20, 1961.
However it purported to strike him off strength nearly a year earlier, on
July 5, 1960. These things reflecting on the termination of the man’s salary, or
of the man’s service, they felt were not done in a legal and proper way. It was
within this consideration that the conclusion was reached that effectively he
had been removed from service on July 20, 1961.

Mr. WincH: May I ask one question which must be in the minds of all of
us? Could you give us some explanation of how, over a period of one year, a
department of government does not know what was the date on which a
man stopped his service?

Mr. BrYCE: It is not a case of not knowing who is at work. This poor chap
was disabled.

Mr. WincH: It was done on a humanitarian basis?

Mr. Bryce: He was disabled and was not working. He was on sick leave
without pay.

Mr. WincH: Following his service being terminated, did something happen
after that date when he was on sick leave which brought about his disablement?

Mr. BryYcE: No, I think he became disabled earlier.

Mr. WiNcH: Prior to being terminated?

Mr. Bryce: That is right. He was on sick leave without pay. For the pur-
poses of pay, a thing like that is not important because he was on leave with-
out pay. But a person on sick leave without pay is entitled to contribute to the

superannuation fund. So we continued to receive contributions from him. But
21232—4}
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when it was necessary to decide at which date he ceased to be on sick leave
without pay, and should be regarded as having gone on pension, it was this
date that was in dispute. So all the facts are not exactly as the Auditor
General determined here, and what it amounted to was that there was a dispute
about when he in fact went on sick leave without pay to retirement. It was
not a matter of a few days that brought him under the benefits noted below.
It was a matter of a whole year or more which elapsed before the department
took formal action necessary to strike him off strength.

The CHAIRMAN: Have you any questions, Mr. Cameron?

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): I shall waive my questions.

The CHAIRMAN: I think we shall have to come back this evening. I had
hoped that we could conclude with Mr. Bryce today. However there are a lot
of matters he is still interested in, and I hope we can meet promptly at 8
o’clock. Before you go let me say that we hope to meet tomorrow at 3.30 in
camera in order to consider our interim report. The clerk will be sending out
notices, and the steering committee will meet at 3 o’clock. However the main
committee meeting will be at 3.30 to consider making up our fourth interim
report to the house. We shall adjourn now until 8.00 p.m. tonight in the same
place and I hope we can get started promptly on time.

EVENING SITTING
TUESDAY, July 21, 1964.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, I see a quorum. We shall resume where we left
off. Before going on with paragraph 55 of the 1963 report Mr. Winch has a point
he wishes to raise. We will just deal with it, and then call upon Mr. Henderson.

Mr. WincH: I appreciate the opportunity of raising this point immediately.
It is one which I have never known to come up before, and I feel it should
receive come clarification. This committee has to rely to a very great extent
upon the report of the Auditor General. It is understandable that there may be
challenges of his report on his interpretation, of his views, or of his recom-
mendations. But I think it is rather an astonishing situation, and I have never
known it to happen before, when just before we adjourned the deputy minister
of finance said ‘I challenge the figures of the Auditor General.” When we have
the situation where the Auditor General’s figures are challenged, I feel I just
cannot let that statement stand the way it was made. I feel, in view of the
importance of the principle, we should ask Mr. Bryce to enlarge a little on
why he challenges the figures given in the Auditor General’s statement, and
then perhaps there might be something from Mr. Henderson himself. It is a
point of sufficient importance, in my view, that it should be raised.

The CHAIRMAN: I am sure that both Mr. Bryce and Mr. Henderson will
comment and enlarge upon the matter.

Mr. Bryce: What I was thinking of was not the figures, which would be
more significant for an auditor, but rather his saying that the superannuation
branch accepted the second notice of termination. They received a second notice
of termination but they did not accept it. They took it up with the department

and got the department to issue a third one. I think it is the word “accepted”,
which raised the question.

Mr. WincH: I could have got it wrong, but I thought it was something which
was challenged which had to do with figures, or something which had occurred
that had to do with them.

Mr. HENDERSON: I do not recollect any figures being questioned, but Mr.
Bryce is perfectly correct when he said that he thought there had been a worng
choice of words in the last section of paragraph 54 about questionable decisions
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under the Pension Act. I would be pleased to explain this because we looked
into the situation after we adjourned this afternoon. My officers and I seek to be
as completely accurate as we possibly can in our presentation of the facts in
our reports, and I would have to apologize to the committee for the error in
this note. I should point out that the error did not materially change the circum-
stances of the case, because the text of the note here was shown to the Depart-
ment of Finance for checking of the facts before my report was printed.

With the permission of the committee, I would like to read into the
record two small changes which will now make this paragraph factually
correct. In the twelfth line the word ‘“accepted” should have been ‘“‘received”,
so that the sentence would read “In April, 1962, the superannuation branch
received a second notice of termination . . .” Then, as the second last sentence
in the paragraph the following should have been included ‘“Subsequently the
date of July 21, 1961, was accepted as the date of separation.” These changes
do not materially alter the facts as originally given. The point to note is that a
civil servant who ceased duty in September, 1959, was certified in May, 1960
as being permanently disabled and was granted an annuity with effect from
July 6, 1960, which effective date was later changed to July 20, 1961. In the
meantime the Public Services Superannuation Act had been amended to
provide automatic continuation of death benefit coverage and calculation of
the annuity on a six year rather than on a ten year average salary.

Mr. WincH: I understood that the acceptance meant figures.

The CHAIRMAN: I think this point was one dealing with some figures about
which Mr. Henderson had been questioned, and he said they had been obtained
through the superannuation branch. I do not think the figures were questioned.
I think it was simply a question of where he had obtained the figures.

Mr. HENDERSON: On the figure of $160,000,000 that was referred to, Dr.
McMillan questioned the correctness of those figures, or asked if Mr. Bryce—
no, I believe it was Mr. Lloyd Francis—who suggested that my figures might
not be correct, or words to that effect, or he questioned Mr. Bryce. I did point
out to Mr. Francis that the figures were figures of the Department of Finance
itself. In fact they got them, I did not.

The CHAIRMAN: I think the point has been reconciled by Mr. Henderson’s
statement to Mr. Winch. Let us go on now to paragraphs 55, 56, and 57 in due
course, as follows:

55. Pension increased by payment of two salaries. In 1951 a legal
opinion was given to the effect that where a civil servant on retiring
leave obtains employment with a crown corporation so that, although
he may be an employee of the crown, he is not paid out of the con-
solidated revenue fund, there appears to be no objection to the dupli-
cate payment of salary.

In a recent case, the receipt of two salaries for 55 days during a
period of retiring leave and simultaneous employment with a crown
corporation, resulted in an increase of $120 per annum in the amount
of pension paid under the provisions of the Public Service Superannua-
tion Act (if the contributor had been re-employed for the entire 26
weeks of his retiring leave, his pension would have been increased by
approximately $400 per annum).

The superannuation branch obtained legal advice before approving
payment of the increased pension. If the superannuation account is to
be protected from such cases in future, it would seem necessary to
amend the Public Service Superannuation Act.

56. Amount payable to the superannuation account deleted from
the accounts. It is provided in subsection (7) of section 7 of the Public
Service Superannuation Act that where any amount payable by a
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contributor into the superannuation account by reservation from salary
or otherwise has become due, but remains unpaid at the time of his
death, the amount with interest may be recovered, in accordance with
the regulations, from any allowance payable under the Act to the widow
and children of the contributor. Subsection (6) of section 5 fo the regu-
lations states:

“Where at the death of a contributor any amount payable by
him into the superannuation account is due and payable and is
not paid, the minister shall, if the amount with interest as provided
in this section is not forthwith paid by the personal representative
of the contributor, demand payment from the widow and children,
or one or more of them, of the contributor, to whom an allowance
is payable under the act and if the amount which is due and
payable with interest to the date of demand is not paid, it may be
recovered at any time and, without prejudice to any other recourse
available to Her Majesty with respect to the recovery thereof,
recovery may be made at any time by retention, by way of deduc-
tion or set-off out of the allowance payable to the widow and
children, or one or more of them,

(a) in a lump sum immediately, or

(b) in instalments for a term specified by the minister,

as the recipient elects, with interest at the rate of four per cent per
annum.”

A department took exception to the application of this regulation
in the case of a deceased employee who had been undercharged for a
period of elective service, and on December 20, 1962 the governor
in council approved a recommendation of the treasury board, pursuant
to section 23(1) of the Financial Administration Act, that the Depart-
ment of Finance be authorized to delete from the accounts an amount
of $521 that had been payable into the superannuation account by the
late contributor. The action taken in this case was contrary to the
public service superannuation regulations and, as far as we are aware, is
unprecedented.

If it is found desirable to relieve a person from paying into the
superannuation account any amount that is legally payable thereto, it
is the audit office view that an appropriation should be provided to
reimburse the account.

57. Inadequate payment into superannuation account by crown
corporation. The employees of the Canadian Overseas Telecommunica-
tion Corporation were brought under the Public Service Superannua-
tion Act with effect from November 1, 1961, pursuant to Vote 520 of
Appropriation Act No. 5, 1961 and the regulatinns approved by the
governor in council on October 26, 1961. On March 18, 1963 the regu-
lations were amended by order in council P.C. 1963-441 to provide for
payment out of the superannuation account of the pensions of four
former employees of the corporation who had been retired under another
pension plan. The department of insurance had calculated, in accord-
ance with the interest and mortality tables used for valuation under
the Public Service Superannuation Act, that an amount of $200,013
would be required to be paid into the superannuation account in respect
of the pension liability, but payment by the corporation of $184,000
(the cost of purchasing the four immediate annuities at commercial
rates) was accepted, with the approval of the treasury board, on March
31, 1963. As a consequence, the actuarial deficiency in the superannua-
tion account at March 31, 1963 was increased by some $16,000.
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Mr. HENDERSON: Paragraph 55 deals with pension increased by payment of
two salaries.

This is another comment which was left over until Mr. Bryce could appear
before the committee. It illustrates a case where a civil servant on retiring leave
obtained employment with a Crown corporation. Reference is made to a legal
opinion to the effect that where a civil servant on retiring leave obtains employ-
ment with a crown corporation so that, although he may be an employee of the
crown he is not paid out of the consolidated revenue fund, there appears to be no
objection to the duplicate payment of salary. In this case, the receipt of two
salaries for 55 days resulted in an increase of $120 a year in the amount of
pension paid under the Public Service Superannuation Act.

It seemed to my officers and me that if the superannuation account is to be
protected from such cases in future, an amendment is necessary to the Public
Service Superannuation Act.

Mr. LEBLaNc: What is Mr. Bryce’s opinion?

Mr. BryYCE: I agree.

Mr. LEBLANC: Then that settles the matter.

The CHAIRMAN: That is surely making rapid progress. Now, paragraph 56.

Mr. HENDERSON: This case deals with the amount payable to the super-
annuation account deleted from the accounts. This represents another case
which was left over pending Mr. Bryce’s appearance before the committee.

In this instance, it is provided under the Public Service Superannuation Act
that where any amount payable by a contributor to the superannuation account
by reservation from salary or otherwise has become due but remains unpaid at
the time of his death, the amount with interest may be recovered from any
allowance payable under the act to the widow and children of the contributor,
and I quoted the pertinent subsection of the regulations. However, a department
took exception to this regulation in the case of a deceased employee and in due
course the treasury board, under section 23 (1) of the Financial Administration
Act, authorized the Department of Finance to delete from the accounts the
amount of $521 that had been due to the superannuation account by the deceased
employee. As I say in my note, this action was unprecedented. Again, if a con-
tributor is to be relieved from paying into the superannuation account any
amount that is legally due, we are of the opinion that an appropriation should
be provided to reimburse the account.

In other words, it should be made good from another source.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Bryce, have you any comments to make on that?

Mr. BrycE: This action was taken by the treasury board and the governor
in council for compassionate reasons on the recommendation of the Secretary
of State for External Affairs at the time. The effect of it was, as intended, to
relieve the mother of three young children, who was suddenly left a widow by
the death of a clerk serving abroad, of the need to pay back with interest a
claim of the crown for arrears of contributions amounting to approximately
five months’ pension which arose from an error made some years before by the
superannuation branch. There seems to be no question of the authority of the
ministers concerned to exercise the judgment they did in making an exception
of this case. Now obviously, whenever you make an exception, you are worried
by whether there are other exceptions, but the ministers made this decision
and it seems to be within their power to make it. I do not know that there is
much more I can say about it.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any comments from any members?

Mr. LEBLANC: Mr. Henderson, how would you suggest that the amount be
reimbursed to rectify the situation?
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Mr. HENDERSON: If you take a payment like that out of a fund, the money
should be put back in or else it goes into this accumulating deficiency. which
we have been discussing this afternoon. I would have no question about the
propriety of approving it on compassionate grounds; that is beside the point.
However, when you take things of this nature out of the fund, you should put
something back. That is why I suggested an appropriation.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other comments?

Mr. HALES: Does this occur very often? Would it be worth while setting this
up?

Mr. HENDERSON: As I mentioned, Mr. Hales, this was an unprecedented case
which we came across in the course of our work.

Mr. Bryce: I might just say that this would normally be picked up in the
valuations of the fund along with other reasons that cause it to be a bit short.
One could have a separate appropriation, of course, the main purpose of which
would be to bring it to parliament’s attention and require the ministers to justify
it. It is well within the errors of the actuarial estimates. If there were many,
they would be picked up and we would have to make good any deficiencies.

Mr. SoutHAM: My suggestion is that we commend the Auditor General for
being so accurate and keen in his work that he detected this isolated case and
for appealing to us to deal with possible exceptions in the future.

Mr. ForBES: Would this show up in the next year’s supplementary estimates?

Mr. HENDERSON: It will not show up now because they did not put in an
appropriation for it. This is just a suggestion that we advanced to show how it
could be made good. We have a somewhat identical case coming up in paragraph

57, I might say, where we have an item of $16,000 that would have to be made
good.

Mr. WincH: Let us deal with paragraph 55 along with 57.

The CHAIRMAN: There is also paragraph 56. We might as well go on to
paragraph 57.

Mr. HENDERSON: This refers to an inadequate payment into the superannua-
tion account by a crown corporation. We left this one over, pending Mr. Bryce’s
appearance before the committee. You will note here how a crown corpora-
tion could have purchased the necessary four immediate annuities at commercial
rates for the sum of $184,000 when it appears, according to the Department of
Insurance, that an amount of $200,013 would have been required to have been
paid into the superannuation account in respect of pension liability based on
the interest and mortality tables that are used for valuation under the Public
Service Superannuation Act. As a consequence the actuarial deficiency in the
superannuation account was increased by this one transaction by around $16,000.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Bryce, have you any comment on this?

Mr. BrycE: Yes, sir. This may be a similar case, as Mr. Henderson said, as
regards the effect on the fund, but that is the only way in which it is similar.
There is nothing at all compassionate about this case. This was just taken as
a hard headed business deal. The corporation could have bought annuities for
these people from someone else. We chose to receive this amount in the super-
annuation fund and granted them the benefits under the superannuation fund.
The money received from the corporation was in effect borrowed at a lower
cost than the cost of borrowing on the market by the government at the time.
The deficiency will be made up by a government contribution in due course,
and the action in doing so is in effect paying a part of the cost of borrowing
these funds over and above the four per cent rate credit on the amounts paid
into the fund in the first place. The over-all effect will have been to provide
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an estimated net saving for the government because it was cheaper for us
to borrow money this way, by giving an annuity in return for it, than it would
have been to borrow the $180,000 on the market.

The CHAIRMAN: You will notice the keen interest when you mentioned
savings to the government. The committee is always concerned with this.

Mr. Bryce: It is a good thing that the Auditor General spotted this. We
only pay four per cent on the superannuation fund, we do not change the
interest rate. The market rates vary from time to time. Because of that you
can get situations like this where it is well in our financial interest to take a
contract like this from one of our companies even though it gives rise technically
to a deficiency in the fund. By filling in that deficiency we in effect pay a
portion of the interest over and above the four per cent, which is equivalent to
what a private insurance company would sell the annuity for.

The CHAIRMAN: Does any member of the committee wish to ask any
questions on this?

Mr. HENDERSON: This transaction does point up the fact that the super-
annuation account is a more costly pension fund than private funds.

Mr. BrRYCE: More costly? Oh, Mr. Henderson, please. It does not point that
up at all. It points up that we are not paying commercial interest rates on it
at the moment. We credit an interest rate to the fund a four per cent, which
remains invariable over a long period, and it means that at a time like this
we are providing annuities at a lower interest rate than are commercial
companies.

Mr. WincH: What you are getting somebody is losing.

Mr. BryYcE: In this particular transaction we simply offered the annuity on
the same basis as a commercial company would have offered it at the time. That
was on a basis which we calculated was lower than the cost of borrowing funds
on the market at the time.

Mr. HarLEs: What is your experience with other crown corporations? Are
they using private firms for their superannuation or are the majority of them
using the government plan?

Mr. BRYCE: The majority of them are using the government plan. Some of
the major ones have their own. The C.N.R. has its own pension fund and the
Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation has its own.

Mr. HALES: What about Polymer Corporation?
Mr. Bryce: It has its own pension fund.

Mr. HALES: I would think that Polymer, which is one of the best operated

" erown corporations I can think of, must have given this very close study and

must have decided that it would be advantageous to them to deal privately
rather than go in with the government.

Mr. BrycE: I would not say it is necessarily so. Polymer, as a matter of
deliberate policy, does not like to be involved any more with the government
than it can avoid. It likes to deal with everything on a commercial basis,
including pension funds and other matters.

Mr. HALES: I have reservations on that. I would think that Polymer would
give this a very close scrutiny before they would go either way, and I would
think that after their investigations and studies they would find that there was
a financial advantage in having a private pension fund.

Mr. Bryce: But you are assuming that we would take them into the super-
annuation fund?

Mr. HALES: If they wanted to come, you would take them.
Mr. BBYCcE: I am not sure that that assumption is warranted.
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Mr. HaLEs: Well, perhaps we could ask Polymer to give us a report in
respect of whether they looked into your superannuation before they decided
which one they would take and why they decided to go into the one they did?

Mr. Bryce: This was some years ago.

Mr. HENDERSON: Many of the private corporations have their own outside
funds. Eldorado has its own; C.B.C. has its own—that is a trustee plan which
I think we discussed when they were before the committee. The C.B.C. is
getting a particularly good return on its investment at the present time and
has quite a portfolio. Several have turned over their investments to the Depart-
ment of Finance in exchange for joining. I think Canadian Arsenals, if I recall
it correctly, was one. C.O.T.C. is in the public service plan now. This was
part of its switch.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on this item? I see we
have one more item under the heading superannuation matters.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): I am wondering why the Canadian Overseas
Telecomunications Corporation did not buy its annuities itself and save the
fund to the extent of $16,000.

Mr. BrycE: I do not know the situation from their point of view. However,
I assume that when they found the government was willing to sell it to them
at the same price as would the commercial company, they were quite pre-
pared to do it on that basis.

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): It does not look like a very sound explanation
to me. Why should they do that and take a loss of $16,000 on the actuarial
fund?

Mr. BrRYCE: When we put up the $16,000 we are still well ahead.

Mr. CamerON (High Park): You could have done it the other way and
would not have had this comment from Mr. Henderson.

Mr. Bryce: If I can earn the interest, I am glad to do it.

The CHAIRMAN: Even with Mr. Henderson’s comment.
Item No. 58 reads:

58. Reciprocal transfer agreements for superannuation benefits. Sec-
tion 28 of the Public Service Superannuation Act authorizes the Minister
of Finance, with the consent of the governor in council and in terms
approved by the treasury board, to enter into an agreement with any
public service employer (e.g., a provincial government) for the transfer
of pension credits when an employee leaves the service of one employer
to become employed by the other.

In the execution of agreements, it has usually been found that the
terms of the Public Service Superannuation Act require a higher rate of
contribution than those established under the other plans, and that the
amounts available for transfer from the superannuation account are in
excess of the arounts required by public service employers. While there
is provision in the act for payment by the minister to a public service
employer of the amount to be transferred in accordance with a recipro-
cal transfer agreement (employee’s contributions, government’s match-
ing contributions and interest) there is no provision for a return of any
excess amount of contributions to the employee. Nevertheless, a common
provision in a typical reciprocal transfer agreement reads:

. and any excess amount held in respect of the employee and
not required to be paid by the federal minister to the province will
be dealt with, subject to the federal act, in accordance with an
agreement between the federal minister and the employee.

We have been informed by the superannuation branch that “this
provision is read as an agreement between the new employer and the
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crown whereby the crown, on behalf of the new employer, deals with
certain moneys that would normally form part of the transfer. In other
words, the crown is empowered to transfer the whole amount, but as
the second employer does not require the whole sum under the new
pension plan he agrees to the crown paying a portion of the total
directly to the transferred employee”.

It is our opinion that the Public Service Superannuation Act should
be amended to provide for the disposition of any excess amounts of con-
tributions in these reciprocal transfer cases.

Mr. HENDERSON: Paragraph 58 deals with reciprocal transfer agreements
for superannuation benefits. Again, this paragraph was stood over pending
Mr. Bryce’s appearance before the committee.

It is explained here how a section of the Public Service Superannuation
Act authorizes the Minister of Finance, with the consent of the governor in
council, and in terms approved by the treasury board, to enter into an agree-
ment with any public service employer (e.g., a provincial government) for the
transfer of pension credits when an employee leaves the service of one employer
to become employed by the other. It has been found that the terms of the
Public Service Superannuation Act require a higher rate of contribution than
those established under the other plans, and that the amounts available for trans-
fer from the superannuation account are in excess of the amounts required by
public service employers. While there is provision in the act for payment by
the minister to a public service employer of the amount to be transferred in
accordance with a reciprocal transfer agreement, for example, employee’s
contributions, government’s matching contributions and interest, there is no
provision for a return of any excess amount of contributions to the employee.
Nevertheless, a common provision in a typical reciprocal transfer agreement
provides that any excess held in respect of the employee, not required to be
paid by the federal minister to the province, was to be dealt with, subject
to the federal act, in accordance with an agreement between the minister
and the employee.

The superannuation branch read this provision as an agreement between
the new employer and the crown whereby the crown, on behalf of the new
employer, would deal with certain moneys that would normally form part of
the transfer. In other words, the crown would transfer the whole amount, but
as the second employer would not require the whole sum under the new
pension plan, he would agree to the crown paying a portion of the total
directly to the transferred employee.

It is our view that the Public Service Superannuation Act should be
amended to provide for the disposition of any excess amounts of contributions
in these reciprocal transfer cases.

Perhaps Mr. Bryce would wish to comment on that.

Mr. BryCE: Well, Mr. Chairman, this really is a very technical legal
point. We have been assured that the course we follow, though somewhat in-
tricate, is legal as well as practical and equitable. If the committee feels it is
worth while to amend the law to make it clearer, we can bring forward an
amendment when the act is next open. However, if you would be satisfied
just to take note of the fact that we do this and that it seems to be the
practical way to deal with it, then we would not need to make the act any more
complicated than it is. I do not think Mr. Henderson has any objection to the
substance of the transaction.

Mr. HENDERSON: That is correct; I do not have.

The CHAIRMAN: Does anyone have any comment?

Mr. CAMERON (High Park): What happens when the reverse situation
prevails, when they make a lower contribution than is required in the federal
plan?
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Mr. Bryce: I take it that this is where they are going out.
Mr. CaMmEeRON (High Park): What about when they are coming in?

Mr. BrYCE: There are quite different provisions there. I cannot give them
from memory. I suppose the reverse can happen where an employee is going
out into a private plan which requires a higher contribution, and in that
case he would have to make up the difference himself.

Mr. CaMERON (High Park): I mean when they are coming from a plan
which has a lower contribution into your scheme which requires a higher
contribution?

Mr. Bryce: He would have to find the additional himself.

Mr. STENsON: If a person leaves the employment completely, can he draw
all his money when he leaves? Perhaps this does not pertain to this matter.

Mr. Bryce: If he is not going to another pension plan, then the law provides
various benefits which he can get under various conditions and subject to

various conditions. I am not expert enough in this that I can give them to you
off the cuff.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further comments on this paragraph? This
pretty well finishes all the matters dealing with the superannuation fund?

Mr. HENDERSON: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Looking back in the 1962 report, I see one item in respect
of the town of Oromocto.

Mr. HENDERSON: Yes. We might take it in that order, if you prefer.
The CHAIRMAN: We will proceed in whatever order you wish.

Mr. HENDERSON: The one I have is paragraph 66 in respect of interest
charges on loans to the National Capital Commission.

The CHAIRMAN: Item No. 66 reads:

66. Interest charges on loans to the National Capital Commission.
In last year’s report (paragraph 62) it was stated that it seemed unreal-
istic to put the National Capital Commission in the position where it was
required to pay interest on loans obtained from the government of Canada
for the purpose of acquiring property in the national capital region, when
funds to meet the interest payments themselves must be provided through
parliamentary appropriations.

Up to March 31, 1962 loans totalling $35,100,000 had been made to
the commission and its predecessor, the federal district commission (being
an increase of $9,800,000 during the year under review) for the purpose
of acquiring property in the national capital region. Of this amount,
$3,622,000 had been repaid, leaving a balance of $31,478,000. The loans are
secured by promissory notes bearing interest payable semi-annually at
rates of from 4 per cent to 5% per cent per annum, and repayment is to be
made when the property is ‘“used for the purposes of the commission or
disposed of”. Repayments of $3,553,000 in 1961-62 included $3,200,000
received from the Department of Public Works on account of the cost
of 4,400 acres of land allocated for the use of the Animal Research Insti-
tute of the Department of Agriculture.

Interest payments by the commission in 1961-62 amounted to
$1,505,000 and were credited to revenue by the Department of Finance as
“return on investments”. Of this amount, $201,000 came from net income
from rentals and interest on bank deposits and $1,304,000 was provided
by a parliamentary appropriation (vote 376) for payment of interest to
the receiver general.
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The following is a summary of property acquisitions as at March 31,
1962, financed by means of loans provided to the commission:

T AR e A R I b LD (e R $23,375,000
CIUEBRSWENVE T gl nons L L D i A A e 3,009,000
Bitaws: RIVer ParkWay | | e« s b S eV ISRt - 870,000
Fastern  PapRWay 650 500 0 o L i i e et 804,000
Other propertiestddni I JiL 7 o A5 S s 2,520,000

$30,578,000

The properties in the greenbelt are mostly farm properties which are
unlikely to yield anything approaching sufficient rental to pay interest
on the sums paid to acquire them and, by executive direction, they may
not be sold. As the lands acquired for the Queensway, the parkways and
other projects are put into use in the next few years, appropriations will
be required to provide funds through the national capital fund in order
to pay off the amounts of the loans made with respect to such lands.

We remain of the opinion that, since outlays on such properties are
expenditures of the crown rather than income-producing investment,
parliament should be asked to appropriate funds in the years in which
properties are to be acquired, instead of leaving the expenditure involved
in the repayment of loans to be absorbed in future years.

Mr. HENDERSON: The subject matter of this comment was discussed in detail
on December 13, 1963, when Mr. Bryce spoke about it before the committee.

In my 1961 report and again in this paragraph of the 1962 report I stated
that it seemed unrealistic to put the National Capital Commission in the position
where it was required to pay interest on loans obtained from the government of
Canada for the purpose of acquiring property in the national capital region
when funds to meet the interest payments themselves must be provided through
parliamentary appropriations. I went on to say that the properties in the green
belt, for example, are mostly farm properties which are unlikely to yield any-
thing approaching sufficient rental to pay interest on the sums paid to acquire
them and yet, by executive direction, the commission cannot sell them. As the
lands acquired for the Queensway, the parkways and other projects of the com-
mission are put into use in the next few years, appropriations will be required
to provide funds to the commission through the national capital fund in order to
pay off the amounts of the loans made with respect to such lands. I, therefore,
gave it as my opinion that since outlays on such properties are expenditures of
the crown rather than income-producing investments, parliament should be
asked to appropriate funds in the years in which the properties are acquired,
instead of leaving the expenditure involved in the repayment of the loans to be
absorbed in future years.

In his testimony before the committee on December 13, 1963 Mr. Bryce
explained the background of this matter. He pointed out that the commission
buys a good deal of land, not for immediate use but essentially for one of two
reasons: first, to hold pending use because by the nature of its operations it has
to plan and indicate in advance that it is going to acquire property in certain
areas, and that being the case, it has been thought to be prudent and economical
over the years to buy that property when the decision is taken to go ahead with
plans to use it at a future time. He said the second purpose for which it buys
property is to own the property in order to be able to control the use of it.
Hence it was decided years ago that since it was necessary for the commission
to control the use of the land in this way, the government through the commis-

sion should purchase the land and then lease it, thus controlling the property as
owner rather than as a government.
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He said that it was as a result of these two types of operation that the need
for the present arrangement arises. The interest charges are charges for loans
made by the government to the commission to purchase land for either or both
of the two purposes. It was thought that this procedure put the commission
under some pressure to get all the revenue it could out of land while holding it
for these purposes so that each year the commission would have to justify to
treasury board the revenue they are getting from it and the government would
have to justify to parliament the revenues that are being received. The issue, as
he saw it, was whether the purchase of the property should be charged to
expenditures at the time it was acquired or after it was put to use. This discus-
sion is contained on pages 294-300 of the evidence of the 1963 committee.

On December 19, the committee brought down its fourth report, and having
noted that the National Capital Commission remains in the position where it is
required to pay interest on loans obtained from the government of Canada
for the purpose of acquiring property in the national capital region and that
funds to meet the interest payments themselves must be provided through
parliamentary appropriations because the property held does not yield suf-
ficient revenue, pointed out that parliamentary appropriations will be required
in future to provide further funds to the commission in order to pay off the
amount of the loans made.

In its report the committee took the position that since outlays on proper-
ties such as these are expenditure of the crown, the committee believed it
would be more realistic if parliament were asked to appropriate funds in the
years in which properties which are not to be specifically held for resale
are to be acquired, instead of leaving the expenditure involved in the repay-
ment of loans to be absorbed in future years. Accordingly, it recommended
that the executive review the present practice with the National Capital Com-
mission with a view to placing the financing of the commission on this more
realistic basis.

In reporting to you in my follow-up report of May 15, 1963 on the action
taken on recommendations such as these, I said that I had no information
as to the extent to which the present practice was in fact under review as
recommended by the committee.

I know Mr. Bryce would like to discuss this matter further with the
committee today.

The CHAIRMAN: I understand Mr. Bryce has a general comment on this
problem.

Mr. BRYCE: Yes, Mr. Chairman. I will try to shorten the notes I have
here, but this subject leads us into a more general issue that may be of
interest to the committee as a matter of principle.

First, I should say that the department, the minister and the treasury
board have noted the committee’s recommendations in respect of this matter,
but the recommendations arrived late enough that the estimates for this year
in regard to this matter had been pretty well settled and have come to the
House of Commons as you will have noted in the same form as before. This
should not be taken as evidence that the government is not prepared to con-
sider seriously the committee’s recommendation, which they will be doing
before the next estimates are prepared.

Perhaps I should skip over the history and say that this practice of lending
to the capital commission for these purposes has been approved not only by
this government, and the preceding government but by three parliaments in
dealing with the estimates for which these have been provided both in respect
of loans and the portion of the interest that has to be voted to meet them.
I do not think there is any need to go over the figures because they are in
the Auditor General’s report and he has given the critical ones.
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I should like to say the purposes which governments have had in mind in
financing these acquisitions of property by the commission in the form of loans
rather than capital grants would include, I would say, the following.

(a)

(b)

First, it is done to reflect the fact that the government, through the
commission, was to hold wvaluable marketable property not yet
physically committed to government use. In other words, this
property is not property the government is using for government
purposes, either in the green belt where it is being leased to others,
to control its use, or in other cases where it is acquired in advance
of needs in order to safeguard the price. The lands both in the green
belt and acquired in advance of need for parks, parkways, and
other purposes could be sold in most cases for as much as was
paid for them if the specific decisions were changed or the policy
were changed, and they can be changed if for example parliament
decided that we should give up trying to control the uses of the
land in the green belt, and then it would be feasible to sell the
land which was acquired. Naturally, you would not throw it on the
market at the same time, but various parcels remain valuable land
except that the government has placed a limitation as to the purpose
for which it should be used. By reflecting them as an asset in the
meantime, we are taking account of the fact that they are not yet
incorporated into government capital projects or put to govern-
ment use.

The second purpose of doing this by loan is to show to parliament
and others the cost of holding these assets to control their use or
to acquire them in advance of need, and to get suitable parliamentary
approval year by year for holding them in this way. In other words,
we ask parliament for the funds necessary to keep them in this
condition and restrict their use in the case of the green belt or
hold them in advance of need in the case of the other purpose.
The net amount of interest that has to be voted by parliament is
a measure of the cost of controlling the use of the land in the green
belt year by year, and a proper reflection of the cost being borne
by the public currently for the advantages gained by controlling the
use of this property. Similarly, the cost of holding the land acquired
in advance of need for other purposes reflects the costs of securing
this land in advance as a precaution against an increase in price
thereof. The third reason for doing this by way of loan is to main-
tain appropriate pressure on the National Capital Commission to
secure the best revenue it can from these lands which are available
for rental and also to encourage them to take the interest cost into
account in the acquisition of those properties which are acquired in
advance of need.

These purposes, which I would contend are sensible and serious purposes,
would not be achieved if the policy recommended by the Auditor General
were followed and the lands simply charged to expenditure in the years in
which they were acquired. There would be no occasion in future then to call
parliament’s attention to the cost of holding such lands, and if one can judge
from previous experience, the expenditures of past years on these capital
purposes would be much more likely to be lost sight of than if they are held
in the present way.

The only advantage I can see in his policy is that it would be, in the
committee’s term, “more realistic”, that is, as far as I can understand it, it
would not involve us as showing as an asset something that does not yield
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an interest return without requiring an appropriation for that purpose, or is
not a liquid, or immediately saleable asset.

In other words, the advantage of what is recommended by the Auditor
General is simply that it removes from our statement of assets something whose
quality as an asset is doubtful.

This leads us to the question of what is the proper test to apply to the
assets that should be shown in the government’s accounts as an offset against
the liabilities that are shown there. I think that the Auditor General has
performed a most useful service in raising this issue on this case because it
applies to a number of other cases as well and suggests in my mind that we
should review systematically the principles to be followed in selecting those
assets to be shown on our accounts.

There is considerable history to this subject, but I would not propose to
detain the committee with it tonight. A brief summary of it can be found
on pages 117 and 118 of Volume 1 of the Glassco commission’s report. As indi-
cated there, the inclusion of a statement of assets in our accounts originated
almost immediately after confederation. At that time loans were made to
meet the cost of specific public works and they were so shown in the accounts.
Early in the 1920’s Sir Henry Drayton, as Minister of Finance, initiated a
review of this practice and introduced a radical reform in the system. He
stated:

Assets which are not readily convertible, as the reserve is con-
vertible, or are not interest producing, are not such assets as ought to
be deducted from the gross debt. They are inactive, they are items of
such a character as might well be placed in a suspense account. At any
rate, whatever may be their future value, however great it may be,
they are not assets of such a character as to directly reduce the gross
debt any more than the other capltal accounts of the country ought to
be deducted from it.

This statement of some 40 odd years ago still remains the principal guide in
the selection of assets to be included in our accounts. It excludes all the fixed
assets of the government held for use—land, buildings, equipment, etec. This
is quoted in the public accounts which are under discussion this year in this
committee, on page 16 of volume 1, which is the small blue volume, and we
say there, “since that time, there has been no fundamental change in the basic
structure of the statement or in its main purpose. However, revisions have
been made from time to time to improve the form or manner of presentation,
and it is believed that to a substantial degree the present statement fulfills
the original intention, with consideration being given continually to the
possibility of further improvements.”

In recent years there have been a number of changes in what is included
which do not fit exactly into Sir Henry’s category, which he defined rather
negatively. We now have, as you will have noted, a very large number and
value of assets that we take into our account, as noted on page 168 of the
1963 report, nearly $11 billion, which we deduct from the nearly $25 billion
liabilities, to get our net debt of approximately $14 billion. The great bulk
of these clearly meet Sir Henry’s tests. They include large amounts of cash
and of advances to the exchange fund account, covered by foreign exchange
held in that account, even though there are some narrow margins at times,
as the auditor has pointed out. The largest item, however, now is loans to and
advances in crown corporations about which there can be arguments in detail,
and I would think that there are probably items in there on which we could
have discussions similar to that relating to the National Capital Commission,
because while the interest may be payable it may in a number of cases require
appropriations to make good the deficit thereby incurred or increased.
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In addition, we now have large loans to the governments of other countries,
amounting to something over $1,200 million at March 1963. Other loans and
investments include large amounts of subscriptions and loans to international
organizations, some to provincial governments, some to veterans, and others.
In addition, we have certain deferred charges treated as assets and deducted
from debt although they are essentially a means of deferring until a later
year a charge to an appropriation in somewhat the same way as these arrange-
ments with the National Capital Commission involve a deferment of the charge
in the case of the property being secured in advance of need to be put into a
project in a later year.

As these assets became larger and more varied, the ministers of finance
during and after the war set up a reserve against them which now amounts
to some $546 million. That is shown here in line 12 of the statement, at page
168. This was deliberately not earmarked against any particular asset or
class of assets, but it was intended to allow for the fact that some of them
could not be expected to be realized upon in full or might otherwise fail to
meet in full the tests that ought to be applied. As I remember, the previous
Auditor General used to give us a lot of trouble over not earmarking this
reserve against particular assets. The extensive use of crown companies and
agencies has in particular complicated the situation. An interest-bearing loan
to such a corporation as the National Capital Commission is technically within
Sir Henry’s tests because it is interest-producing, but of course as the Auditor
General has pointed out, these do not appear to be realistic assets if the cor-
poration as a whole is not producing sufficient revenue, without appropriations,
to pay the interest. On the other hand there are managerial reasons for treat-
ing these as loans and not writing them off.

Some observers have felt that the whole effort to select and value certain
of our assets and-show them as an offset to our liabilities is not worth while and
should be abandoned. The Glassco commission, of which of course the previous
Auditor General was a most distinguished member, recommended that “the
statement of assets and liabilities be replaced by a statement accounting for
outstanding debt, direct and indirect, with no reference to net debt”. I am
not too clear just exactly what would be involved in accounting for some of
the direct debt if we tried to trace it to disbursements made to acquire assets.
In any event, however, we now have billions of dollars of assets in cash or the
equivalent of cash, and it seems wrong to disregard that completely. We have
other billions that are fully “revenue producing” and produce a very large
revenue in the form of a return on investments. It seems to me unrealistic to
leave these entirely out of account in presenting our statement of debt.

Moreover, what is equally important, in presenting our budget account
each year, it is helpful to be able to make a distinction between what is
properly to be charged to expenditure and recorded in our budgetary accounts
that way each year and what can properly be treated as a disbursement to
acquire certain types of asset. Without having some asset and liability accounts
we could not make such a distinction in the way we do now, and the result I
think would be a less meaningful picture to the public of our budget position
and more variation from year to year based on rather temporary factors.

The problem that remains, therefore, is to draw the boundary line properly
as to what we should include in our assets for these purposes. We have in
recent years diverged to a modest degree from the tests set up 40 odd years
ago, and in particular in our treatment of loans to.crown companies, of which
the N.C.C. case is perhaps the most vivid.

We believe in many cases, such as this with the National Capital Com-
mission, it is better to make loans to our corporate agencies, to record them in

our books as such, and require the agency to pay interest and repay the loan
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on some basis of principle and in accordance with a contract or law applicable
thereto. We think that that produces a more meaningful statement of accounts
both for us and for the agency and promotes good management. When I say that
I do not mean that it fools anyone. We are thinking here in terms of the
managerial approach, how we want the corporate agencies to behave, and the
responsibility we try to take.

In some cases, such as that of the C.N.R. at the present time, it is desirable
to make recapitalization arrangements where circumstances have changed.
When the legislation proposed for the recapitalization of the C.N.R. comes
along, there will be ample opportunity to discuss this both in principle and in
practice. '

I would suggest that in a later year (I hope not next year in view of all
that has to be done next year) the committee might be prepared to consider a
studied report from the department reviewing in general our practice in
recording assets and liabilities, with proposals for a policy to be followed in
future years.

In this way we can look at this whole picture systematically.
The CHAIRMAN: And we can bring Sir Henry up to date.

Mr. Bryce: Yes. I was surprised to find out we had no enunciated policy
for over 40 years; that is, no general policy. I apologize for that rather lengthy
statement but I thought it would set this N.C.C. case in a rather larger
perspective.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions members of the committee wish
to put at this time? If not, have you a comment to make, Mr. Henderson?

Mr. HENDERSON: Mr. Chairman, I have been very interested in listening
to Mr. Bryce’s statement on this. He has given you a good picture of the back-
ground which led up to the situation that we have today. Now, the loan and
investment concept that he has outlined may well have enabled the government
to control the use of the lands acquired by the commission and by virtue of
annual appropriations for interest on the loans to not only reflect the cost of
carrying this mounting investment but to put an incentive on the commission
to get the best return it could from rentals and so forth.

But I must draw your attention to the fact that the concept also produced
another result over the years and that has been to reduce budgetary expend-
itures which would otherwise have been incurred had the purchase of the land
been financed out of annual budgetary appropriations.

As it is, the only budgetary appropriation we have seen has been for
interest on the loans to enable the N.C.C. to repay it to the government. The
government then takes the interest repayment into its budgetary income. I feel
it is the duty of your auditor to draw your attention to situations like these. Up
to March 31, 1964, taking the latest date, loans totalling $57.1 million have
been made to the N.C.C. and its predecessor. They are up $12.2 million from the
previous year, and of this amount of $57.1 million the National Capital Com-
mission has only paid back $4.1 million, leaving $53 million still outstanding.

And of this $4.1 million that it has paid back, $34 million came from the
Department of Public Works when it bought land in the green belt. The loans
bear interest at various rates from 4 per cent to 53 per cent and repayment is
only to be made by the National Capital Commission when the property is
“used for the purposes of the commission or disposed of”. Capital repayments
in 1963-1964 actually only totalled $119,000.

With acquisition of properties like Lebreton flats, the real estate on Sussex
drive and in centre town for the future construction of government buildings,
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the National Capital Commission has, as I see it, simply become the land
assembly agent for the Department of Public Works in the national capital
region. You will appreciate that if these properties had simply been purchased
by the department directly, the costs presumably would have been treated as
budgetary expenditure in the year of acquisition. The lands acquired are surely
crown lands whether they are administered by the Department of Public
Works or by the National Capital Commission.

Last December this committee recorded its agreement that it would be
more realistic were parliament asked to appropriate funds in the years in
which the properties are to be acquired and thus have such funds included in
each year’s budgetary expenditures. In my view this is the right procedure and
I would hope the committee will say this again and recommend that the present
practice be reviewed so as to place the National Capital Commission financing
on this more realistic basis.

That is all I have to say on the matter at this stage. This is the way I see
the matter.

The CHAIRMAN: We have had two complete statements on this matter. Are
there any questions?

Mr. HaLEs: From what you said, the National Capital Commission bor-
rowed approximately $57 million, money with which to pay the interest on
the money that the government had loaned them. So the government is
borrowing it own money and paying the interest on its own money, and then
it appears as a credit.

Mr. HENDERSON: The government lends the money each year to the National
Capital Commission with the cost shown under the heading of loans or ad-
vances to agencies. The National Capital Commission is quite unable to
generate income itself to service its debt to the government. Therefore, by
means of further appropriation it is enabled to pay the interest and the Na-
tional Capital Commission then turns around and gives it back to the govern-
ment which takes it into revenue.

Mr. HALES: And this appears as income.
Mr. HENDERSON: That is correct.

Mr. HaLES: This does not appear to me to be good business practice, but
what better way is there to do it? If you bought a building outright and paid
for it that year, then, this would be interest owing on the mortgage, as it were.

Mr. HENDERSON: You would give them the money to buy the building and
that would be the transaction.

Mr. Rock: All the government does is to borrow the money on their own
account.

Mr. HENDERSON: That is right, that is what they do with a public works
building. Perhaps I might ask Mr. Long if he would care to comment on this.

Mr. Long: I jotted down two or three notes when Mr. Bryce was speaking.
He mentioned that financing in this way reflected the fact that the government
was holding valuable marketable property. As far as the green belt is con-
cerned, this property is no doubt valuable today and could be marketed, but
under government policy it is not marketable. One block of property was sold
and that I believe firmed up government policy, and the National Capital
Commission was told that no more property was to be sold.

The Queensway is being financed in this way, too, but it is not, I would

think, valuable marketable property. I refer to the property bought for the
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Queensway or for other roads which are to be transferred to the city or to
the province. Appropriation will have to the provided to repay the loans at the
time the transfer takes place.

There was an amount of money used for the animal research property
in the green belt. The property was financial initially with loans, but eventually
there had to be an appropriation when the Department of Agriculture took over
the property required for a research station. It is true that policy could change,
and the green belt could be sold, but this seems to be an eventuality we can
see only by looking a considerable distance into the future. It means that we
must go along for years appropriating money to pay interest thus increasing
both the expenditures and the revenues of the government. Mr. Bryce men-
tioned that the policy being followed shows the cost of holding such property.
It seems to me that the group which should be most interested in the cost of
holding the property would be the government of the day.

To appropriate interest in this way does not affect the government budget.
It goes out and it comes in. The deficit or surplus position by any year would
remain unchanged by it. Then there was mentioned the possibility of the
holdings being lost sight of. In this way they cannot be because they are on
our balance sheet in the form of loans. My feeling is that the green belt will
never be lost sight of. It is right before our eyes all the time.

Probably we have parcels of land scattered right across the country that
the average individual does not know anything about and the government has
to rely on its land inventory records to keep track of them. The green belt seems
to be rather an outstanding exception in the policy of not capitalizing govern-
ment land.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions or comments? What about
you, Mr. Bryce?

Mr. Bryci: I do not want to provide answers in advance of the members
asking questions. But I think it is desirable to describe these two cases. The
green belt is a unique situation. I do not know any other city or government
that has undertaken quite such an operation. But when it was undertaken I
know that both Mr. St. Laurent who made the preparations, and then Mr.
Diefenbaker felt it was an important long-term investment that would event-
ually in 50 to 75 years turn out to be a good investment as well as sound
urban planning. With that in mind we felt that the National Capital Com-
mission should be encouraged to be under whatever financial pressure they
could to get the best revenue they can out of it, and to account for it, and
that parliament should know from year to year what it was costing to hold
this land in the kind of use that would fit in with an urban conservation policy,
and that lending the money to be invested in green belt land was one of the
ways to achieve this purpose. It is exceptional. It differs from ordinary public
works land. Of course it does. I make no bones about it. It is quite an excep-
tional transaction entered into because we did not have the power to pass
laws to say what the land could be used for. I have felt, and I know that
previous governments have felt, that this made sense and was worth while.
Of course one postponed expenditures by doing this.

If Mr. Henderson objects, as it would seem, that this is the chief reason
for our entering into this, and that we should be admonished for it, well, that
is his opinion. I do not believe myself that it has had that purpose at all. In
any event the green belt is a different and quite unique case.

The other type where we are purchasing land in advance of use is much
more comparable with the public works analogy which Mr. Henderson and
Mr. Long mentioned. Here, however, there is a difference, I would suggest,
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in degree. It is the normal thing for the National Capital Commission to pur-
chase land many years in advance of use because its basic purpose is urban
planning and the preparation years in advance for the building of parkways,
parks, and things like that which require a great deal of land. Canada has saved
millions of dollars by this purchasing of land many years in advance. We felt,
however, at the treasury that if this was to be done, the commission should
take interest into account. If you are going to buy property ten years ahead
of time and you are going to put it into a parkway, you should take interest
into account, and say here, ten years interest will amount to whatever it will
be, 60 to 70 percent of the cost of that land.

If they have to pay interest on the cost they have to ask the treasury for
the interest year by year and the treasury will examine them on whether they
have been doing a proper job on it. Then we have a better chance to make them
conscious of the interest factor in carrying out this policy. This is the real
purpose behind this thing. Of course, it is similar to the kind of thing that
public works or other departments would run into. But I suggest to you that
there is a difference in degree that warrants some difference in treatment
particularly where we are doing it through a corporation agency, not through
a department which is under day to day control of a minister.

One other thing: Mr. Long, I think, or Mr. Henderson one or the other
suggested that because this is farm property in the green belt it cannot yield
any rental. The treasury board I know has always tried to get the National
Capital Commission to get all the rental they can out of this property, and to
adopt a use so that they could get as much revenue out of the property as is
possible within the restrictions placed on it. And as time goes on and the original
leases run out and the tenants move away, I would expect to see a considerable
increase in the rents.

I would have thought that one of the useful things this committee could
do is to see to it that the National Capital Commission is examined from time
to time on why it is not earning more of the interest on loans. However, Mr.
Chairman, I am just trying to put the case, as I understand it has been made,
for the loans in the past.

Mr. Francis: Mr. Chairman, I cannot help but agree in general with
Mr. Bryce’s comments. I disagree with one or two things. First, it will not be
50 years before a handsome return is shown; it will be more in the order of
25 years or even a shorter period, because certainly some of the properties are
being put under very lucrative rents now as well as long term leases and
development of the site.

I would ask Mr. Bryce, through you Mr. Chairman, the following question:
‘Does he not feel that such a policy leads perhaps to undue emphasis on com-
mercial returns from the green belt lands, and should not perhaps more atten-
tion be focused on long term use of the green belt by keeping pressure on the
National Capital Commission through their annual appropriation and so on?
Does he not feel that perhaps a short range objective is being taken? I per-
sonally think that a balance should be struck here and I feel that the effect
of the policy of the department is to keep too much to this kind of short term
objective.

Mr. Bryce: It is natural that the Department of Finance would err on that
side, but the results, as the Auditor General pointed them out, do not suggest
we have been over-successful in erring on that side. On the other hand, I would
say that the practice we have been following brings to parliament’s attention
each year the very point that Mr. Francis has made.

Mr. Francis: I do not disagree with that.
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Mr. BrycEe: Parliament can consider whether too much emphasis is being
put on revenue or on use of the land. This is an enormous asset.

Mr. Francis: I predict it will be one of the most profitable real estate en-
terprises in Canadian history.

Mr. Bryce: I suppose this investment will run to $30 million odd in per-
petuity, or at least for many, many years, and I would suggest that parliament
has some continuing responsibility for having a look at the use that is being
made of the land when this enormous investment was made.

Mr. CarpirrF: Was this farmland that was taken over?
Mr. BryceE: Most was, but not all. v
Mr. CaArDIFF: In what condition is this land? Is it fit to grow grass on?

Mr. BrycE: I am sorry, I am not an expert in it. Mr. Francis would be better
able to answer that question.

Mr. Carpirr: I do not know anything about this thing but I would like
to know in what condition this land is and what use is being made of it. Is it
valuable farmland of which use could be made?

Mr. BrYCcE: A good deal of it is being used for farmland but the prices
that had to be paid for it were based on alternative uses to which it could be
put if the crown did not buy it, and therefore the crown had to pay amounts
that were not appropriate to farmland but appropriate to land for develop-
ment for one purpose or another. In many cases it was land appropriate for
a subdivision. Of course, those prices were a good deal more than people would
pay for farming purposes.

Mr. StinsoN: My question is: What percentage of the cost do we get back?
Do we get one or two per cent back? Say it is costing you five or six per cent
to carry it, what percentage would you get in return?

Mr. Bryce: We are getting about one per cent on the investment, or some-
thing of that order.

Mr. Francis: Surely the immediate return is not a factor; it is the ultimate
return and use you get out of it. I am sure the immediate return on this
investment is not any indication of what the returns will be.

Mr. WincH: Is not the government itself going to buy it back?
Mr. Francis: I hope not.

Mr. CamERON (High Park): I am just wondering, Mr. Bryce, whether you
decrease the asset value of the land by the difference between what you pay
an interest on and what the N.C.C. pays back? If the government pays $3
million interest in 1963, does that add to the value for asset purposes?

Mr. BrycE: No, sir, and I would suggest that in the case of the green belt
this would hardly be appropriate because it is intended not to sell this land
but to hold it indefinitely. It well might be a good point that when the Na-
tional Capital Commission acquires land in advance which it intends to put
into its projects, that eventually the land ought to be charged on the project
at a cost which includes interest on the original investment.

Mr. .CAMERON (High Park): It is easy to go back over the years and see
what it is. Twenty-five years from now someone easily might say, look how
smart we were in paying $30 million when now it is worth $100 million.

Mr. Bryce: The logical thing might be to lend them money to pay in-

:ire?t, but T would hesitate to say what the Auditor General would say about
at!
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Mr. SoutHaM: By way of information, does the National Capital Com-
mission or any authority in the government assess this land at intervals in an
effort to find out what is the appraised value of its worth at the present time,
the same as would be done in a normal assessment.

Mr. Bryce: I do not think the government makes such an assessment, but
the treasury board has been urging on the National Capital Commission that
it should develop the property management side of its business, because it is
acquiring and has acquired very large amounts of property. To put it to the
best use and to get that good balance between proper urban use and good
revenue requires skilled management.

Mr. SoutHAM: I think if this is done—and I would make this as a suggestion
—it would give a better appraisal, and the interest charges to which you
referred would not seem so exorbitant, and it would be put in a better per-
spective so far as an investment is concerned.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, we still have six or seven items. Do you think
we could push on in the hope that we might have time to finish this evening?
We have had a very good discussion on the National Capital Commission.

Mr. ForBEs: Mr. Chairman, I do not know of a better time to get these
items through.

The CHAIRMAN: I believe the next item is paragraph 140 in the 1962 report
and paragraph 123 of the 1963 report:

140. Accounts receivable. As explained in the quotation included in
the preceding paragraph, taxes and other revenues receivable are not
recorded as assets in the statement of assets and liabilities.

Information regarding the total accounts receivable of each depart-
ment at the year-end, in comparison with the corresponding totals at the
close of the preceding year, is given in the departmental sections of
volume II of the public accounts (with the exception of the taxation
division of the Department of National Revenue). There is, however, no
one place in the public accounts where information regarding the depart-
mental totals and the substantial over-all total of accounts receivable is
available. It would be informative to parliament were an appendix giving
this information included in the public accounts in future.

It has not been the practice over the years to include in the public
accounts any information regarding amounts receivable by the taxation
division of the Department of National Revenue, but it seems desirable
that such information be made available to parliament.

The following summary of accounts receivable includes the totals
given in the departmental sections of the public accounts at March 31,
1962, together with totals of balances receivable as at February 28, 1962
by the taxation division, as provided by that division:

Previous Years

Department Current year Collectable Uncollectable Total
Agrieulture. . o BN $ 715,620 $ 795,611 $ 51,466 $ 1,562,697
Citizenship and Immigra-

h 763 0 JRNRIERRS NI LY AT SN B 28,256 323,633 312,451 664,340
Defence Production ............. 4,187 13,664 259,329 277,180
TRELIUO <. kT e MR O eer 1 150,627 2,432 30 153,089
National Defence .................. 4,565,080 965,958 185,077 5.716,115
National Health and

Wellare, . Hauier oo 904,453 274,816 169,825 1,349,094

National Research Council .. 101,713 14,305 150 116,168
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Previous Years

Department Current year  Collectable Uncollectable Total
National Revenue—

Customs and Excise

DITISion. | 2l iy 4,856,019% 2,304,292%* 7,160,311
Taxation Division .......... 187,320,412% 15,825,226* 203,145,638
~ Northern Affairs and

National Resources ...... 99,187 14,114 18,617 131,918
PUDHE, WOTrKS .. iiciiiieevnssinis 1,139,578 262,103 44,753 1,446,434
Royal Canadian Mounted

DOLIgE 0y S s by i 261,463 4,317 23,694 289,474
Trade and Commerce .......... 114,929 8,936 7,054 130,919
EEDANSPOLL )i i 3,473,178 2,959,651 7,309 6,440,138
Veterans Affairs 3,359,409 2,571,060 821,019 6,751,488
Other departments ................ 140,955 59,963 50,920 251,838

$ 207,235,066 $ 8,270,563 $ 20,081,212 §$ 235,586,841

*These totals relate to both current and previous years.

The accounts receivable totals shown in the above table were after
writing off the following balances during the year under review:
Uncollectable debts of $1,000 or less deleted from the accounts

under the authority of section 23 of the Financial Adminis-

tration - Aot G e A el e e e $ 809,991
(Agriculture, $17,348; Citizenship and Immigration,
$62,804; National Defence, $20,807; Customs and Excise
Division, $34,943; Taxation Division, $629,107; Transport,
$6,079; Veterans Affairs, $31,205; and other departments,
$7,698)

Uncollectable debts in excess of $1,000 deleted from the ac-

counts under authority of Vote 710, Appropriation Act

NO. & FOB 7 o e e T I 3,703,795
(Agriculture, $3,787; Citizenship and Immigration, $97,226;
Defence Production, $8,282; Finance, $116,747; National
Defence, $116,903; Taxation Division, $3,299,327; Northern
Affairs and National Resources, $16,057; Transport,
$21,612; and Veterans Affairs, $23,854)

$ 4,513,786

It will be appreciated that whether accounts receivable are kept in
memorandum form or recorded as an asset in the statement of assets and
liabilities, they are nonetheless debts due to the crown, and their accu-
rate recording and ultimate collection are prime responsibilities of the
departments concerned.

While we have found that most of the departments having extensive
accounts receivable keep their records accurately and efficiently, this
frequently does not apply in the case of departments where accounts
receivable as such are not an important factor. We believe this situation
to be largely due to the failure of these departments to maintain con-
trolling accounts and to provide for an effective internal verification of
the accounts by officers other than those responsible for keeping the
accounts. Such weaknesses in internal control should be remedied in
order to remove the possibility that now exists of accounts being tam-
pered with and collections misappropriated.
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123. Accounts receivable. As explained in the quotation included in
the preceding paragraph, taxes and other revenues receivable are not
recorded as assets in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities.

Information regarding the total accounts receivable of each depart-
ment at the year-end, in comparison with the corresponding total at the
close of the preceding year (other than with respect to balances receiv-
able by the Taxation Division of the Department of National Revenue)
is given in the several departmental sections of Volume II of the Public
Accounts. There is, however, no one place in the Public Accounts where
information regarding the departmental totals and the substantial over-
all total of accounts receivable is available. We suggested in last year’s
report that it would be informative to Parliament were an appendix
giving this information included in the Public Accounts in future.

The following summary of accounts receivable includes the totals
given in the departmental sections of the Public Accounts at March 31,
1963 together with totals of balances receivable as at February 28, 1963
by the Taxation Division, as provided to us by that Division:

Previous Years

Department Current Year Collectable Uncollectable Total
Avricnlture (o ol il oy $ 1,184,198 $ 736,331 $ 36,322 $ . 1,956,851
Citizenship and Immigra-

e s Tl Ao e Sl Sl 67,925 256,733 186,346 511,004
Defence Production .............. 1115 1,911 259,329 262,355
10 b Rt e N e 100,104 8,495 607 109,206
GRS e Saatl se A AR BURe 5 =t el A0 1 203,401 129 18,841 222,371
National Defence .................. 4,266,901 2,170,985 217,913 6,655,799

National Health and Wel-

Fare e Ll e e 698,189 344,815 193,051 1,236,055

National Revenue—
Customs and Excise

PIVISION: - KT el 7,923.513% 2,229,997% 10,153,510
Taxation Division .......... 160,637,394* 21,640,427* 182,277,321
Northern Affairs and
National Resources ...... 99,333 298,870 25,055 423,258
PFablic “Works, 0 e Lo 713,797 200,324 140,536 1,054,657
Royal Canadian Mounted
Police e o e 3 311,405 10,904 24,489 346,798
Trade and Commerce .......... 119,620 8,929 7,784 136,333
e 1o 001 i A RmERE T R o 3,791,841 3,734,192 30,526 7,556,559
Veterans Affairs ................... 3,817,265 2,420,500 800,216 7,037,981
Other departments ............... 213,054 85,614 51,245 349,913

$ 184,149,055 $ 10,278,732 $ 25,862,684 $ 220,290,471

*These totals relate to both current and previous years

The accounts receivable totals shown in the above table were after
writing off the following uncollectable debts of $1,000 or less deleted
from the accounts during the year under the authority of section 23

of the Financial Administration Act:

LT L A e e i N S UM sl S (o e e $ 14,511
ORI BT e e BN S e S et s L 22,318
National Revenue—

Customs and Excise Division ............... 328,797

Taxation Division 813,224
T O A o et A e o T S B 15,655
Veterans Affairs 95,867
Other departments 16,568

$ 1,306,940
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It will be appreciated that whether accounts receivable are kept
in memorandum form or recorded as an asset in the Statement of Assets
and Liabilities, they are nonetheless debts due to the Crown, and their
accurate recording and ultimate collection are primarily responsibilities
of the departments concerned. While we have again found that most
of the departments having extensive accounts receivable keep their
records accurately and efficiently, this does not apply in the case of some
departments where accounts receivable as such are not an important
factor. We continue to believe, as was mentioned in last year’s Report,
this situation to be largely due to the failure of these departments to
maintain controlling accounts and to provide for an effective internal
verification of the accounts by officers other than those responsible for
keeping the accounts. Such weaknesses in internal control should be
remedied in order to reduce the possibility of accounts being tampered
with and collections misappropriated.

Mr. HENDERSON: These paragraphs have to do with accounts receivable
and were reviewed by the committee on June 16. At that time I pointed out
to the committee how we show here for the first time a summary of accounts
receivable. Because the government keeps its accounts largely on a cash basis,
its accounts receivable are maintained in memorandum form; that is to say,
they are not on the books as they would be under the accrual basis used in
private business where you have accounts due from customers and have a reserve
for uncollectable moneys and show both right on the books. In the govern-
ment they are kept in memorandum form and we have put together here for
the first time a summary to show something of their size. It will be seen that
they are quite considerable, the largest being those of the taxation division of
the Department of National Revenue. At the end of 1962 they were to the order
of $203 million of which it was estimated nearly $15 million would be uncol-
lectable from previous years. A similar presentation is contained in my 1963
report under paragraph 123 at page 79. Uncollectable accounts are being written
off each year, as you will see from the information given on page 76, which
shows that accounts written off during the year were to the order of $4.5
million.

The fundamental point I have to make about the manner in which these
accounts receivable are maintained is contained in the last paragraph of this
item on page 76. We find that most of the departments having extensive
accounts receivable keep their records accurately and efficiently, but this does
not always apply in the case of departments where accounts receivable are
not an important factor. Those departments do not attempt to keep any con-
trolling accounts and to provide for an effective internal verification by
officers other than those responsible for keeping the accounts. I am of the opinion
that this is a weakness in the system of internal control which should be
remedied in order to ensure to the maximum extent possible that the accounts
are not subject to being tampered with and that collections are not misappro-
priated. Auditing experience with accounts receivable maintained on a mem-
orandum basis has shown that unless there is a control account maintained by
people who themselves have nothing to do with the detailed accounts as such,
the opportunity exists for an account to be collected and the funds mis-
appropriated.

Now, I would hope my comments here will commend themselves to the
members of the Committee and to Mr. Bryce. Also, I would hope that steps
perhaps might be taken to review accounts receivable procedures where neces-
sary and for independant control accounts to be set up and maintained by the
chief treasury officers serving under the comptroller of the treasury. Mr. Bryce
might care to speak to this, Mr. Chairman.
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The CHAIRMAN: I see that Mr. Bryce has some notes here.

Mr. BrRyceE: Mr. Chairman, I would not want you to be influenced by the
fact that I have a few notes, because they start with the sentence, “This is a
subject I have never had occasion to look into except as part of a general
picture.”

I must say it is my impression that this is one of the less tidy parts of the
government’s accounting system and will warrant some systematic review as
part of the work that is being done on the improvement of financial manage-
ment by departments which the treasury board has put in hand. As I think
the members of the committee know, there have been at least four investigations
by outside consultants in respect of the application of the general advice re-
ceived from the Glassco commission. As a result of that, I think we can expect
some improvement in this as well as in the other financial management practices
of departments.

I would certainly wish to call to the attention of the treasury board any
conclusions that the committee might reach on this matter as a result of the
Auditor General’s observations and, if it is desirable, to go into the thing in
more detail, I think it would be better to have witnesses from the major
departments concerned who could testify to the practice they actually follow.

As you can see from the table in the Auditor General’s report, the Depart-
ment of Finance, while it has millions and billions of figures in other accounts,
has very few of these accounts receivable and, as a department, I do not think
we are a large part of it. Normally the comptroller of the treasury does not
deal with the accounts receivable aspect of the departments’ operations; they
are done as a departmental responsibility.

Therefore, I think I might sum up by saying I regarded the Auditor
General’s advice on this matter as important and meriting consideration by this
committee and—if the committee so considers—meriting consideration and action
by the treasury board as a part of its major efforts at the present time to
improve the arrangements and practices in financial management by
departments.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you. Those comments may make our task easier.

Mr. HaLgs: Did I understand the Auditor General to say there are several
departments which do not have an accounts receivable control?

Mr. HENDERSON: That is correct.

Mr. HALES: I am amazed at that. How can you control the accounts receiv-
able at all; how can you, as Auditor General, verify them?

Mr. HENDERSON: So long as they are kept in this memorandum form I
regard that as a dangerous method for the reason I gave. As I say, auditing
experience has shown here that conditions can exist and where opportunities
for tampering and misappropriation can breed. With all due respect to Mr.
Bryce’s suggestion, I think there is an important principle here and that it
should not necessitate calling the departments before us to find out if this
condition exists. We know this condition exists. I have expressed the hope, if
you accept my view here, that something practical might be done about it
perhaps by the chief treasury officers who are right there.

Mr. Bryce said these officials do not concern themselves with accounts
receivable, but my point is I think they should concern themselves. They should
see that the bills go out and that they get paid.

Mr. BRYCE: On that point, Mr. Chairman, I should say that I do not think
the treasury officials have any authority to deal with this.

Mr. HENDERSON: They may not have the authority as such, but would it

be a very difficult job to ask them as a separate agent to extend some super-
vision over this?
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Mr. HaLEs: Mr. Henderson, would you as Auditor General not be in a
position to request every department to have an accounts receivable control?

Mr. HENDERSON: My request here, Mr. Hales, in effect, is that someone
interest themselves in this to see what could be done about it. Now, I can write
to each deputy minister and tell him; however, I was hoping that perhaps
the comptroller of the treasury might take some active steps on this. It might
be true they do not have the authority now but there surely should be someone.

Mr. HALES: Mr. Henderson, can you cite to the committee an example of
a department where you, in auditing the books, found it had no accounts
receivable control, that you requested it to institute a system and the officials
of this department have failed to put this system into effect.

Mr. HeEnDERSON: No, I have not addressed myself to any of the depart-
ments concerned, Mr. Hales. This is a general observation at this stage. As I
said, this is the first time we have even shown or put together a summary of
the accounts receivable which, in fact, are involved, and made these observa-
tions. But, if the point I make commends itself to the members of this com-
mittee I perhaps would go into it in rather more depth.

Mr. Carpirr: If the income tax department went after the defence depart-
ment the way they go after the farmers in respect of their bookkeeping and
that sort of thing this would not be allowed and they would make thousands
of dollars here, whereas in the case of farmers they make only hundreds. They
go after the farmer because some poor sucker who has not any education can-
not make up his income tax. However, there is no excuse for people who are
educated along these lines and they should not be allowed to do business this
way. That is my opinion, Mr. Chairman, and I am a farmer.

Mr. ForBES: Maybe the farmers can get a loan from this department.
The CHAIRMAN: Are you finished, Mr. Hales?

Mr. HALES: Mr. Henderson, have some of the departments of government
an accounts receivable control?

Mr. HENDERSON: Oh, yes indeed, and we are quite satisfied with some of
them. I would be correct in singling out, first of all, the taxation division,
where they have established controlling accounts. Of course, they are handling
a very large volume. But, there are others where they are inconsequential.

Mr. HaLEs: Would you name us one department which has not an accounts
control system?

Mr. HENDERSON: I think comparisons might be invidious at this stage. I
see several here but I do not know that I just want to name them individually,
Mr. Hales.

Mr. HaLeEs: Well, if you would name one department I think this com-
mittee would be well advised to look into this particular system.

Mr. Francis: As an alternative, I agree with Mr. Hales’ thinking. But,
surely Mr. Bryce’s comments speak for themselves. In effect, Mr. Bryce states
that this is a valid comment and that treasury board should do something
about it. I would hope that this committee would recommend that the treasury
board consider looking at all the instances the Auditor General has noted and
then make a general recommendation concerning the procedures to be applied.

Mr. CameRON (High Park): Does Mr. Bryce agree with that line of thought,
that we suggest to the treasury board, through you, they should institute within
these various departments the practice of having internal control on accounts,
and that you would feel free to do this.

Mr. Bryce: I would see no objection to that. I hate to put myself in the
place of the committee and say what the committee ought to say to the govern-
ment. And, I would not like to be unfair to departments and say that I know
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of my own knowledge that their accounts are inadequate. But I know of
nothing that would controvert the statement of the Auditor General. From the
inquiries I have made I have not been able to find evidence that would lead
me to think that he is wrong.

Mr. Francis: After that, further comment by this committee is superfluous.
Mr. Bryce has indicated that the point is well taken and I am sure treasury
board will co-operate in this.

Mr. HENDERSON: That would be satisfactory to me. It will be very helpful.
Mr. CAMERON (High Park): We do not want to get you into any difficulties.

Mr. LEBLaNc: Does that include the recommendation that the accounts
receivable be shown on the balance sheet together with the other recommenda-
tions the committee made previously regarding the checking of the accounts
receivable or is it only to look after the accounts receivable in other departments
to see that they are well taken care of.

Mr. HENDERSON: I have not made a suggestion that they be taken on to
the statement of assets and liabilities. That opens up another whole field,
much the same as the one Mr. Bryce was describing when he was explaining
the national capital commission financial concept to you.

The government keeps its books on a cash basis, not on an accrual basis,
and that is why these accounts receivable have to be kept in memorandum
form. It would be much more effective if they were right on the books and
were on the balance sheet. But, that would be opening up another line of
thought which I have not thus far stated under this caption in my report. I am
more interested in the internal arrangements in the departments themselves in
order to be certain that people who are not responsible for these accounts
have some control over them so that if an account, for example, is removed
from the file because someone came in and paid the money then this can be
cross-checked by someone else. It is the principle of internal financial control.

The CHAIRMAN: Seeing that Mr. Bryce and Mr. Henderson are generally in
agreement we might move on before the committee puts them apart too far.
We will proceed to item 142 in the 1962 report.

Mr. HENDERSON: This will not take long. The members will recall that this
deals with the loans to the town of Oromocto, and this particular paragraph
refers to the details given on page 81 in respect of the loans to the town, which
we discussed at quite considerable length on July 14 when Mr. Armstrong, the
deputy minister of national defence, was present.

You may recall that in view of the situation outlined in paragraph 81 the
possibility of early repayment of these loans seems remote, the position as
indicate here being that they total $4,450,000 with only $423,110 having been
repaid to March 31, 1962.

My comment to the committee on July 14 and again here in this note is
that with operating costs amounting to $1,602,000 and revenues totalling only
$81,000, as was the situation in 1961, it seemed unrealistic to treat the loans
to the town as an asset item for purposes of the annual statement of assets and
liabilities. A similar comment, I might add, was made by my predecessor in
his report in 1959 when these loans totalled about $3 million. I do not know
whether Mr. Bryce would care to add anything in respect of this subject but
perhaps he would in view of his remarks in respect of the statement on assets
and liabilities earlier when we were discussing the investment in the national
capital commission.

The CHAIRMAN: Have you any comment in addition to the general state-
ment made by the Auditor General Mr. Bryce?

Mr. BryceE: Not really, Mr. Chairman. Unfortunately, I was not present
at the time this discussion took place when Mr. Armstrong was before this
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committee and the evidence has not been printed as yet, or at least I have not
received it. I really know a good deal less about this than the members of the
committee.

Particularly in regard to the situation, I would not dispute the fact that the
town of Oromocto is not in a position to pay large sums on these loans and, of
course, this raises the question of how much will eventually be paid in interest
or repayment. On the other hand, it would be another matter to write the
loans off entirely, because that would then raise the question of just how we
are dealing with this town by comparison with other communities. There may
well be a valid point in that we should not exaggerate the values in this regard
on our books. Nevertheless, we have a problem in deciding the appropriate way
to deal with the town. That really involves a separate problem.

Mr. Francis: Is Mr. Bryce saying to us that if we write these loans off
there will inevitably be additional demands on the federal treasury?

Mr. Bryce: I would not want it to be thought that we have given this great
gift by writing off these loans, because we are trying to deal in as sensible a way
as we can with this community that the federal government has created with
the assistance of New Brunswick.

Mr. Francis: Mr. Bryce is apparently recommending that we take this
action at this point; is that right?

Mr. BryceE: I am incapable of making any suggestion at this point because
I do not know what the evidence is that the committee received in regard to
this subject. I think I would rather leave this situation to the committee to
consider in the light of the detailed evidence it has received.

Mr. LeBLanNc: Mr. Henderson, is this case more or less similar to the case
we just discussed in respect of the National Capital Commission?

Mr. HENDERSON: There is a lot more value behind the National Capital
Commission loans, as Mr. Bryce pointed out, and as Mr. Francis emphasized,
than there is in respect of the loans made to the town of Oromocto. That is
to say, the National Capital Commission has extensive property holdings which
it is believed will increase very substantially in value over the years. The
finances of the town of Oromocto are obviously in an unhealthy state, as we
learned from the evidence of Mr. Armstrong. I am afraid there is not very
much one can do about a situation like this, Mr. Chairman. We made reference
to it because it was an item having implications to the Department of Finance.
We did explore it pretty thoroughly with Mr. Armstrong.

The CHairRMAN: If, after Mr. Bryce has received the evidence, he wants to
make a communication to the committee we may receive such, but until that
time I think we should leave this particular item at this point.

Mr. BryceE: Thank you.

The CuamrmAN: How do we stand now, Mr. Henderson?

Mr. HENDERSON: We have only four more items to deal with although
they are not very long ones.

We marked down paragraph 45 of the 1963 report covering governor gen-
eral’s warrants for discussion with Mr. Bryce because several of the members
of the committee I think at the time this was discussed at an evening meeting
on June 30 with Dr. Davidson, secretary of the treasury board, felt that they
might have several questions to put to Mr. Bryce.

In order to bring the committee up to date, I would sum up the views
expressed by saying that the committee was concerned that payments which
did not meet the test of being urgently required for the public good had been
made and that to a large extent expenditures continued to be made in the same
manner as if parliament had provided funds for carrying on governmental
services between the sessions. Dr. Davidson informed the committee that in
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his opinion section 28 of the Financial Administration Act did not make ade-
quate provision for the carrying on of government service when parliament
dissolves without having provided the necessary funds, and the committee
endorsed my recommendation that a detailed study be made of the financing
problems which result when this happens.

I mentioned to the committee on June 30, that I had had the benefit of
a discussion of this subject with Mr. Bryce and he might therefore care to
speak to the subject.

Perhaps I am the responsible one, Mr. Bryce, whose suggestion indicated
that you might care to add a word today.

The CHAIRMAN: I see Mr. Bryce has his music here.

Mr. Bryce: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I have my music but I am not sure
that I should play.

Perhaps I can just say that upon reflecting on this matter, and after reading
Dr. Davidson’s testimony, I did not entirely agree with it, although not in
regard to the particular items that are enumerated here but rather in respect
of the need for a detailed study or for any basic change in the law. I would
be quite happy to explain my thinking in that regard if you wish.

The CHAIRMAN: I think the members of the committee might desire to have
your explanation. How do the members of the committee feel in this regard?
I think we were quite concerned about this item and it is my impression of
the wishes of this committee, if I am interpreting their wishes correctly, that
something should be done.

Mr. Bryce, I think probably we should have the benefit of your views
in this regard.

Mr. BryCE: I should like to stress that these are really my own views
and not the views of the minister or anyone else particularly in the depart-
ment. I have indicated that my views differ somewhat from those of Dr.
Davidson who is in a position much more directly responsible than I am.

It is my impression that the use of warrants has not been seriously abused
by any of the governments during the twenty-five years I have been here,
and that the expenditures authorized by warrants would almost certainly have
been authorized by the House of Commons if they had come before the com-
mittee of supply in the normal course of business. Whether they have all been
“urgently required for the public good” is another matter, and a matter of
opinion. The law places the power and responsibility for deciding this matter
clearly on the minister in charge of such expenditures.

The chief use of warrants during this- period—and on several occasions
before that, I believe—has been to finance expenditures between the time of
dissolution of parliament and the meeting of the new parliament. Warrants
were used for this purpose in 1896, 1926, 1940, 1945 and 1958, as well as 1963.
I have had the impression that this has been recognized and accepted by many
members on both sides of the house for a long time, as well as by the public.
The wording of the act does not suggest that this would be the main use of the
power it confers, but in fact this is the case and has been recognized to be the
case. It was only about six years ago that the wording was changed to make
this somewhat more evident than it had been in the preceding version—one of
long standing—which started out by reference to an accident happening to a
public work. This change was made in 1958 after the most recent previous
occasion when warrants were required on a large scale to meet expenditures
after dissolution, and I think it was quite evident that parliament had this
current problem in mind, although the language used in the debate was guarded.
Moreover, a provision was introduced in the law at that time to ensure that the
new parliament would consider and sanction such expenditure, by deeming the
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amounts of the warrants to be included in the amounts appropriated by parlia-
ment in the next act passed for granting supply. It had been customary to ask
parliament to approve, after the event, expenditures that had been made by war-
rant and this change required it—in so far as any parliament can by statute
bind a later one.

In accordance with the intention of that parliament, as expressed in sub-
section (4) of Section 28, this parliament has already considered and approved
on July 15 of last year the items covered by these warrants on which the
Auditor General has reported. Opportunity was thus afforded to consider the
need for any of them, and whether or not they contravened the law. They have
been reviewed and sanctioned, in accordance with the earlier intention, and I
don’t think that any voice was raised against the provisions of the law or the
way it was applied in the issue of any particular warrants.

Given this history, it seems to me somewhat less than realistic to suggest
that this is a subject on which, by lack of proper attention, the law has been
left in an ambiguous state, and that there is need of a detailed study of the sub-
ject to prepare an amendment to assure appropriate parliamentary control. After
dissolution there is no parliament until the writs are returned for the new one,
so we can have no current parliamentary control. The law of 1958, and the
customary practice followed before that, provide for whatever review, control
and sanction the new parliament chooses to enforce at the time. Those who
authorize the expenditures in question and certify that they are required for the
public good normally hope and expect to confront that new parliament as a
government.

Therefore, I do not feel that a detailed review and basic amendment of the
law would warrant a high priority on the time of parliament. There are a few
simple things that can be done, and if desired certain of them could be written
into the law at the first opportunity. I assume the committee would not wish to
deal with such suggestions forthwith, but it might wish to bear them in mind
on a future occasion. They might make more effective what is already in the law.

First, it has for years been recognized as most important that all warrants
should be published promptly. The law presently requires publication within
thirty days and tabling in parliament early in the next session. Bearing in mind
the circumstances under which they are frequently used, perhaps they should be
required—by law or custom—to be published, as an extra issue of the Gazette if
need be, within, say, three days. There would then be a better opportunity for
prompt scrutiny and any criticism, even in the midst of a campaign.

Secondly, the Auditor General could be requested, possibly even required
by law, to report on the issue of warrants within, say, sixty or ninety days of
their issue. This report could be requested by the government under Section 71
of the Financial Administration Act. Such a report could then be laid before
parliament when it was considering the appropriation act required to sanction
the expenditures made under the warrants. The annual report of the audit of the
accounts will in almost all cases be too late to be of use for this one occasion
when Parliament considers the warrants. Whether the house really needs or
wants such a report one must leave to honourable members to judge.

In the last analysis, however, the effectiveness of any system for control-
ling expenditures made under warrants will depend on the willingness of the
members of the house to devote the time and effort to deal with them when they
come along in the supply b<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>